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VISION FES

Becoming a global circular
economy solution partner.
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MISSION 75

To be a global market leader
in resources recycling and environmental
protection, earning a quality return
to shareholders through the provision of
quality products and services, by a group of
motivated and diversified staff force.
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CULTURE X1t \

We are committed to building a longterm and
win-win partnership with our customers
including suppliers.

RHERATFEEHEERRIRASFRAGIEHERARE -

We provide a safe workplace and career development
opportunities for our employees.

BHERABTIRHEZEMNIFIRBETAISHEILRZTM -

We are devoted to achieving a quality, stable and
continuous return for our shareholders.

BMERARRIISSE - BENFANCR-

We meet our corporate social responsibility by making
continuous contributions to social well-being and
environmental protection.
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ABOUT CHIHO

FRES

Chiho Environmental Group Limited (the “Company”, and together
with its subsidiaries, the “Group” or “Chiho”) is one of the world’s
largest publicly listed metal recycling corporations with geographical

presence covering Asia, Europe and North America.

Our extensive global operations comprise:

EndOf-Life Vehicle (ELV)
Processing
WMESHEIRRE

o e

Electronic Waste Recycling

BEFEHEK

Oil Recycling
N [ hE U

ih.;ﬂg
Retired Lithium Batteries
Recycling
N R E ithEuk
AR

= ———

F o

Process Optimisation
Service

IFE(CIRS

Sourcing, processing and
trading of ferrous and
non-ferrous metals
EE-NIKEEEGEE
nMeEesE

Recycling, dismantling and
remanufacturing of ELV
with advance post
shredding technologies
51 ~ 7 42 2 F) A 50 3 B B
P 12 B2 TR R il S 1T SR B VS EE
KBS

Recycling of scrap electrical
and electronic equipment
and data destruction
BESTERRMEEU
T B4 55 8%

Purification, distillation
and additions of lubricant
additives to produce
lubricant base oil
BB~ BB HRIE B HR
hnz| lxi;éﬁ:ﬁi%iﬂa%%iﬂi

Recycling of retired electric
vehicle lithium batteries

EukEE RS HEEE M

Advisory service on waste
management and
recycling process

optimisation
EBEYEEKREW T FEIE
A IR
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We use state-of-the-art processing technologies ’
to disassemble and sort mixed metal scrap into
useful recycled metals, such as copper, aluminum,
and ferrous metals, within a closed loop system
BAFALENRERMNMTERRRAAAL
BRETBENDBRVEROUINBAELETE
M EREEEB

Our facilities achieve a total recovery rate for ELV ’
and other scrap materials of approximately 97 %,
greater than the existing recovery target rate of
95% under the EU directive
RO EE R IE R ENHMEEEM S
E R AREIKR KA 297 % @ BB IRTTE R[S B i i
R TEHI95 % B U =

As one of the most diversified and comprehensive ’
e-waste recycling centre in Hong Kong, we
recycle materials within a closed loop system
EREBRZTIENGEE FREEL
B ROz — BRPINREIIRR G R BB

We have advanced technology and well
equipped production line to produce various
high quality lubricant oil
BB STERM KA B RVEEGHAR
FTEEBSEENEBER

Actively cooperating with European research ’
institutes and universities to jointly develop power
lithium battery recycling technology, which is
suitable for the recycling of different types and
models of lithium batteries
BEUN R B R KA S2BImS1E HEHEER
14 [B] W 258 e 48 e B 5% A £2 B8 th [B] U 4 1l

As an expert in recycling process management ’
and optimisation, we help our customers to
achieve sustainable development in operation and
business
EREIN T FEEREBIENER:
RMENEREREEREBNIREER



OUR WORLDWIDE OPERATIONS

KM ZIKES

HONG KONG &F#

A diversified, comprehensive and highly automotive e-waste
recycling centre

Za 2HEKESEBHENBFEY LU O

MAINLAND CHINA =R ABE
Beijing 1t

Head office of the Mainland China operations

FREIR R R FS AR R

Taizhou & M

Engaged in recycling and trading of metal scraps

REBEEBRIKKRES

A major metal importer and domestic metal trader

TETRBENRMABANCRESZS

Invested in the construction of end-of-life vehicles and electric
lithium battery recovery projects, of which the first phase was
officially kicked off in September 2022
KREMERESBKRENEEMBWIEE > HRIEE —HHER
—EC_FAAERRE

Yantai /E&

Engaged in recycling and domestic trading of metal scraps, and
recycling of waste oil

NEBEEBEIWNKREANE 7 > LUKk EEH[EU

BABREESREAS —T-SHFH 3



Our Worldwide Operations

BRI ZIRES

Binzhou &M

Joint venture with Honggiao Group, engaging in end-of-life
vehicle dismantling, scrap metals recycling, secondary aluminium
production and electric vehicle lithium batteries recycling
BRBERRISE R REREASEIRE BET B
BAREEKREHIEE MBI

Shanghai tif

Trading hub with focus on import of recycled metals

FENBEEZREONZZ 0

SOUTHEAST ASIA Efgn
Thailand &=

Joint venture with Hidaka Yookoo Enterprises Co. Limited and
Suzuki Shokai Co. Limited, engaging in dismantling of scrap
motors and other mixed scrap metal

BiHidaka Yookoo Enterprises Co. Limited’zSuzuki Shokai Co.
Limited &5 1F > It BRFEE B R HMEFE RS S B R

Ferrous scraps are sold domestically while non-ferrous scraps are
exported to other Asian markets
BEEAERAEBRANHE MBEEEREBLOEZHME NS

%
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GERMANY &

Operating 88 vyards, including joint ventures, covering South-
West, Central and Eastern Germany
EIESRE TS (BiEaE )  BEEEAmMES  PEP R

Covering full scope of collection, sorting and processing with all
types of equipment including the most advanced post-shredder
material recovery technology

REE e (BERIUENRERYE RN  HE2EAU
& DR R EREIERS

CZECH REPUBLIC #E73F1 =

Operating 43 yards mainly situated in northern Bohemia and
Prague area
EE F BN A KT 1L B R AR AL i & 194318 T 15

With a very strong market share in ferrous market, covering
both old scrap and new scrap market

REBEE D IHAE TS0 R GEE R EERE R SRR
T i%

ROMANIA ZEER

Operating 40 yards, joint venture with two experienced local
business partners
EIEAETS EMUEMEREENEBBHRLSE B

Covering the heavily populated and well industrialised areas in
this country
BEZBEAOBRERSETIELHME

Proximity to Turkey enables significant scrap export
FA T EE rJAS W O

High non-metals share of sales, including significant portion of
paper and plastics

FEE (BREAEMRNER) VHERGELS

Our Worldwide Operations

BFINZIRER
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Our Worldwide Operations

BN EZERER

SLOVENIA Hi/& X fEgs

Operating 17 yards
EE17ELIS

Well equipped with yard network, transportation assets and
processing capabilities to cover all suppliers (industry and old scrap)
i RN TSR ERARE RN IRMUBEE 2 EHER
(TR RERER

Strong non-ferrous operations, including paper and plastic recycling

BETBER (KRN ERDW B

AUSTRIA EithF

Joint venture with steel mill Voestalpine Group, operating 13
yards with sourcing subsidiary in Hungary

B R ERR IS E R BURWIRANRETR
BEEI3ETS

Market leader for ferrous scrap trading in the country with
strong track record in project business (e.g. power plant
dismantling)
EMBELREEBEEENTISEEE  TEEMINHFERHE
15 R IF H R

POLAND EEj

Operating 5 yards covering central and southern Poland, the
most industrialised and scrap rich areas

EEMT S BERE L X CREERSEBEEYR SN E
R EaEB

Covering full scope of collection, sorting and processing with all
types of equipment
REED GELEREEEHNWE  DEREERS

USA =H

Divestment of most of the loss-making operations in 2022

ABOBEREBEN - _FHE (%

r 4 E—:mﬁ?ﬁ_,
R BRI E R L - =

Currently, the focus is on trade business
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

In 2023, challenges and opportunities coexist for enterprises and
investors in the field of recycled metals. On one hand, the intensified
geopolitical conflicts and the uncertainty of the regional economy
led to a series of market fluctuations and changes in demand in the
commodity industry, that caused pressures to the metal trading industry.
On the other hand, environmental protection, climate change, and
energy consumption issues garnered increasing attention, and initiatives
such as “low-carbon economy” and “industrial green transformation”
gradually became important development concepts for various
economies and had a positive impact on the environmental protection
and resource reuse industries.

In the face of macro-economy pressure and the complex global
trade environment, Chiho Environmental Group Co., Ltd. ("the
Company” or “Chiho") ensured the stable development of its business
by implementing established strategies, steadily deriving business
expansion in regional subsidiaries, and strengthening employee’s
recycling process training and recycling technology research and
development (“R&D"), to enhance Chiho's market advantage.

At the same time, facing the opportunities of “low carbon” and “green
development”, the Company deepened cooperation with upstream and
downstream enterprises, improved the stability and efficiency of the
supply chain to meet the demand for high-quality raw materials and
sustainable development in the renewable resources industry.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”), | am pleased to
present the audited annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the "Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023. The Group's
total sales tonnage and revenue for the fiscal year of 2023 were 3.64
million and HK$16,479.7 million, respectively, representing a year-on-
year decrease of 4.2% and 15.8%. The performance in the European
business, its tonnage accounting for more than 90% of the Group’s
total tonnage, did not achieve sales tonnage and revenue growth due
to the impact of rising energy prices and demand fluctuations. The total
sales tonnage in Asia increased by 11.8% year-on-year, and the gross
profit increased by 247.5% year-on-year.

EEHE
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BERR BB —HE » #EE
BERMNE R QENTREN  £15
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Chairman's Statement

ERH®S

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

The metal sales tonnage of the European operations was 3.45 million
tonnes, with revenue of HK$14,960.9 million. In the past year, the
external environment of the European market has been complex and
changeable, and the impact of Russia Ukraine war was still ongoing.
Many enterprises’ production and operation were still under the
pressure of the high inflation and high-cost environment. Facing these
unfavorable factors, the Group’s policy focused on stabilizing mature
business module and deepening cooperation with the upstream and
downstream, while promoting technology R&D, and laying out high
growth commercial investments.

In the first half of 2023, the Group joined the Car2Car alliance team.
The alliance was composed of original equipment manufacturers,
recyclers, component processors, and universities, committed
to collaborating on the development of innovative methods for
dismantling and automatic sorting of scrapped cars. The team is
working on using robots to partially or fully automate the dismantling
process to achieve automatic execution and accelerate the recycling
process. The team is also studying the recyclability of materials in the
design process of the new car model, to reduce the carbon footprint
of raw materials such as steel and aluminum. The Car2Car project had
received support of 6.4 million euros from the Federal Ministry for
Economic Affairs and Climate Action in Germany. This project will also
drive Chiho's recycling technology to a new level.

In August 2023, the Group's metal recycling yard located in Plzen,
Czech Republic was put into operation, and the groundbreaking
ceremony was successfully held in October. This new yard built a solid
foundation for promoting Chiho’s business layout in Central Europe.

In November 2023, Scholz Recycling GmbH, (together with its
subsidiaries, the “Scholz Group”), the subsidiary of Chiho, signed
a long-term cooperation framework agreement with Voestalpine
Group. The cooperative relationship aims to fully leverage the supply
advantages of recycled steel raw materials of Scholz Group to assist
Voestalpine Group in achieving the “Greentec Steel”
decarbonization strategy. This cooperation will further strengthen the

Group's market influence in Europe.

steel production
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

The metal sales tonnage in Asian increased by 11.8% year-on-year,
and the gross profit margin increased to 1.3%. Since the relaxation
of the COVID-19 lockdown measures in China, the Group’s sales,
production, and operations in the region have progressed smoothly.
The Group has made efforts to improve the quality and efficiency of
business management for driving the development of subsidiaries in
the region. In July 2023, Qishun Recycling Project located in Taizhou
City, Zhejiang Province obtained the qualification for dismantling End-
of-Life Vehicle (“ELV") and launched the recycling and dismantling
business of ELV. At present, the collection and dismantling volume
of the project are increasing month by month, and it is predicted
that the business volume will continue to increase. In August 2023,
our subsidiary in China obtained an invention for a waste aluminum
shredding and sorting system. As of the end of December 2023, the
Group had obtained a total of seven inventions and patents related
to the recycling and utilization of waste lithium batteries, four patents
related to the recycling of ELV, and four patents related to the recycling
and utilization of aluminum in China, which are the technical support
for the development of recycling business in Chiho's own investment
projects and joint venture projects. In October 2023, the Group'’s joint
venture project located in Binzhou City, Shandong Province launched
the first batch of new energy scrapped vehicle recycling and utilization
business, that was an important node in the field of green recycling and
dismantling of the project.

Chairman's Statement
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Chairman's Statement

ERH®S

PROSPECT

Despite the global economy in 2024 will still be full of challenges
and risks, growth points such as technological innovation, green
economy, sustainable development, and digital transformation will bring
development space and opportunities to the world economy.

The 28th United Nations Climate Change Conference (COP28) held
in 2023 continued to prioritize "accelerating green transformation”
as a global climate action and invited nearly 200 countries that have
signed the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
(UNFCCC) to convene a meeting to negotiate and develop action plans
and rules for addressing climate change globally.

The urgency of climate change has made “low-carbon economy” a
global consensus. At the institutional level, important economies in
the world will continue to strengthen environmental regulations and
policies, such as providing green financial support and creating a
favorable market environment for low-carbon technological innovation.
The green transformation of industries will also continue to be
advanced, effectively reducing carbon emissions by improving the
utilization of renewable materials and other measures. At the same
time, important economies will continue to increase their investment in
research and development in areas such as resource regeneration and
energy-saving technologies, providing technical support for achieving
low-carbon goals.

To achieve carbon neutrality, the European Union (“EU") has proposed
a "Fit for 55" emission reduction package, with the goal of reducing
greenhouse gas emissions by 55% compared to 1990 by 2030 and
achieving climate neutrality by 2050. As of the end of 2023, the plan
includes a total of thirteen specific legislative proposals and action
measures. In the regulatory proposal on ELVs, measures to strengthen
the recyclability of the automotive industry (covering the design,
production, and disposal of automobiles) are formally proposed to
ensure that the design of new vehicles is conducive to their recycling
and reuse after their lifecycle ends. The proposal emphasizes the
requirement to increase the use of recycled materials in new cars,
allowing the committee to set targets for recycled steel, recycled metals,
and aluminum based on a feasibility evaluation. At the same time, the
proposal also aims to increase the quantity, quality, and value of the
reuse and recycling materials of scrapped vehicles, in order to achieve
high-quality recycling.

10 CHIHO ENVIRONMENTAL GROUP LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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PROSPECT (continued)

Faced with the dual carbon target, the Chinese government has
launched multiple guidance documents. In December 2023, the
Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of China and eight
other departments issued the Guiding Opinions on Accelerating the
Transformation and Upgrading of Traditional Manufacturing Industry,
which clearly stated that by 2027, the comprehensive utilization rate
of solid waste in China’s bulk industry will exceed 57%. The Guiding
Opinions emphasized to actively promote the resource recycling
production model, vigorously develop the comprehensive utilization
industry of waste steel, waste non-ferrous metals, waste power
batteries, waste household appliances, and waste textiles, develop the
high-value recycling of renewable resources, and promote efficient
resource recycling.

Therefore, from the long-term perspective, the renewable resources
industry has broad prospects and huge market potential. Chiho, as a
multinational group, will face up to the pressure from macroeconomic
and geopolitical influences, and seize the market trend of renewable
resource demand as well. Chiho will insist on the policy of making
progress while maintaining stability, maintaining strategic focus,
strengthening technological innovation, enhancing development
momentum, that is, stabilize existing businesses such as metal recycling
and trade, recycling and dismantling of ELV, expand new businesses
such as power lithium battery ladder utilization, invest in technological
R&D, strengthen upstream and downstream cooperation and exchange,
and better serve customers and repay shareholders with a sustainable
and sound business philosophy.

The Group firmly believes that resource reuse is an important factor for
high-quality development of the global economy. Chiho will combine
the advantages of operation and technology, actively contribute
to the global carbon reduction strategy, and assist more customers
and partners to achieve carbon reduction goals and sustainable
development globally.

Last but not least, | would like to extend my heartfelt gratitude to the
loyal customers and partners who always trust and support Chiho's
development, and my utmost respect to the hardworking employees in
different regions. Wishing you all stay safe and healthy.

Qin Yongming
Chairman of the Board

Chairman's Statement
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREw RO

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS MBREE
Increase/
2023 2022 (Decrease)
—EC=HF - —— @m,” Gab)
Operating results (HK$M) REEE (HEEET
Segment revenue pag= 1 &
Asia D 1,719.8 1,787.1 (3.8%)
Europe B 14,960.9 17,841.4 (16.1%)
North America 6= 4.1 35.7 (88.5%)
Inter-segment sales DEEIHE (205.1) (89.9) (128.1%)
Revenue U &= 16,479.7 19,574.3 (15.8%)
Gross profit EF) 1,038.0 1,207.7 (14.1%)
Segment profit/(loss) DEREF] (B518)
Asia M (128.7) (104.0) (23.8%)
Europe B 364.4 707.8 (48.5%)
North America A6 M (9.0 (17.9) 49.7%
Unallocated KAEC 4.3 4.8 (10.4%)
Profit before interest and tax (EBIT)  F&#) 2 KRR EH) 231.0 590.7 (60.9%)
Finance costs, net M4 R EE (181.7) (186.7) (2.7%)
Income tax expense PSR (68.5) (166.6) (58.9%)
(Loss)/Profit for the year F£R (ER) T (19.2) 237.4 (108.1%)
Financial position (HK$M) BT (BEEET)
Cash generated from operations KEMSIRE 309.6 902.9 (65.7%)
Cash, pledged and restricted RWE - BIEFRZ RS
bank deposits RITEMR 371.5 766.0 (51.5%)
Total assets BEEEE 8,720.4 8,573.0 1.7%
Equity attributable to KABREELE R
shareholders of the Company 4,931.5 4,824.2 2.2%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

EEEwmRA I

MEBRE (8

Increase/
2023 2022 (Decrease)
—E_= = @, CRiL)
Per share data (HK$) BREN (B
(Loss)/earnings per share attributable  Z</ 5] i% 58 fE {5 5 A%
to shareholders of the Company (&18) &F) (0.01) 0.16 (106%)
Shareholders’ funds per share SERERES 3.07 3.01 2.0%
Key ratios (%) B EEER(%)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREm R

FINANCIAL REVIEW

In 2023, market demand from manufacturers and traders in
downstream industry shrank while commodities prices declined under
the influences of macroeconomic factors such as regional economic
downturn, continuous rates hike by the Federal Reserve, frequent
geopolitical conflicts as well as the Russian-Ukrainian war. The metal
industry is highly sensitive to demand and supply landscape and
economic volatilities, which resulted in slowdown in capacity growth.
Global ferrous and non-ferrous metal prices fluctuated and edged down
after experiencing short-term rebound. With increasing pressures from
demand-side shrinkage and inflation, there was a decrease in sales
volume and revenue of the Group.

The Group sold 3.64 million tonnes of recycled products in 2023, a
4.2% decrease compared to 3.80 million tonnes sold in 2022. Total
external revenue for the year was HK$16,479.7 million, a decrease of
15.8% as compared to HK$19,574.3 million last year.

The European segment continues to be the key contributor in terms
of revenue. The Asian segment has progressed smoothly with sales
tonnage increasing by 11.8%.
American segments has dropped relatively as businesses and assets
in these regions were under the divestment process, reflecting the

The contribution from the North

continuous restructuring of the Group’s business for more efficient use
of our resources.

Gross Profit/Margin

Gross profit for the year was HK$1,038.0 million, a decrease of 14.1%
as compared to HK$1,207.7 million recorded in the previous year. The
decrease in gross profit was mainly due to the increasing freight cost
and higher energy prices in Germany and decline in both sales volume
and revenue as a result of weak demand for metals in Europe during
2023.

The gross profit margin was slightly increased from 6.2% to 6.3%
during the year. The increase in the gross profit margin was a result of
focusing on sales bargaining power and continued review of scrap price
changes to adjust the structures to maintain higher gross margins.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Operating expenses

Total operating expenses for the year were HK$955.4 million (2022:
HK$974.8 million), a decrease of 2.0% over the last financial year.
The reduction in operating expenses was attributed to the Group’s
implementation of the “cost reduction and efficiency improvement”
policy. This approach increased cost efficiency across the organization.
The Group’s commitment in transformation initiatives and optimization
programs in previous years have resulted in continuous improvement
in lean and efficient operations. These efforts have enabled the Group
to continuously streamline processes and enhance resources utilization,

ultimately contributing to reducing operating expenses.

(Loss)/Profit Attributable to Shareholders and (Loss)/
Earnings Per Share

Loss attributable to shareholders of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2023 was HK$9.3 million, as compared to a profit of
HK$264.5 million in the last financial year.

Loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2023 was a loss per
share of HK$0.01 as compared to earnings per share of HK$0.16 in the
last financial year.

Analysis of Cash Flow from Operations

The Group's cash generated from operations before changes in working
capital for the year was HK$543.2 million (2022: HK$699.4 million).
The Group has been prudent in managing the working capital to cope
with the uncertainties in the market condition.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

Shareholders’ funds as at 31 December 2023 were HK$4,931.5
million (2022: HK$4,824.2 million), an increase of 2.2% from as at 31
December 2022. Shareholders’ funds per share increased from HK$3.01
as at 31 December 2022 to HK$3.07 as at 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had cash, various bank balances,
pledged and restricted bank deposits amounting to HK$371.5 million
(2022: HK$766.0 million),
borrowings and working capital for the expansion of business
operations.

used mainly for repayment of external
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREm R

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Liquidity and Financial Resources (continued)

The current ratio improved from 1.31 as at 31 December 2022 to 1.33
as at 31 December 2023. Certain borrowings were classified as current
liabilities as they will be maturing within the next twelve months. The
management is in active discussions with lenders and potential lenders
to refinance the maturing borrowings.

Total external borrowings as at 31 December 2023 were HK$903.1
million (2022: HK$1,142.1 million). A reduction of HK$239.0 million
as compared to 31 December 2022. Such borrowings were mainly
utilized for the purchase of mixed recycle metal and working capital,
and were denominated in Euro, US Dollar and Renminbi. Approximately
HK$390.0 million (2022: HK$935.0 million) of borrowings are at fixed
interest rates.

The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2023 was 10.4%
(2022:
divided by our total assets.
position and management’s measure and plans taken in relation to
its borrowings, please refer to Note 2.1 and Note 30. Through the
Group’s cost reduction and efficiency improvement by strengthening
management and control,

13.3%) which is calculated based on the total borrowings
For details of the Group's liquidity

the Group’s gearing ratio decreased
reasonably and continued to reduce the pressure on external debt.

Working Capital Change

Overall, our net operating cycle has remained healthy during the current
year, showing our commitment to improve operational efficiency.

Inventories as at 31 December 2023 were HK$1,712.2 million (2022:
HK$1,323.7 million). The inventory turnover days, which is calculated
based on inventory balance as at year ended divided by cost of sales for
the year, times three hundred and sixty five days, for the financial year
was 40 days (2022: 26 days).

Provision for inventories as at 31 December 2023 were reversal of
HK$23.8 million (2022: provision of impairment HK$33.6 million). The
decrease of provision was due to the price volatility towards the end of
the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Working Capital Change (continued)

Trade and bills receivables after netting loss allowance as at 31
December 2023 were HK$1,417.6 million, increased from HK$1,290.5
million as at 31 December 2022. Debtor turnover days, which is
calculated based on trade and bill receivables balance after netting loss
allowance as at year ended divided by revenue for the year, times three
hundred and sixty five days, for the financial year increased from 24
days in last financial year to 31 days in this financial year.

Trade payables as at 31 December 2023 were HK$1,644.8 million
(2022: HK$1,418.8 million). Creditor turnover days, which is calculated
based on trade and bills payables balance as at year ended divided by
cost of sales for the year, times three hundred and sixty five days, for
the year ended 31 December 2023 were 39 days (2022: 28 days).

Treasury Policies

The Group’s treasury policies are designed to mitigate the impact of
fluctuations in commodity prices and foreign currency exchange rates
arising from the Group’s global operations. The Group principally uses
future contracts to hedge the commodity risks, and forward foreign
exchange contracts to hedge the foreign exchange risks in the ordinary
course of business. It is the Group's policy not to enter into derivative
transactions for speculative purposes.

Capital Expenditure

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group invested HK$447.5
million (2022: HK$453.8 million) in the purchase of tangible assets
including land, buildings, plant, machinery and equipment, leasehold
improvements, and office equipment for improving production
efficiency. These capital expenditures were financed through internal

resources and lease arrangements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREm R

BUSINESS REVIEW
Operational Performance

In the face of weak recovery on the demand side, the Group continued
to deepen its lean management and strengthen its market research
during the year. In addition, the Group is committed to coordinating
project layout based on the current industry and market conditions
and existing production capacity, making progress while maintaining
stability and preventing operational risks. Through the geographic
diversification, we are in a good position to mitigate the risks of
depending overly on a single market. We are among the processing
and technology leaders in ferrous and non-ferrous metal recycling
worldwide, and own many advanced processing technologies in scrap
metal shredding and post-shredding processing.

Europe

In 2023, the European operations suffered from challenging economic
conditions including skyrocketed energy prices, complex and volatile
industry outlook and the impact of the Russia-Ukraine War as well as
increasing trade deficit, facing the pressure of the high inflation and
high-cost environment, resulting in a decrease in sales volume and
revenue. The European segment sold 3.45 million tonnes of recycled
products for the year ended 31 December 2023, a decrease of 5.0%
compared to the last year of 3.63 million tonnes. Segment revenue was
HK$14,960.9 million for the year which decreased by 16.1% as against
2022.

European segment’s gross profit for the year was HK$1,031.4 million,
a decrease of 16.9% as compared to last year. The European segment
experienced significant increase in logistic and transportation costs
from breakdown of global supply chain of scrap products in Europe
due to high energy costs. However, the gross profit margin was 6.9%
in 2023, as compared to 7.0% in 2022, resulting in an increase in sales
bargaining power.

The Company benefited from its position on the market as a key
competitor within the region as well as the high scrap prices during the
period, which contributed to the profitability of the European segment.
Segment profit for the year was HK$364.4 million (2022: HK$707.8
million), decreased by 48.5% as compared to last year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
North America

The North American segment has undergone a business transformation
process starting from 2022 to better allocate resources to other
businesses. As a result, the North American segment, reported revenue
of HK$4.1 million for the year (2022: HK$35.7 million).

Segment gross loss for the year was HK$1.7 million (2022: HK$3.4
million) and gross loss margin was at 40.9% (2022: 9.6%). Segment
loss for the year was HK$9.0 million (2022: segment loss of HK$17.9
million).

Asia

The Asian segment sold 0.19 million tonnes of recycled products in
the current year, an increase of 11.8% against 2022 of 0.17 million
tonnes sold. Since the relaxation of the COVID-19 lockdown measures
in China, the business of metal trading in China is the key contributor
to the Asian segment. The segment revenue has slightly decreased by
3.8% from HK$1,787.1 million in 2022 to HK$1,719.8 million in 2023.

With increasing sales volume in the Asian segment, the gross profit
for the year was HK$23.1 million, an increase of 247.5% as compared
to segment gross loss HK$15.7 million in 2022. In addition, the gross
loss margin in 2022 was 0.9%, increased to gross profit margin 1.3%
in 2023. As such, segment loss was HK$128.7 million as compared to
segment loss HK$104.0 million in 2022.

As the Chinese government has launched multiple dual carbon target
guidance documents, and stimulus plans to actively promote the
resources recycling production model, develop the high-value recycling
of renewable resources, and promote efficient resource recycling, the
performance of the Asian segment will likely to recover in the near
future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREm R

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had pledged certain property,
plant, equipment, right-of-use assets, investment properties,
inventories, trade receivables and bank deposits with an aggregate
carrying value of approximately HK$4,418.6 million (31 December
2022: HK$3,722.9 million) to secure certain borrowings and general
banking facilities granted to the Group.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had capital commitments in
respect of acquisition of property, plant, equipment and additions in
construction in progress which are contracted for but not provided
for in the amount of HK$116.5 million (31 December 2022: HK$72.9
million).

As at the date of this report, save as disclosed below, the Board is not
aware of any material contingent liabilities.

The Group has provided financial guarantees to certain related party
and joint ventures of HK$20.3 million and HK$50.9 million (31
December 2022: HK$19.0 million and HK$49.9 million), respectively. As
the risk of default is very remote and there is no history of default, no
financial guarantee liability was recognized.

A writ of summons was issued by Delco Participation B.V. (“Delco”), as
plaintiff, on 21 December 2015 in the High Court of Hong Kong (the
“Court”) (High Court Action No. 3040 of 2015, “"HCA 3040/2015"),
followed by an amended writ on 5 December 2016, against the
Company and Mr. Fang Ankong (“Mr. Fang”) as defendants for a sum
of HK$57.8 million together with interest and costs. The claim relates
to an alleged nonpayment of a portion of the loans advanced by Delco
Asia Company Limited (“Delco Asia”) to subsidiaries of the Company
in accordance with the terms of a shareholders’ loan assignment dated
24 June 2010 between, amongst others, Delco Asia and the Company.
The Company filed its defence on 23 September 2016. An amended
writ of summons was filed by Delco on 5 December 2016, adding Mr.
Fang as a defendant to the proceedings. The parties subsequently filed
amended pleadings. On Delco’s application, the Court granted leave to
Delco to discontinue its claim against the Company for the HK$57.8
million, with certain issues still to be decided by the Court.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES (continued)

Each of Mr. Fang, a former director of the Company, and HWH Holdings
Limited ("HWH"), undertook to the Company to indemnify and hold
harmless on demand (on an after-tax basis) the Company against all
losses arising out of, inter alia, HCA 3040/2015 in accordance with the
terms of a letter of indemnity signed by Mr. Fang and HWH in favour of
the Company on 17 December 2015. The exact scope of the indemnity
is yet to be determined.

A writ of summons was issued by Delco as plaintiff on 10 November
2016 in the Court (High Court Action No. 2939 of 2016, "HCA
2939/2016") against the Company as the 1st defendant, Chiho-Tiande
(HK) Limited (“CTHK"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as
the 2nd defendant, HWH as the 3rd defendant, and Mr. Fang as the
4th defendant. Delco claimed against the Company for damages for
an alleged breach of a letter of undertaking dated 3 March 2015 in
relation to a convertible bond issued by the Company and subscribed
for by Delco on 1 March 2012. Delco further claimed against CTHK for
a sum of US$1.0 million, allegedly advanced by Delco Asia to CTHK
on or around 16 April 2009. Delco further claims interests, costs and
further or other relief. The Company and CTHK filed their defence
on 24 March 2017 and the plaintiff filed its reply to the Company
and CTHK's defence on 20 June 2017. The parties subsequently filed
amended pleadings and gave evidence at the trial in July 2021. The case
is still in progress, with the parties having made closing submissions,
and the parties are awaiting judgment from the Court.

Whilst the Board does not consider HCA 3040/2015 and HCA
2939/2016 to be claims of material importance for the reason set out
above, details of HCA 3040/2015 and HCA 2939/2016 are disclosed
herein for the sake of completeness.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREm R

Disclosure Pursuant to Rules 13.19 and 13.21 of the Listing Rules

Reference is made to the announcements (the “Loan Announcements”)
of the Company dated 5 July 2018 and 3 April 2024.

A facility agreement was entered into between the Company and
certain independent third party institutions in relation to a syndicated
term loan of up to US$300,000,000. Unless the context requires
otherwise, capitalized terms used herein shall have the same meaning
as those defined in the Loan Announcements.

The Loan was initially drawn down during the year ended 31 December
2018 with a loan principal of US$220,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$1,691.5 million) and a repayment period of two years. Upon the
maturity of its initial term, the repayment date of the Loan has been
extended during each of the years ended 31 December 2020, 2021,
2022 and 2023 with the final repayment date of 30 March 2024 as
last extended. Over the past years, the Group has repaid the majority
of the Loan and the outstanding principal of the Loan amounted to
US$50,000,000 (equivalent to HK$376.0 million) (the “Outstanding
Loan Balance”) as at the final repayment date of 30 March 2024, which
remained outstanding as at the date of this report (the “Default”). The
Default constitutes an event of default under the Facility Agreement. As
a result, the facility agent to the Facility Agreement is entitled to declare
the Outstanding Loan Balance immediately due and repayable.

On 2 April 2024, the Company received a demand letter from the
facility agent for immediate repayment of the Outstanding Loan Balance
and the applicable default interest under the Facility Agreement. The
management of the Group is in the course of negotiating with the
facility agent for a further extension of the final repayment date to the
Loan. Further announcement(s) will be made by the Company as and
when necessary or appropriate if there is any material updates on the
Outstanding Loan Balance and the Default.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group in its ordinary course of business is exposed to market risks
such as commodity price risk, foreign currency risk, interest rate risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s risk management strategy is to
mitigate the adverse effects of these risks on its financial performance.

The Group adopted a commodity price risk hedging policy which
has been subsequently updated to cater for the changing operating
conditions of the Group.

As part of its foreign currency hedging strategy, the Board closely
monitors the Group’s foreign currency borrowings in view of the volatile
exchange rates of Euro, Renminbi and other relevant currencies to US
Dollar and considers various measures to minimise foreign currency risk.

Regarding credit risk, the Group continues to follow the best practices
of cash collection for sales of most recycled products in order to
minimise the carrying amounts of the financial assets in the Group's
In addition, the Group continues monitoring
closely its trade debtors to minimise potential impairment losses.

financial statements.

Regarding liquidity risk, the Group continues maintaining a balance
between the continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
bank borrowings.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREm R

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a workforce of 2,617 (31
December 2022: 2,748) employees. In addition, as at 31 December
2023, we engaged approximately 470 (31 December 2022: 459)
workers and office staff through local contractors. We have not
experienced any strikes, work suspension or significant labor
disputes which have affected our operations in the past. We have
not experienced any significant difficulties in recruiting and retaining
qualified staff. We continue to maintain good relationships with our
employees and we provide a variety of internal and external training
programmes to our employees.

The Group’s total staff costs for the year were approximately HK$954.3
million (2022: HK$975.6 million). The remuneration package of staff
consists of basic salary, mandatory provident fund, insurances and other
benefits as considered appropriate. Remuneration of employees of
the Group is determined by the senior management of the Group by
reference to market standards, individual performance, experience and
their respective contribution to the Group so as to retain competent
employees.

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the
remuneration committee of the Company with reference to factors
including the duties and responsibilities, backgrounds, qualifications
and experience of the Directors, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics, subject to the Board's approval. Other emoluments including
discretionary bonuses, are determined by the Board with reference to
the Directors’ duties, abilities, reputation and performance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, ACQUISITIONS
AND DISPOSALS

On 10 August 2022, Liberty Iron & Metal, Inc. (“Seller”) (an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) entered into a membership
interest purchase agreement with American Iron & Metal (U.S.A.) Inc.
("AIM (USA)") ("Disposal Agreement”), pursuant to which the Seller
has conditionally agreed to sell and AIM (USA) has conditionally agreed
to purchase 50% of the issued and outstanding membership interests
in Kalischatarra Iron & Metal LLC (“Sales Interests |”) and Kalischatarra
Iron & Metal NM LLC (”Sales Interests II”), respectively, at the aggregate
consideration of the US$3,500,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$27,440,000) ("Disposal”).

The Disposal was completed on 5 January 2023. For details of the
transaction, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
23 December 2022.

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, there were no other significant
investments held, material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures and any concrete future plans for material
investment or capital assets.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS
WITH SHAREHOLDERS

For the Group, maintaining trusting relationships with investors has
always been paramount. The Board accordingly continues to engage
with them regularly and to keep them apprised of its latest corporate
and business developments in a timely manner.

Looking to the future, the Group will be taking steps to increase
transparency with both investors and shareholders to strengthen its
corporate governance in line with their best interests. As part of this
initiative, additional visibility will be provided around strategic plans
and approaches, with the aim of eliciting feedback and reaffirming the
collective understanding of the Group's business, market activities and
growth opportunities.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEBASRE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS #1{T= =

Mr. Tu Jianhua (“Mr. Tu”), aged 61, has been an executive director of the Company since 2015. Mr. Tu is a member of
each of the executive committee and the strategy and investment committee of the Company. He also acts as a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Tu also acted as the chairman of the Board from 29 April 2015 to 17 July
2017, and as the chief executive officer of the Company from 16 February 2016 to 31 March 2016. He was the chairman
of USUM Investment Group Limited from April 2014 to November 2019. He has been a director of Loncin Group Co., Ltd.
(lEZEFEARAT) since January 1996 and a director of Loncin Holdings Co., Ltd (F2# 154 fR/A &) since January
2003. USUM Investment Group Limited, Loncin Group Co., Ltd. ((BZEEEBBRAF) and Loncin Holdings Co., Ltd. (&
Z=PE B BR/AF)) are controlling shareholders of the Company.

He served as the chairman of the board of Loncin Holdings Co., Ltd. (B Z R BRAE) in the period from January
2003 to July 2010 and from February 2013 to December 2013, an executive director of Loncin Group Co., Ltd. ((BE &%
EABR/AE) from January 1996 to January 1997, and the chairman of the board of directors of Loncin Group Co., Ltd.
(FZZEEABRAE) from January 1996 to December 2013. He served as a general manager of Chongging Loncin
Gasoline Engine Company (SinoAmerican Joint Venture) (P& & B EREE /S MIEA B, a company that used to be
controlled by Mr. Tu during its existence, from 1995 to 1996, and served as the chief director of Chongging Loncin
Transportation and Machinery Factory (B2 EPEZ 3B M), a company that used to be controlled by Mr. Tu during
its existence, from 1993 to 1996. He served as the factory director of Chongging City Jiulongpo District Loncin Metal
Factory* (EEMNLEEINEMEEZES B, a company that used to be controlled by Mr. Tu during its existence, from 1991
to 1993 and the factory director of Chongging Cinhua Metals Factory* (EE EZ % B2 M) , from 1984 to 1990.

Pursuant to a decision on disciplinary actions ([2019] No. 124) (( E/E:BHERXZFA4CEREDREEZ)[2019] 1245%)
issued by the Shanghai Stock Exchange, the Shanghai Stock Exchange has publicly condemned, among others, Mr.
Tu in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Stock Listing Rules and the Measures for the Implementation
of Disciplinary and Supervision Measures of the Shanghai Stock Exchange. The details of which were set out in the
Company's announcement dated 6 January 2020.

Mr. Tu graduated from the Economic Management (8BS IR E 2) of the Open College in Chongging City Municipal
Party School (EETHZERKIEZRT) in December 1998. Mr. Tu previously acted as the deputy to the 11th, 12th
National People’s Congress, the deputy to the 2nd, 3rd and 4th Chongqging Municipal People’s Congress and the member
of the Finance and Economic Affairs Committee of Chongging Municipal People’s Congress. Mr. Tu's term of office
as a Member of the National Committee of the 13th Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference, a Standing
Committee Member of the Executive Committee of the 12th All China Federation of Industry & Commerce (£ T
B4) , the president of Chongging City Industry and Commerce Federation (&2 T 8#), the President of Chongging
City General Chamber of Commerce (EBEET427 ), the president of Chongging City Technology Equipment Industry
Chamber of Commerce (EEMRIEFEERS), the vice president of Chongging City Charity Federation (EEH & Z
482) and the vice president of Chongging City Private Entrepreneurs Confederation (EETHRE X RIS E) expired
in March 2023.

Mr. Tu is a director of Loncin Motor Co., Ltd., a company whose shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 603766).

*  For identification purpose only £ 5!
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFXRERERBASREE
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESREREBAERE

Mr. Qin Yongming (“Mr. Qin"), aged 60, was appointed as an executive director of the Company, the chairman of the
Board and the chairman of each of the executive committee, the nomination committee, the strategy and investment
committee, and the pricing committee of the Company on 21 March 2023. Mr. Qin is currently a senior executive of the
Group primarily responsible for the management of the Group'’s business in Germany. Mr. Qin also holds directorships in
certain subsidiaries of the Group.

He has 35 years' of working experience and extensive management experience in global manufacturing and recycling
industries, as well as professional experience in corporate operation management, international capital operations,
strategic risk control, financial management, international materials procurement and supplier management. He held a
number of senior leadership positions at LafargeHolcim group, Tianjin Henkel Detergent Co. Ltd., etc. Mr. Qin joined the
Group on 1 June 2016 as executive vice president and was appointed as an executive Director on 30 June 2016. He was
re-designated to chief executive officer of the Company on 24 October 2016 and to the chairman of the Board on 17
July 2017. He ceased to be an executive Director and the chairman of the Board on 16 December 2020.

Mr. Qin graduated from Renmin University of China with a bachelor’s degree in finance and accounting and holds a
Master of Business Administration from the University of Southampton, United Kingdom.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFXRERERBASREE

Mr. Miao Yu (“Mr. Miao”), aged 45, has been an executive director of the Company since 2020. He also serves as a
member of each of the executive committee, the strategy and investment committee, the nomination committee, the
remuneration committee and the pricing committee of the Company. He also acts as the president of USUM Investment
Group Limited, a controlling shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Miao has extensive experience in investment management, corporate finance, financing structure and
implementation. He served as the investment and financing director of China General Consulting and Investment Co.,
Ltd. from 2017 to 2019 and as the senior vice president of Tensant Securities Limited from 2015 to 2017. He was the
vice general manager of Beijing Maosen Capital Management Ltd. from 2012 to 2015.

Mr. Miao holds a Bachelor of Finance degree from Hebei University of Economics and Business in the PRC.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESREREBAERE

Mr. Yao Jietian (“Mr. Yao"), aged 31, has been an executive director of the Company since 2021. He also serves as a
member of each of the executive committee, the strategy and investment committee and the pricing committee of the
Company. He also acts as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Yao joined the Group as an assistant to the chief executive officer of the Company in 2020 and took up an additional
role as a project officer in the Group subsequently. Before joining the Group, he served as a deputy general manager in
Chongging Chen Gong Technology Co., Ltd. in 2019. He also served as an investment analyst in USUM Investment Group
Limited, an intermediate holding company and a controlling shareholder of the Company in 2015.

Mr. Yao has extensive knowledge in the Group’s business, and he is experienced in corporate management and project
management.

Mr. Yao holds a Bachelor of Business Administration degree from Cardiff University in the United Kingdom and a Master
of Finance degree from The London School of Economics and Political Science in the United Kingdom.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFXRERERBASREE

Mr. Wang Li ("Mr. Wang”), aged 36, has been an executive director of the Company since June 2022. Mr. Wang
is currently the managing director of the Investment and Alternative Asset Management Department of Haitong
International Securities Group Limited. Mr. Wang has resigned as an executive director of Millennium Pacific Group
Holdings Limited, whose shares are listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 8147) with effect from 10 May 2023. Mr. Wang has extensive experience in asset
management, corporate finance and merger and acquisition, corporate actions of listed company and derivatives trading,
and has participated in a number of deals relating to such areas.

Mr. Wang holds a master's degree from Rutgers, the State University of New Jersey, majoring in quantitative finance.
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Mr. Liu Yongxin (“Mr. Liu”), aged 38, was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 19 December
2023. Since December 2017, Mr. Liu has joined ABC Financial Assets Investment Co., Ltd. as a senior manager and
was subsequently promoted as an investment director. Prior to that, Mr. Liu had approximately seven years’ working
experience at Beijing International Trust Co., Ltd. and Agricultural Bank of China, with expertise in asset management.

Mr. Liu holds a master’s degree from Renmin University of China Law School, majoring in Civil and Commercial Law. Mr.
Liu is an intermediate economist of the PRC.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESREREBAERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS BiIJE#{TES

Prof. Li Zhiguo (“Prof. Li”), aged 47, has been an independent non-executive director of the Company since 2021. He
also serves as a member of each of the remuneration committee, the audit committee and the nomination committee of
the Company.

Prof. Li has intimate knowledge of strategic management and business mechanism of the PRC, and has extensive
experience in academic research, government policy research and consultation research. Prof. Li held senior positions
at Shanghai Baosight Software Co., Ltd., a company whose shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 600845), from 2008 to 2014, including serving as managing director of the research and development center
of the Southwest region, deputy general manager and the secretary of the Southwest region. In 2014, Prof. Li joined
Chongging Wansuo Enterprise Management Consulting Co., Ltd.* (EEHIIRPEEEEHNERAE) as the chief
consultant to provide advice on strategic management. Prof. Li then moved to serve as associate professor at the
Chongging Technology and Business University in the PRC since 2018, and was promoted to professor since 2021. He
has also been a researcher specialising in strategic management at the Chongging Technology and Business University
Enterprise Management Research Center* (B T i A2 EEEZFTH L) since January 2019.

Prof. Li graduated with a Bachelor of Ferrous Metallurgy degree from Chongging University in the PRC in 1999. He
further obtained a Master of Metallurgical Automation degree, a Doctor of Computer Software and Theory degree and
a Postdoctoral Fellowship in Management Science and Engineering from Chongqing University in the PRC in 2002, 2008
and 2017, respectively.
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Prof. Yan Guowan (“Prof. Yan"), aged 52, has been an independent non-executive director of the Company since
March 2022. She also serves as the chairman of the audit committee of the Company and a member of each of the
remuneration committee and the nomination committee of the Company.

Prof. Yan is currently an associate professor in the School of Economics and Business Administration of Chongging
University in the PRC. She is mainly engaged in research on accounting and auditing issues relating to capital market
as well as corporate finance, and lectures on Accounting, Accounting for Government and Non-Profit Organisations,
Advanced Auditing Theory and Practice and other courses for undergraduate and master students. Prior to that, she
served as an officer in the Chongging Real Estate Administration Bureau Yuzhong District Branch* (EE T E#EEIEF
FHRE S F) from 1992 to 1995.

Prof. Yan has obtained a Master of Construction Economics and Management degree and a Doctor of Technological
Economics and Management degree from Chongging University in the PRC and is a registered real estate appraiser and
land appraiser in the PRC.

Since August 2021, Prof. Yan has served as an independent director of Chongging Baiya Sanitary Products Co., Ltd., a
company whose shares are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 003006). Since May 2022, Prof. Yan has
served as an independent director of Loncin Motor Co., Ltd., a company whose shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 603766). Since December 2023, Prof. Yan has served as an independent director of Guizhou
Bailing Group Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., a company whose shares are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code:
002424).
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Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting (“Mr. Szeto”), aged 57, has been an independent non-executive director of the Company since
March 2022. He also serves as the chairman of the remuneration committee of the Company and a member of each of
the audit committee and the nomination committee of the Company.

He was admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong (PRC) in September 1992 and is currently a practising solicitor in Hong Kong
(PRC). Mr. Szeto is the co-founder of Messrs. Y.T. Szeto & Co., Solicitors that was established in September 1996 and has
served as the sole proprietor of Messrs. Szeto & Co., Y.T. since January 2001. Mr. Szeto worked for Messrs. Paul Chan &
Co., Solicitors from October 1993 to August 1996 as an assistant solicitor. Prior to that, Mr. Szeto served as an articled
clerk in Messrs. Norman Yung & Co., Solicitors from September 1990 to September 1992 and then as an assistant
solicitor with the same firm from September 1992 to October 1993.

Since 2017 and 2019 respectively, Mr. Szeto has served as an independent non-executive director of Evergreen Products
Group Limited (stock code: 1962) and Wise Ally International Holdings Limited (stock code: 9918), both of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Szeto graduated with a Bachelor of Laws degree from the University of Hong Kong in Hong Kong (PRC) in 1989 and
was awarded the postgraduate certificate of laws by the University of Hong Kong in 1990.
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Various businesses and functions of the Company are respectively under the direct responsibilities of the executive
directors of the Company who are regarded as senior management of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors of the Company are pleased to present their report and
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance by operating segments for
the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out at in Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income of the Group on
pages 98 to 99 of this annual report 2023 (the “Annual Report”).

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The review of the business of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 is set out in the Chairman’s Statement and the
Management Discussion and Analysis of this Annual Report which also
form part of this Directors’ Report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group has implemented a number of resources conservation
initiatives in its operations and workplaces. It is our strategy to
gradually embed sustainability into our daily management, thus, we
will continue to improve environmental sustainability measures in all
our facilities. During the reporting period, we complied with all relevant
environmental regulations in PRC and Germany that have a significant
impact on the Group’s business. There were no significant fines and no
non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance with environmental laws
and regulations during the year ended 31 December 2023.

For details, please refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report published on the websites of the Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.chihogroup.com)
respectively.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group was not aware of any non-compliance with laws and
regulations during the year ended 31 December 2023 that would
have a significant impact on the Group in relation to issues such as
environmental protection, employment and labour practices, operating
practices and the community.

RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS
AND EMPLOYEES

Maintaining and consolidating its relationship with customers is crucial
to increasing the profits of the Company. When carrying out business
with customers, the Group has adopted various methods to collect and
report their needs and expectations and taken corresponding measures
for improvement. The results of such measures were reviewed and
feedbacks were provided to the customers. The main duties include
conducting customer satisfaction survey by sending out questionnaires
and having regular meetings with major customers to have their
feedbacks, opinions, suggestions, complaints or praises to ensure the
service quality and to make improvement.

The Group's raw materials are required to be purchased in both
overseas and domestic markets. Maintaining a good relationship with
our scrap metal suppliers is one of the most important tasks in scrap
metal procurement. In addition, the Group continues to secure a group
of quality scrap suppliers by conducting regular evaluations, so as to lay
a solid foundation for the recycling and dismantling production of the
Group.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS
AND EMPLOYEES (continued)

The Group is committed to providing equal employment opportunities
without regard to gender, age or nationality, which is in accordance
with anti-discrimination laws. We endeavor to ensure employees
are treated equally within our welfare system and are provided with
effective channels to freely express and communicate their opinions.

Our Group is committed to maintaining the highest standard of ethical
and responsible conduct when conducting business. A group-wide
whistle-blowing policy is in place to deter corruption or any possible
violation of law or company policy and to promote standards of good
corporate practices.

CHANGE IN SHARE CAPITAL IN THE YEAR

Details of the changes in the Company’s share capital in issue during
the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in Note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

There were no contracts of significance with any member of the
Group as the contracting party and in which any of the controlling
shareholders or any of its subsidiaries possessed direct or indirect
material interests, and which were still valid as at 31 December 2023 or
any time during such year and related to the business of the Group.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and as at the latest
practicable date prior to the issue of this Annual Report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tu Jianhua
Mr. Qin Yongming (Chairman)
(appointed on 21 March 2023)
Mr. Miao Yu
Mr. Yao Jietian
Mr. Wang Li
Mr. Liu Yongxin
(appointed on 19 December 2023)
Mr. Zhang Wei (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 21 March 2023
and resigned as an executive Director on 14 December 2023,
remains as the chief executive officer)
Mr. Li Linhui
(resigned on 21 March 2023)
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Prof. Li Zhiguo
Prof. Yan Guowan
Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting

In accordance with Article 108 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, Mr. Yao Jietian, Prof. Yan Guowan and Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting
shall retire from office and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
Mr. Liu Yongxin was appointed as an executive Director with effect
from 19 December 2023. Pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles of
Association of the Company, he shall hold office until the forthcoming
annual general meeting and be subject to re-election at such meeting.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. Tu Jianhua, Mr. Qin Yongming, Mr. Miao Yu and Mr.
Yao Jietian has entered into a service contract with the Company
and shall be subject to re-election as and when required under the
Articles of Association, until terminated in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the service contract by giving written notice for
termination not exceeding 12 months to either party.

Each of Mr. Wang Li, Mr. Liu Yongxin and the independent non-
executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of one year and shall be subject to re-election as
and when required under the Articles of Association, until terminated
in accordance with the terms and conditions of the service contract by
giving written notice for termination not exceeding 12 months to either

party.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has any service contract with the Company
and/or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable within one year
without payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors and Senior Management are set
out from pages 26 to 34.
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DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE COMPANY'’S BUSINESS

Saved as disclosed in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements,
no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation
to the Group’s business (including those to which the Company’s
subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its parent company was a party) in
which a Director or an entity connected with a Director had material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of 2023 or
at any time during the year ended 31 December 2023.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association of the Company provide that every Director
shall be indemnified out of the assets and profits of the Company
against liabilities (to the extent permitted by the Companies Ordinance
(Cap 622)) incurred by him/her as such Director in the execution of
his/her duties or otherwise in relation thereto, provided that such
indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or
dishonesty which may attach to any such Director.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liabilities and costs
associated with defending any proceeding which may be brought
against the Directors.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year or
which subsisted at the end of the year.

DIRECTOR'’S RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, none of the Company, its
parent company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a
party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movement in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BORROWINGS

Details of the borrowings, including the maturity profile, currency
and interest rate structure of the Group are set out in Note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company is incorporated under, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its
existing shareholders.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) by reason of their
holding of the shares of the Company (“Shares”).

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group during the year
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. As at 31
December 2023, the distributable reserves of the Company amounted
to approximately HK$3,079.7 million (2022: HK$3,186.6 million).

DONATIONS

Donations to charitable organisations by the Group during the year
amounted to HK$0.48 million (2022: HK$0.30 million).
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, aggregate purchases
attributable to the Group's five largest suppliers were less than 30% of
total purchases.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, aggregate sales attributable
to the Group's five largest customers were less than 30% of total
revenue.

None of the Directors or any of their respective close associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which, to the knowledge of the Directors,
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any beneficial
interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers or five largest customers
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of
the Company'’s business were entered into or subsisted during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions set out in Note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements entered into by the Group during the year ended
31 December 2023 with the related parties constitute “connected
transactions” but such transactions are exempt from annual reporting
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company confirms that
it has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS' INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, none of the Directors
(except Mr. Tu Jianhua, details of which are set out below) has interests
in any businesses which compete or are likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group, pursuant to the Listing
Rules:
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RBEE_E_=ZF+"B=+—HILEEE
Mo RIELETRA MEEE CREBELER
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Description of businesses of the entity which

Name of entity which businesses are
considered to compete or likely to

are considered to compete or
likely to compete with the business of

Nature of interest of

Name of Director ~ compete with the business of the Group  the Group the Director in the entity
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Mr. Tu Jianhua Chongging USUM Recycling Resources
Development Co., Ltd. (“Chongging

Usum”)*

According to the business scope as registered
with the State Administration For Industry
& Commerce of the PRC, this entity may

Controlling shareholder

engage in, inter alia, recycling, processing,
marketing and sale of recycling resources,
scrap metal related businesses.
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* for identification purposes only

Although the scope of business of Chongging USUM allows it to
engage in businesses that are considered likely to compete with the
business of the Group, Mr. Tu lJianhua reported to the Board that
Chongging USUM is currently mainly engaged in the disintegration of
automobiles and trading of steel scrap in the PRC, which are neither
the same as nor compete with the businesses of the Group. Further,
Chongging USUM has no intention to engage in businesses that
compete with or are likely to compete with the Group’s businesses.

The Board and management team of the Company and Chongging
USUM do not overlap with each other and are independent of each
other. Therefore, the Group is capable of carrying on its businesses
independently of, and at arm’s length from, the businesses of
Chongging USUM in which Mr. Tu Jianhua has declared interests.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures
of the Company or any specified undertaking of the
Company and Its Associated Corporations

As at 31 December 2023, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company (“Chief Executives”)
in the Shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")) as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
(the “"Model Code"), were as follows:
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS (continued)

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short

Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures

of the Company or any specified undertaking of the
Company and Its Associated Corporations (continued)

Long positions in Shares: (continued)

Notes:

(1) As at 31 December 2023, the total number of issued Shares was 1,605,152,291

Shares.

(2) The 978,383,181 Shares were held by the USUM Investment Group Hong Kong
Limited ("USUMHK"), a company in which Mr. Tu Jianhua (“Mr. Tu") was indirectly
interested. USUMHK is directly wholly owned by USUM Investment Group Limited
("USUM Group”), a limited liability company incorporated in the PRC. The single
largest shareholder of USUM Group is Loncin Holdings Co., Ltd. (“Loncin Holdings”),
with an equity interest in USUM Group of 53.29%. The remaining equity interests
in USUM Group are held by 13 individuals and 27 companies, all of whom are
independent third parties of Loncin Holdings and Mr. Tu, and they each hold between
0.29% to 10% equity interests in USUM Group. Loncin Holdings is 98% owned by
Loncin Group Co., Ltd. (“Loncin Group”) and 2% owned by Mr. Tu. Loncin Group
is 98% owned by Mr. Tu; 1% owned by Ms. Tu Jianmin and 1% owned by Ms. Tu
Jianrong, both being sisters of Mr. Tu. USUMHK held 978,383,181 Shares as at 31
December 2023. Therefore, Mr. Tu was deemed to be interested in the Shares held by

USUMHK pursuant to the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors and Chief Executives had any interests or short positions in
the Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations which would have to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the

Model Code.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS (continued)

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short Positions in
Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the
persons in the shares and underlying shares as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions in Shares:

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EmigE (8

EFEHRS

FERRNB AT NN BRI EIE

mRRE

A B ZE+_HA=1+—H'UTFTALR
1D R ABRARR D R B R IR S R EFE KA
F33F BT EEZEMPMIEHENER

Rk

BRIDEIYF A :

Approximate

percentage of
shareholding in

the Company

Total number of (Note 1)
Shares interested EARE R
Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest BEEREN BAE s
RERTEth B tEENE B 15 42 8 (MS5ET)
USUM Investment Group Beneficial owner 978,383,181 (Note 2) 60.95%
Hong Kong Limited
AEREER (B8 BRAE BEm#EAEA (fF5E2)
USUM Investment Group Limited Interest in controlled 978,383,181 (Note 2) 60.95%
corporations
AEREERRNBRAT RREGEE 2R (HF5E2)
Loncin Holdings Co., Ltd. Interest in controlled 978,383,181 (Note 2) 60.95%
corporations
EEERBRAA MREGEE 2 ER (MF5E2)
Loncin Group Co., Ltd. Interest in controlled 978,383,181 (Note 2) 60.95%
corporations
EEEEFRAA RERESEEZ #Ea (fF5E2)
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS (continued)

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short Positions

in Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company
(continued)

Long positions in Shares: (continued)

R iREE (R
TERRNART MR BB 1
HR%E @

xR : (@

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in
the Company

Total number of (Note 1)
Shares interested R ATRE
Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest HEEEN B E L
RREE e 513/ EatE e 15 48 8 (MF5E1)
Mr. Tu Jianhua Interest in controlled 978,383,181 (Note 2) 60.95%
corporations
TREESE RREGEE 2 R (fFzE2)
Tai Security Holding Limited Beneficial owner 98,773,990 (Note 3) 6.15%
Bm#EAA (MF5E3)
Good Union Hong Kong Beneficial owner 44,700,000 (Note 4) 2.79%
Investment Limited
BESELERRAR BmEAA (fF5E4)
Mr. Zhang Mingjie Interest in controlled 143,473,990 (Notes 3 & 4) 8.94%
corporations
SREAZRNSEE RREGEE 2R (MF5E35%4)
Notes: MIsE -

(1) As at 31 December 2023, the total number of issued Shares was 1,605,152,291

Shares.

(2) The 978,383,181 Shares were held by the USUMHK, a company in which Mr. Tu
was indirectly interested. USUMHK is directly wholly owned by USUM Group, a
limited liability company incorporated in the PRC. The single largest shareholder of
USUM Group is Loncin Holdings, with an equity interest in USUM Group of 53.29%.
The remaining equity interests in USUM Group are held by 13 individuals and 27
companies, all of whom are independent third parties of Loncin Holdings and Mr. Tu,
and they each hold between 0.29% to 10% equity interests in USUM Group. Loncin
Holdings is 98% owned by Loncin Group and 2% owned by Mr. Tu. Loncin Group
is 98% owned by Mr. Tu; 1% owned by Ms. Tu Jianmin and 1% owned by Ms. Tu
Jianrong, both being sisters of Mr. Tu. USUMHK held 978,383,181 Shares as at 31
December 2023. Therefore, Mr. Tu was deemed to be interested in the Shares held by

USUMHK pursuant to the SFO.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS (continued)

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short Positions
in Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company
(continued)

Long positions in Shares: (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(3) The 98,773,990 Shares were held by Tai Security Holding Limited (“Tai Security"”)
as beneficial owner and Tai Security was wholly-owned by Mr. Zhang Mingjie (“Mr.
Zhang") as at 31 December 2023. Therefore, Mr. Zhang was deemed to be interested
in the same number of Shares as held by Tai Security pursuant to the SFO.

(4) The 44,700,000 Shares were held by Good Union Hong Kong Investment Limited
("Good Union”) as beneficial owner and Good Union was wholly-owned by Mr. Zhang
as at 31 December 2023. Therefore, Mr. Zhang was deemed to be interested in the
same number of Shares as held by Good Union pursuant to the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Company had
not been notified by any persons who had interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

Details of the emolument policy of the Group are set out in the
section headed "EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY" in
the Management Discussion and Analysis and the section headed
“Remuneration Committee” in the Corporate Governance Report.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION BY
BAND

=REEAEZ#HMEEE

The remuneration of the Company’s senior management by band for RREHZE_ 7__5!5—1— B=+—HILFE">
the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out below: RABIBREBAEZHNSBEEITIWT :
Number of
individuals
A

Remuneration Band: FENEsE
HK$0 to HK$1,000,000 07 7% 1,000,000 7T 4
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7% 1,500,000 75 =
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,500,000 1,500,001 522,500,000 75 =
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,500,000 2,500,001 723,500,000 75 -
More than HK$3,500,001 3,500,001t E 6

SIGNIFICANT LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Except for the litigation mentioned in the Management Discussion and
Analysis of this Annual Report, the Company was not engaged in any
litigation or arbitration of material importance and no litigation or claim
of material importance is known to the Directors to be pending or
threatened against the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report contained in this Annual
Report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable date
prior to the issue of this Annual Report, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float under the Listing Rules throughout the financial
year ended 31 December 2023 and as at the date of this Annual
Report.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 264 of this Annual
Report.
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EVENTS DURING AND AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Potential Restructuring of the Controlling Shareholders

Reference is made to the announcements of the Company dated 30
December 2021, 7 February 2022, 21 March 2022, 22 April 2022, 22
July 2022, 31 October 2022, 18 November 2022, 23 November 2022,
23 December 2022, 19 January 2023, 17 February 2023, 6 March 2023
and 22 November 2023 in relation to the potential restructuring (the
“Restructuring”) of the Controlling Shareholders (as defined below)
under the supervision of the Fifth Intermediate People’s Court of
Chongging City (collectively, the “Announcements”).

As disclosed in the Announcements, Loncin Group Co., Limited,
Limited and USUM Investment Group Limited

(the “Controlling Shareholders”), which are intermediate controlling

Loncin Holdings Co.,

shareholders of the Company, and ten other companies related
to the Controlling Shareholders (together with the Controlling
Shareholders, the “Loncin Restructuring Companies”) are in the course
of implementing the Restructuring plan and the joint administrators
of Loncin Restructuring Companies in relation to the Restructuring
will continue to monitor the implementation of the Restructuring
plan. There is uncertainty as to the progress and outcome of the
Restructuring. If the Restructuring is not successfully implemented,
there is a risk that the Controlling Shareholders will be declared
bankrupt. In the event that the Restructuring is implemented, the
ultimate beneficial owner of the Controlling Shareholders may be
changed. The Company was informed by the leader of a consortium of
investors that will participate in the Restructuring and will invest in and
purchase assets from Loncin Restructuring Companies that, on 2 March
2023, it has obtained a confirmation from the Executive Director of the
Corporate Finance Division of the Securities and Futures Commission
of Hong Kong that it will not trigger a mandatory general offer for the
shares of the Company as a result of the Restructuring under Note 8 to
Rule 26.1 of the Codes to Takeovers and Mergers.
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On 21 November 2023, the Company received a notification from
USUM Investment Group Limited that there was certain delay in the
implementation of the Restructuring plan. The Loncin Restructuring
Companies believed that such delay was due to the impact of the
pandemic at the early execution stage of the Restructuring plan
which had affected the fund raising process. The Loncin Restructuring
Companies have applied to the Fifth Intermediate People’s Court
of Chongging City for extension of execution of the Restructuring
plan. On 20 November 2023, the Fifth Intermediate People’s Court of
Chongging City has made a civil ruling approving the extension of the
execution of the Restructuring plan for six months (until 21 May 2024).

Given that the Company is not one of the Loncin Restructuring
Companies and is independent from the Controlling Shareholders
in respect of business, personnel, assets and finance, the Board is of
the view that the Restructuring mentioned above currently has no
material adverse impact on the operation and the financial status of the
Company.

The Company will closely monitor the subsequent development and
effect of the Restructuring. Further announcement(s) will be made by
the Company as and when appropriate or required in accordance with
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited and/or the Securities and Futures Ordinance.

Disclosure Pursuant to Rules 13.19 and 13.21 of the
Listing Rules

The disclosure is set out in the section headed “CAPITAL
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES” in the Management
Discussion and Analysis of this Annual Report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, Certified Public
Accountants, who will retire and a resolution for its re-appointment as
auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

For and on behalf of the Board

Qin Yongming
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 April 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTRODUCTION

The Company recognises the importance of maintaining a high
standard of corporate governance. The Company believes that an
effective corporate governance practice is fundamental to enhancing
shareholder value and safeguarding the interests of Shareholders and
other stakeholders. The Board sets appropriate policies and implements
corporate government practices appropriate to the conduct and growth
of the Group’s business. The code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules (the
"CG Code"”) have been adopted to shape the Company's corporate
governance structure. This corporate governance report describes how
the principles of the CG Code have been applied during the year ended
31 December 2023 under different aspects.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company recognises the importance of corporate transparency
and accountability and is committed to achieving a high standard of
corporate governance. Throughout the year ended 31 December 2023,
the Company has complied with all the principles and the applicable
code provisions of the CG code, contained in Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules, save and except as the code provision explained below:

c.2.1

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual.

During the period from January 2023 to 20 March 2023, Mr. Li
Linhui was the chairman of the Board and temporarily performed the
responsibilities of the role of chief executive officer.

The Directors considered that the arrangement would not impair the
balance of power and authority considering the background and
experience of the Directors and the number of independent non-
executive Directors on the Board. Accordingly, the Directors considered
that the temporary deviation from provision C.2.1 of the CG Code was
appropriate in such circumstances.

With effect from 21 March 2023, Mr. Li Linhui has resigned as an
executive Director. He has ceased to be the chairman of the Board and
has ceased to assume the responsibilities of chief executive officer of
the Company. Mr. Qin Yongming has been appointed as an executive
Director and the chairman of the Board. Mr. Zhang Wei (“Mr. Zhang")
has been appointed as an executive Director and the chief executive
officer of the Company. Mr. Zhang subsequently resigned as an
executive Director due to job adjustment and he remains as the chief
executive officer of the Company with effect from 14 December 2023.
Given that the roles of chairman of the Board and chief executive officer
are separate and are no longer performed by the same individual, as
at the date of this annual report, the Company complies with all the
applicable code provisions of the CG Code.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE (continued)

The Company will, from time to time, review the effectiveness of the
Group's corporate governance structure and consider whether any
changes are necessary.

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed, following
specific enquiries made by the Company of all such Directors, that they
had complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition of the Board

As at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this Annual Report,
the Board comprised six executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors, whose biographical details are set out in the Profile
of Directors and Senior Management contained in this Annual Report,
namely:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tu Jianhua

Mr. Qin Yongming (Chairman)
Mr. Miao Yu

Mr. Yao Jietian

Mr. Wang Li

Mr. Liu Yongxin

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Prof. Li Zhiguo

Prof. Yan Guowan
Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting

None of the Directors has any personal relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material or relevant relationship) with any
other Director or Chief Executive.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Roles and responsibilities of the Board

The Board is collectively responsible for overseeing the management
of the business and affairs of the Group. The Board meets regularly
to discuss the overall strategies as well as operational and financial
performances of the Group. Certain matters are reserved for decisions
by the Board, including matters relating to: (i) the formulation of
the Group's overall strategy and directions; (ii) any material conflict
of interest of substantial Shareholders or Directors; (iii) approval of
the Group’s annual results, annual budgets, interim results and other
significant operational and financial transactions; (iv) changes to the
Company's capital structure; and (v) major appointments to the Board.
The Board has delegated the day-to-day management, administration
and operation of the Group and implementation and execution of
policies and strategies decided by the Board to the executive Directors
and management of the Company.

The Board, through its board committees, is also responsible for
performing corporate governance duties including risk management,
internal controls, those under A.2.1 of the CG Code and relevant
compliance issues relating to the business operation of the Group.

The Board reviews and monitors the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior manager; develops,
reviews and monitors the code of conduct and compliance manual
applicable to employees and Directors.

The composition of the Board is well balanced with each Director
having sound industry knowledge, extensive corporate and strategic
planning experience and/or expertise relevant to the business of the
Group. The Directors collectively bring a variety of experience and
expertise to the Company.
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EXERRS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Board meetings and Board practices

All Directors have been given sufficient time and support to understand
the affairs of the Group and they have full and timely access to all
relevant information regarding the Group’s affairs and have unrestricted
access to the advice and services of the company secretary of the
Company (the “Company Secretary”). The Directors may seek
independent professional advice at the Company’s expenses in carrying

out their duties and responsibilities.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, seven Board meetings,
one annual general meeting of the Company were held. The meetings
are structured to allow open discussion. At the Board meetings, the
Directors participated in discussing the strategies, operational and
financial performance, corporate governance policy and internal control
of the Group.

Set out below is the attendance of the Directors at the Board and
annual general meeting held during the year:

EFg (@@
EEUOHREFGER
2REFENLRHBBERLSUT AL
BEH BRSHAREEEERSEES
B2AERMEN 2 — 8 ENEES
@1 ABE (TARNE) ZRERRHN
SEMAIRS - 8 BB ITHE RIS
#Xﬁ4§¥§ﬁ,§%mm AR A

RB&E_ZF_=-F+"RA=+—HLEFE
R /NS, %ﬁt‘k%%.a‘;‘aﬁ&—)\ﬂx
REFARG -ZFgRULHATRENE
ToREFEEHR L BEEHUEDHENRE
SRR - EERMBERF LEELH
R ERERE -

EENEAFEERTZEFEERERFTEBESF
REHFEREHWT

No. of meetings attended/
eligible to attend

BHE/GERLESERY

Regular General
Name of Director Board Meeting Meeting
EEuE THEEEEE BEARE
Executive Directors HTEE
Tu Jianhua REE 27 1/1
Qin Yongming (appointed on 21 March 2023) EXkB (R-E_=ZF=H_+—HEZF) 6/6 n
Miao Yu ER 77 171
Yao Jietian PRAK 717 11
Wang Li IE 417 11
Zhang Wei (appointed on 21 March 2023 and ®E WZEZF-H—HEZHF 3/4 11

resigned on 14 December 2023) WRZEZZF+ZF+IHET)

Liu Yongxin (appointed on 19 December 2023) 2k (R_E_=F+_H+ A HEZT) 0/0 0/0
Li Linhui (resigned on 21 March 2023) M (W -E_=F=H _+—HET) 0/0 0/0
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUERTES
Li Zhiguo ZEE 717 11
Yan Guowan Z[E5 77 11
Szeto Yuk Ting BfERE 6/7 1/1

54 CHIHO ENVIRONMENTAL GROUP LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2023



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Board meetings and Board practices (continued)

The Company Secretary prepared and kept detailed minutes of each
Board meeting and, within a reasonable time after each meeting, the
draft minutes were circulated to all Directors for comment and the
final and approved version of the minutes were sent to all Directors
for their records. The same practices and procedures as used in the
Board meetings had also been adopted and followed for the Board
committees meetings. All the minutes of the meetings recorded
sufficient details of the matters considered and decision reached are
available for inspection by the Directors at any time.

Notices of Board meetings were given to the Directors at least 14 days
prior to the date of the relevant meeting. Briefing papers were prepared
for all substantive agenda items and were circulated to the Directors
at least 3 days before each Board meeting. The Company Secretary is
responsible for providing accurate, timely and clear information to the
Directors prior to the Board meetings so as to ensure that the Directors
are able to make informed decisions regarding the matters to be
discussed in the meeting.

If any of the Directors has a potential conflict of interest in a matter
being considered in the Board meeting, such Director(s) shall abstain
from voting in relation to that particular matter. Independent non-
executive Directors with no conflict of interest in such matters would
be present at the Board meetings to deal with such conflict of interest
issues.

Access to sufficient information of the Group

The management is committed to providing the Board with appropriate
and sufficient explanation and information of the Group’s affairs
through financial reports, business and operational reports and budget
statements, in a timely manner, to enable them to make informed
decisions.

The Directors are also provided with access to the Group’s management
and the Company Secretary at all times to obtain relevant information
for carrying out their duties as Directors of the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Independent views and input to the Board

To ensure independent views and input are made available to the
Board, the Board (or through its Board committees) ensures the
following mechanisms are in place and reviews the implementation and
effectiveness of such mechanisms annually:

(1) all Directors should have the required character, integrity,
perspectives, skills, expertise and experience to fulfill their roles
and are encouraged to express their independent views through
Board meetings;

(2)  all Directors are required to declare conflicts of interest (if any) in
their roles as Directors and Directors who have material interests
shall not vote or be counted in the quorum for the relevant Board
resolutions;

(3) the Chairman of the Board meets with independent non-
executive Directors annually without the presence of the executive
Directors; and

(4) all independent non-executive Directors are required to confirm
in writing on an annual basis their compliance of independence
requirements pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

During the period from 1 January 2023 to 20 March 2023, Mr. Li
Linhui was the chairman of the Board and temporarily performed the
responsibilities of the role of chief executive officer. From 21 March
2023, Mr. Li Linhui has ceased to be the chairman of the Board and has
ceased to assume the responsibilities of chief executive officer of the
Company.

Mr. Qin Yongming (“Mr. Qin") has been appointed as the chairman of
the Board since 21 March 2023. Mr. Qin was responsible for providing
leadership of the Board and ensuring that all Directors are properly
informed on issues to be discussed at Board meetings. In addition, Mr.
Qin was responsible for ensuring that all Directors receive, in a timely
manner, adequate, complete, and reliable information in relation to the
Group's affairs. He also encouraged Directors to actively participate in
and to make a full contribution to the Board so that the Board functions
effectively and acts in the best interest of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
(continued)

Mr. Zhang has been appointed as the chief executive officer of the
Company since 21 March 2023. Mr. Zhang was responsible for the
strategic planning, administration, and management of the business
of the Group. Mr. Zhang was also responsible for the formulation
and successful implementation of Group policies and assuming full
accountability to the Board for all operations of the Group. He oversaw
the Group's compliance and internal control matters and maintains an
ongoing dialogue with all Directors to keep them fully informed of all
major business developments and issues. He also focused on strategic
planning and assessment of merger and acquisition opportunities for
the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of
one year and shall be subject to re-election as and when required under
the Articles of Association, until terminated in accordance with the
terms and conditions of the letters of appointment by giving written
notice for termination not exceeding 12 months to either party. None
of them hold any other offices in the Company or any its subsidiaries or
is interested in any Shares. In the Board meetings and Board committee
meetings held during the year, constructive views and comments are
given by the independent non-executive Directors, who have provided
their independent judgement on the issues relating to the strategy,
performance, conflict of interest and management process of the
Group.

The Company has received from each of its independent non-executive
Directors a written annual confirmation of his/her independence and
the Board considers all of them, namely Prof. Li Zhiguo, Prof. Yan
Guowan and Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting to be independent pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. So Shuk Yi Betty was the Company Secretary during the period
from 1 January 2023 to 20 March 2023. She has resigned as the
Company Secretary with effect from 21 March 2023.

Ms. Ng Mei Wah (“Ms. Ng”), a full-time employee of the Company, was
appointed as the Company Secretary with effect from 21 March 2023.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, Ms. Ng had received no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.

The Company Secretary plays an important role in supporting the Board
by ensuring efficient and effective information flow within the Board
and that the Board’s policy and procedures are followed.

The Company Secretary has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s
affairs. The Company Secretary reports to the Board through the
Compliance Director, Chairman and CEO. All Directors may have access
to the advice and services of the Company Secretary who regularly
updates the Board on governance and regulatory matters and facilitates
the induction and professional development of the Directors.

The Company Secretary is also responsible for ensuring the procedures
of the Board meetings are observed and providing the Board with
opinions on matters in relation to the compliance with the procedures
of the Board meetings.

The Board is fully involved in the selection and appointment of the
Company Secretary.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD COMMITTEES

To assist the Board in the execution of its duties, the Board has
delegated specific functions to six Board committees, namely
the Executive Committee, the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Strategy and Investment
Committee and the Pricing Committee, details of the composition of
which as at 31 December 2023 are as follows:

EEXELRHRS
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ZEE RLEEE FHESE WBRR
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Strategy and
Executive Audit Nomination  Remuneration Investment Pricing
Name of Director Committee Committee Committee Committee Comgﬂ%%g Committee’
EEiL HTZEY EBNRZEY R&ZEY EMEEY REZES EEZREY
Executive Directors HTESE
Tu Jianhua REE M M
Qin Yongming (appointed on ~ &XBB (R ZF_=4 C C C C
21 March 2023) ZA=+— E/ié‘%/if)
Miao Yu =) M M M M M
Yao Jietian @E*?ﬁ M M M
Independent Non-Executive BIFHITES
Directors
Li Zhiguo FEE M M M
Yan Guowan Z2[EHG C M M
Szeto Yuk Ting EESE M M C
E C - Chairman td C—EF
M — Member M—m8
J Other members of the Pricing Committee are certain senior management of the — # EEZEGHMAERATABNETEREEA
Company. Be

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The Board established the Executive Committee in 2011 with written
terms of reference, which is responsible for the management and
administration of the business of the Company and any matters which
are within the ordinary course of the Company’s business under the
control and supervision of the Board and in accordance with the
provisions of the terms of reference of the Executive Committee for
ensuring a high standard of corporate governance and compliance
of the Company. The written terms of reference of the Executive
Committee are available on the Stock Exchange's website and the
Company's website.
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE (continued)

As at 31 December 2023, members of the Executive Committee were as
follows:

HITEEE (@
N _=F+_"_A=+—H '#ITEEZ
ZHEWT:

Role in Executive

Name of committee member Position Committee

EHTREE
ZEEMEYS B ZHAE
Qin Yongming (appointed on 21 March 2023) Executive Director Chairman
BXKH (W ZE_ZFZF-+—HEZHF) HITES IE
Tu Jianhua Executive Director Member
AR HITES [D4=1
Miao Yu Executive Director Member
o HITES R
Yao Jietian Executive Director Member
BAK HITES [D4=1

The Board delegated certain corporate governance functions to
the Executive Committee, which include to develop and review the
Company's policies and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board; review and monitor (i) the training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management of the Company; (i) compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; and (iii) the code of conduct and Model Code applicable
to the Directors or employees.

Directors’ Training and Professional Development

Every newly appointed Director is provided with information and
a comprehensive induction to ensure that he/she has a proper
understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses as well
as his/her responsibilities under the relevant statutes, laws, rules and
regulations.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEXERRS

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE (continued)

Directors’ Training and Professional Development
(continued)

Development and training of Directors is an ongoing process to ensure
that they can perform their duties appropriately. During the year ended
31 December 2023, all Directors were provided with regular updates
on the Company's performance, position and prospects to enable
the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties. In
addition, all Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills to ensure that they continue to make contribution to the Board.
The Company updates Directors on the latest development regarding
the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements from
time to time, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of
good corporate governance practices.

The training received by the Directors during the year ended 31
December 2023 is summarised as follows:
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Directors Types of training
== 1EEIEE R
Tu Jianhua TRIEEE A, B
Qin Yongming (appointed on 21 March 2023) FXB W ZE_=ZF=F"+—H
EBZ(T) A B
Miao Yu ER A B
Yao Jietian [ SOPN A B
Wang Li Eaia A, B
Zhang Wei (appointed on 21 March 2023 and wE (70 '7‘___ F=F -+ —HEZE
resigned on 14 December 2023) WHRZEZ=F+Z F+UHFE) A, B
Liu Yongxin (appointed on 19 December 2023) Bk (R =EZ=F+ZH+1H
EBZE(T) A B
Li Zhiguo FEE A, B
Yan Guowan ZE3E A, B
Szeto Yuk Ting B REEIE A, B
A attending training session relevant to environmental, social and governance reporting A HERIRE - HEREAREEEA/HETH
and/or induction session for newly appointed Director ZEESEHABEI
B reading articles relevant to corporate governance, regulatory updates and Directors’ B HBERCEEA BMEERERESHERS
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in 2010 with written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code as set out in Appendix
C1 to the Listing Rules. The written terms of reference of the Audit
Committee are available on the Stock Exchange's website and
the Company’s website. The Audit Committee has established a
whistleblowing policy of the Company and set out the procedures on
reporting possible improprieties in financial reporting matters of the
Company.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include monitoring the
integrity of the financial statements of the Company, reviewing the
effectiveness of Company’s internal control (including the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and their training programs
and budget) and risk management systems as delegated by the Board,
and making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
and engagement of the external auditor for the audit and non-audit
services. The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources
enabling it to discharge its duties.

The Audit Committee held five meetings during the year ended 31
December 2023 with the attendance of each member as follows:
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Role in Meetings

Audit attended/

Name of committee member Position Committee eligible to attend

HBRZEY BHE/

ZEEMEHS A 2 FERLEEERY

Yan Guowan Independent non-executive Director Chairman 5/5
ZERE BIFRTES IR

Li Zhiguo Independent non-executive Director Member 5/5
FEE BUFNTES =]

Szeto Yuk Ting Independent non-executive Director Member 5/5
BEEE BUFNTES =]

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee
reviewed, together with the management, the annual results, interim
results and related announcements including the disclosures, financial
reporting and the accounting policies adopted by the Group prior to
the submission to the Board approval; discussed with management on
significant judgements affecting Group’s consolidated financial statements
and approved the appointment of external auditor; reviewed and
discussed non-audit service pre-approval policy; reviewed and discussed
the internal audit report; reviewed and assessed the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control and risk management;
and reviewed and monitored the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness during the audit process.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

The Board is responsible for preparing the financial statements that
give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group on a
going concern basis. The Audit Committee has reviewed the Company’s
annual results and consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2023. The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for
preparing a balanced, clear and comprehensive assessment in annual/
interim reports, price-sensitive announcements and other financial
disclosures. Save as disclosed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon
the Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Auditors’ Remuneration

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had engaged the
Group’s external auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, to provide the
following services and their respective fees charged are set out as below:
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Audit services BErARS 15.1
Non-audit services (Note) JEBESTERTE (H152) 2.7
Total 4zt 17.8

Note: The non-audit services were mainly advisory and other reporting review services. Biat : FEBSRBEEAEH R EMBREBRIR

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had also engaged
other accounting firms to perform agreed-upon procedures in respect of
the interim financial information of the Group for the six months ended
30 June 2023 and to provide audit services to certain subsidiaries of the
Group and the aggregated fees charged were HK$1.2 million.

Board’s Responsibilities for the Accounts

The Board is responsible for the preparation of accounts for each
financial period, which gives a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flows for that period.
In preparing these accounts for the year ended 31 December 2023,
the Board has selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently, made judgements and estimates that are prudent and
reasonable, and has prepared the accounts on a going concern basis.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing all
information and representations contained in the consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023
which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and
of the results and cash flow for that period. The Directors consider
that the financial statements have been prepared in conformity with
all appropriate accounting standards and requirements and reflect
amounts that are based on the best estimates and reasonable, informed
and prudent judgement of the Board and the management. Save
as disclosed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the Directors have
prepared the consolidated financial statements of the Company on a
going concern basis.

The statements of the auditor of the Group about its reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report contained in this Annual Report.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include reviewing and
supervising the financial reporting process, risk management and
internal control procedures of the Group and nominating and
monitoring external auditors. In compliance with Rule 3.21 of the
Listing Rules, the chairman of the Audit Committee possesses the
appropriate professional and accounting qualifications.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established in 2010 with written terms
of reference in compliance with the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1
to the Listing Rules. The written terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee are available on the Stock Exchange's website and the
Company's website.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include:

1. formulating the nomination policy for consideration by the Board
and implementing the nomination policy laid down by the Board;

2. reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
making recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy; and

3. identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board

members and selecting or making recommendations to the Board
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships.

The Nomination Committee held two meetings during the year ended
31 December 2023 with the attendance of each member as follows:

Name of committee member

ZEEMERS

Position

Rl

EEXELRHRS

RBEET (B)
REEEENTEHEOE

HERLBRHEFTETER  BERE
FERENRBEBER ;

EVSFRNEFTNRE - AHM
AERL (BIER A MAMAERRSE) » I
MERRESE QB ERBEME
HEFSFUNEFIRLES &

MEEHRCBEERIBEEEFERE
AL WHERLEBALTHESE
FHAMLEAEFGRHEER

Qin Yongming (appointed on 21 March 2023)
KB (R ZEZF=FZF—HEZH)

Li Zhiguo
FEE

Miao Yu
R

Yan Guowan
Z[E5

Szeto Yuk Ting
BEEE

Executive Director

HITES

Independent non-executive Director
BUFNTES

Executive Director

HITES

Independent non-executive Director

BUFHNTES

Independent non-executive Director

BUFHNTES

RELEEEGHREE =F+ZR=+—
EtEFW%%HWA FOEMBHEER
Role in Meetings
Nomination attended/
Committee eligible to attend
HRAZEE BiliE/
2 FERLESERY
Chairman 212
B
Member 212
[33=1
Member 212
[33=1
Member 212
[33=1
Member 212
[33=1

ERRFEERRAR —BEZFFR
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination Committee
has reviewed and discussed the composition, size and structure of the
Board, the independence of the independent non-executive Directors,
re-election of Directors and nomination of new Directors.

In considering the nomination of new Directors, the Company will
propose the candidates to the Nomination Committee, which will
review and make recommendation to the Board on the expertise, skills
and experience of the candidates appropriate to the requirements of
the business of the Company.

The composition of the Board has a significant element of diversity,
in terms of skills, regional and industry experience, background and
gender.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has established a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) in 2013 which sets out the approach to achieve and
maintain diversity on the Board in order to enhance the effectiveness of
the Board.

The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and education background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

The Board sets measurable objectives to implement the Board Diversity
Policy and reviews such objectives from time to time to ensure their
appropriateness and ascertain the progress made towards achieving
those objectives. In 2023, there is one female Director (representing
one-nineth to the total Board members) in the Board. The Board targets
to maintain at least the current level of female representation, with the
ultimate goal of achieving gender parity. The Board will continue to take
opportunities to increase the proportion of female members over time
as and when suitable candidates are identified.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)
Board Diversity Policy (continued)

The Board currently has one female Director and thereby has achieved
gender diversity at the Board level. As at 31 December 2023, the
percentage of male and female in the Company’s workforce (including
the Directors and senior management) is 78% and 22%, respectively,
representing a male-to-female ratio of 3.5 to 1. We will continue to
strive to enhance female representation in the workforce and achieve
an appropriate balance of gender diversity according to business needs
and future development. We will also ensure that there is gender
diversity when recruiting staff and are committed to providing career
development opportunities for female staff so that we will have a
pipeline of potential successors to our Board in the future.

The Board will review the implementation and effectiveness of the
Board Diversity Policy on an annual basis in accordance with code
provision B.1.3 of the CG Code.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established in 2010 with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code as set out in
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The written terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee are available on the Stock Exchange's website
and the Company’s website.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on, among other things, the Company’s
policy and structure for the remuneration of all Directors and senior
management of the Company, and the remuneration packages for all
executive Directors and senior management of the Company.

The remuneration for the executive Directors comprises basic salary,
allowance and discretionary bonus.

Salary adjustments are made where the Remuneration Committee
takes into account performance, contribution and responsibilities of the
individual. Apart from basic salary, executive Directors and employees
are eligible to receive a discretionary bonus taking into account
factors such as market conditions as well as corporate and individual’s
performance during the year.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued) HNZEE (&)

The following table illustrates the elements of remuneration of TXREBHTEZEASHEEAENHHE

executive Directors and senior management. o

Remuneration Purpose Reward Policy details

M =]:y) R EM R E

Basic salary To reflect the market value of Monthly cash payment Reviewed with market trend

each individual annually

BN e RREEANZ HIHEE BRAREMMN BERTHBBA LR

Allowance To attract and retain employees Reimbursement Market conditions

AL K5I Kk B EE e mHIER

Discretionary To motivate employees to deliver ~ Cash payment Individual performance and
performance bonus high levels of performance of Company performance

the Company and individual
performance goals

BB RIRIEAL BEIREAXABEHEKEN REMM BARIBRABRR
RIBUREMMBEARIBER

The following table shows the breakdown of the Directors’ THRIRBSEHE_ZT_=F+_F=+—

remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2023: BIEFE 2 #2 B4
Retirement
Salaries benefit
and  Performance scheme Other
Fees  allowances bonus  contributions benefits Total
RIKER
ne  HeREl RREA BE A HitiigH st
HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM
BEAT BEAR BEAR BEAT BEAR BEAR
(Note (a))
(GG
Year Ended 31 December 2023: HE_Z-Z-HE+-RB-+-HILEE:
Executive Directors BiTES
Tu Jianhua REE - 40 5.0 - - 9.0
Qin Yongming Rk - 4.0 33 - = 73
Miao Yu HR - 0.6 03 - - 09
Yao Jietian HAX - 32 18 02 0.1 53
Wang Li IR - - - - - -
Liu Yongxin 2 - - - - - -
Zhang Wei R - 24 - - S 24
Li Linhui £y - 08 - - - 08
Independent Non-Executive Directors ~ BUFH{TEE
Li Zhiguo FEE 0.25 - - - - 0.25
Yan Guowan ZER 0.25 - - - - 0.25
Szeto Yuk Ting AESIE 025 - - - = 0.25
Note a: During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company made contributions to Mizta: RBEE_Z_=F+"A=+—HLEFER &
the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund for Mr. Tu Jianhua, Mr. Zhang Wei, Mr. RNEVDRNRRBESE IRERE =M A
Li Linhui, Mr. Miao Yu, and Mr. Yao Jietian of HK$18,000, HK$15,000, HK$4,500, HREERFARLEMSBRFEATEFED
HK$18,000 and HK$18,000, respectively. £7£18,000% 7t ~ 15,0007 7T ~ 4,500 7T ~ 18,000

7T 5218,0007 7T ©
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued)

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the year ended
31 December 2023, with the attendance of each member as follows:

EEXELRHRS

=T

Role in Meetings

Remuneration attended/

Name of committee member Position Committee eligible to attend

aHHEEE 00 CHE/

ZEEHENS Bl ZHkE RERLEERRY

Szeto Yuk Ting Independent non-executive Director Chairman 2/2
BlEEE BIFRTES IR

Li Zhiguo Independent non-executive Director Member 212
FEE BIFRTES 3=

Miao Yu Executive Director Member 2/2
ER HITES 3=

Yan Guowan Independent non-executive Director Member 2/2
ZERE BIFRTES 3=

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration
Committee has reviewed and recommended to the Board for approval
of the remuneration packages for Directors and senior management of
the Company for the year of 2023, the bonus payments to the Directors
and senior management of the Company and the remuneration of new
Directors.
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EXERRS

STRATEGY AND INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

In order to cope with the Group's development needs, enhance
scientific planning and decision-making, promote the effectiveness
of material investment decision-makings and improve the corporate
governance structure of the Group, the Company established the
Strategy and Investment Committee in 2015. The written terms of
reference of the Strategy and Investment Committee have been
subsequently adopted in 2016 and are available on the Company’s
website.

As at 31 December 2023, members of the Strategy and Investment
Committee were as follows:

BEIRRIRERS Y
BBEAEENFERR WRAIRAE
MR REBARERENERIER A
SEREENCEEARE AQAANS
—BERUBBAREEEEY - HKRKEE
é%ﬁ%i@ﬁ@ﬁ@ﬁ@m: —REHR
W A AR BIEE A

RIZEZ=F+ZA=+—H EEHEK
REGZHREWT :

Role in

Strategy and

Investment

Name of committee member Position Committee
EEREAKEZE Y

ZREMEHE B fi pd - 115
Tu Jianhua Executive Director Member
R HTES 5921
Qin Yongming (appointed on 21 March 2023) Executive Director Chairman
BB R ZEZZE=F+—HEZH) HTES B
Miao Yu Executive Director Member
B HTES e
Yao lietian Executive Director Member
HAK HTESR 5921

The principal functions and responsibilities of the Strategy and
Investment Committee are to (i) study on the development strategies
and planning; and (i) advise on the decision-makings on material
investments and capital operation of the Company.

The duties of the Strategy and Investment Committee include the
following aspects:

(i) to act as a delegate for the Board generally;

(i) to make decisions and pass resolutions, and to exercise all powers
of the Board on all matters of the Company in relation to its daily
operations and investment activities, including any non-connected
transaction if the applicable percentage ratios calculated under
Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules less than 5%; and
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

STRATEGY AND INVESTMENT COMMITTEE
(continued)

(iii)  to make recommendations to the Board concerning matters
of corporate significance not otherwise dealt by any other
committees of the Board, recommendations must be submitted
to the Board for approval in respect of all transactions if the
applicable percentage ratios calculated under Rule 14.07 of the
Listing Rules equal to or are more than 5%.

Notwithstanding that the Strategy and Investment Committee is
entitled to exercise all powers of the Board on all matters of the
Company in relation to its daily operations and investment activities,
recommendations must be submitted to the Board for approval for
all transactions with a percentage ratio equal to or higher than 5%
according to the size test(s) required by the Listing Rules.

PRICING COMMITTEE

The Pricing Committee has been established in 2010 and delegated
with the operations of the Group's policy regarding dealings in metal
futures contracts. It determines the range of metal futures contracts
that the Group may enter into during the month. On regular basis,
the Pricing Committee reviews the open positions of the Group and
determines (i) the hedging requirements; (ii) the quantity and the price
of the metal futures contracts that the Group is going to long and
short; (iii) the risk management strategy and approach, making sure the
Group has an effective risk monitoring system.

As at 31 December 2023, members of the Pricing Committee were as
follows:

EEXELRHRS

BIRRIGEREE (@)

iy MEMEMEEZETARABREMEK
TEEFNESTSRHEHEBES M
RiE LR FE14.07EFFsT B RER
BOLERENS%HULEZFBER
SR ERREBAEBEETESY
EHt o

EEBRAREZESGERMARGNAE
EERREEDNMESETH—ESRS
7 ERE EHRVRENREAS T
DEERERASINS%NAER S BIX /AR
REMERERTEFGER-

EEBZEE
EEZEGN B _BFMI WEREE
EXAEEAHEESBHESHONER -H
BEEAERNZBAREIINEBHRESH
NEE EEEZEEEREREIEBBRT
BRZDUEE (VEHER ()VEEREEE
AHEBELWNEBIHESANBENER ;i)
REBRERRERG & BREAEEEEEN
BEBRERRM

A B ZEFE+_HA=t+—H EEEEY
ZREWT

Role in

Name of committee member Position Pricing Committee
ZEEMENSR A AEEZEGZHA
Qin Yongming (appointed on 21 March 2023) Executive Director Chairman
BKB (R ZEZZFZF-+—HEZH) RITESE £
Miao Yu Executive Director Member
ER RITESE mE
Yao Jietian Executive Director Member
HAK RITESE mE
Udo Langhans Head of Commodity Risk Management Member
BoEREETE mE
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PRICING COMMITTEE (continued)

Following a review of the current business operations, internal controls,
risk management and policies and practices regarding dealings in metal
futures contracts of the Group, the Board adopted a commodity price
risk hedging policy in 2018. The policy has subsequently been updated
to cater for the changing operating conditions of the Group. The
written terms of reference of the Pricing Committee have also been
adopted in 2023 and are available on the Company's website.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Pricing Committee has
reviewed the Group's physical stock price and hedging transactions.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Responsibility of the Board and management

The Board is responsible for overseeing and ensuring the Group
has established and maintained an appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems, including reviewing their
effectiveness whereas management is responsible for the design and
implementation of the risk management and internal control systems.

The Company leverages on the expertise offered by internal and
external professionals to develop its internal control system, which
includes a well-established corporate structure and an organisation with
clearly defined lines of responsibility and authority.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems are designed
to assist the Group in meeting its strategic objectives. These systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Risk Management Framework

The Group has established an Enterprise Risk Management (“ERM")
framework to assist the Group in managing its risks. The Group’s ERM
framework includes the following key elements:

(1)

Risk Identification — A Risk Universe fits for the Group’s business
model has been established. Relevant risks faced by the Group
have been identified and the risks are classified into four types,
namely, strategic, operational, financial reporting and compliance
risk;

Risk Assessment — A Risk Workshop amongst key management
members was conducted to assess and priorities the risks of
the Group. The risks are assessed in terms of the likelihood of
their occurrence and the significance of their impact by the key
management of the Group;

Risk Mitigation — A Risk Owner is assigned to each key risk
identified. Each Risk Owner is responsible for the risk assigned.
Risk mitigation actions are tailored and established to address the
risks; and

Risk Monitoring and Reporting — Risk Owner is responsible for
ensuring the risk mitigation plan is executed and implemented
properly by appropriate parties (e.g. with appropriate measures/
adequate policies and procedures in place). Internal Audit
has a role to evaluate and assess if the risk mitigation plans
are designed and operated effectively by management. The
development and the status of the ERM program is reported to
the Audit Committee on a regularly basis.

The implementation of the Group’s ERM framework was assisted by

management, the Group’s Pricing Committee, Strategy and Investment

Committee and Internal Audit Department. These framework and setup
enables the Group to ensure any new and emerging risk relevant to the
Group's operation is promptly identified and managed.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Internal Audit

The Group’s Internal Audit Department is to provide independent
assurance to the Board and executive management on the adequacy
and effectiveness of risk management and internal controls for the
Group. The Group's Internal Audit Department adopts a risk-and-control
based audit approach. The annual work plan of the Group’s Internal
Audit Department covers major activities and processes of the Group’s
business units whilst audit plan is reviewed and agreed by the Audit
Committee. In addition to the agreed schedule of work, the Group’s
Internal Audit Department conducts other review and investigative work
as may be required. All audit reports are communicated to the Audit
Committee and key members of executive and senior management.
Audit issues are tracked and followed up for proper implementation,
with progress reported to the Audit Committee, executive and senior
management periodically. The risk management and internal control
system of the Group is reviewed and assessed on an on-going basis by
the Executive Directors, and will be further reviewed and assessed at
least once each year by the Audit Committee and the Board.

Review Effectiveness of Risk Management and Internal
Control

Through the Audit Committee, the Board has conducted an annual
review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems for the year ended 31 December 2023, covering the
material financial, operational and compliance controls, and considered
the Group's risk management and internal control systems effective and
adequate.

The Audit Committee has also conducted an annual review of the
adequacy of resources, qualifications, experience and training programs
of the Group’s internal audit staff and accounting and financial
reporting staff and considered that the staffing is adequate and the
staffs are competent to carry out their roles and responsibilities.

(@) The Board shall be ultimately responsible for ensuring that
adequate and effective systems are present to maintain
compliance with the continuous disclosure obligations of the
Company.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Review of Risk Management and Internal Control
Effectiveness (continued)

(b)  The Board shall delegate the routine oversight of the Company’s
disclosure obligations to the Disclosure Team, which is responsible
for:

(i) ensuring proper systems and controls are in place to collect,
review and verify potential inside information;

(i) reviewing potential inside information and deciding which
information must be disclosed;

(iii)  deciding whether the Company may delay publication of
inside information;

(iv) vetting and clearing announcements or other public
disclosures (such as presentation materials for analysts’
meetings);

(v)  deciding whether other action, such as the seeking of
suspension of trading pending clarification of uncertainties,
as may be necessary;

(vi)  keeping proper records of all the information received and
decisions made;

(vii)  where necessary, engaging financial, legal or other advisers
to assist the Disclosure Team to carry out its duties;

(viii) ensuring that employees are educated on the policy and
internal reporting process;

(ix)  supervising the Company’s compliance with continuous
disclosure obligations; and

(x)  establishing periodic financial reporting procedures so that
key financial and operating data is identified and escalated
in a structured and timely manner.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Review of Risk Management and Internal Control
Effectiveness (continued)

() The Disclosure Team comprises the following members or their
delegates:

(i) Executive Directors; and

(i) Other members as the Board may designate from time to
time.

As soon as the staff become aware of the potential inside information,
they must immediately report to the compliance department who
will then report to the Responsible Director of the Disclosure Team in
writing. The report (the “Report”) must be sent to the Responsible
Director by hand or email and marked “Private and Confidential” on
the cover. The Report should set out details of the inside information
including:

(@) a general description of the matter;
(b)  the name(s) of the party(ies) involved,;
(c)  the relevant date(s) of the event(s) or transaction(s);

(d) the status of the matter (e.g. negotiations still in progress/
preliminary negotiations/final stage);

(e)  the amount and other major term(s) involved; and

(f)  if applicable, the Report should also attach the draft agreement
to be entered into by any member of the Group as well as any
other document which may be of relevance.

Upon receipt of the Report, the Responsible Director shall, forward the
Report with relevant materials to the Disclosure Team. The Disclosure
Team shall then conduct preliminary assessment of the information
received, and after consultation with the relevant professional advisers
of the Company and then report to the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Anti-Corruption

The Company has also established policies and systems that promote
and support anti-corruption laws and regulations. We require our
employees to follow our employee manual and code of business
conduct and ethics, which contains internal rules and guidelines
regarding best commercial practice, work ethics, fraud prevention
mechanisms, negligence and corruption. We also carry out on the
job compliance training to our senior management and employees to
maintain a healthy corporate culture and enhance their compliance
perception and responsibility. Our staff can anonymously report any
suspected corrupt incident to the Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Company is committed to pursuing active dialogue with
shareholders as well as to provide timely disclosure of information
concerning the Company’s material developments to its shareholders,
investors and other stakeholders.

Annual general meeting of the Company serves as an effective forum
for communication between the Shareholders and the Board. All
Directors, the chairmen of all Board Committees, senior management
and external auditor will attend the annual general meeting of the
Company to address Shareholders’ inquiries. If the chairmen of the
Board or each Board Committee fail to attend the meeting, then
other members of each Board Committee will be invited to attend the
annual general meeting and answer Shareholders’ inquiries thereat.
All resolutions proposed at general meetings will be voted by poll. The
voting results will be posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.chihogroup.com) on the
same day of the relevant general meetings.

EEXELRHRS

Bz B R AEREEHE (1)

k&S
FABNERIERERZFRESERER
NERRZEG - RAEREEBLEETMH
UkBETRREETR ER&HIERR
EREBE BERT  NEFEES 52
RESHABRAIKRIES - KATASRE
EERESREEHGREIN ERRED
ExXb TR HAREHAKEE-ELH
EXmEABRREMIHRETES-

B RAVEE

R e
AQFRNBRERRAEBEL > LR
BRERER REEREMF S ARE RS
EATNEABEER o

ARBEINREBFAGTARRASZTEGIR
H—EEMNBEETE - 2REE - FIEE
ELETMER SREIEE RINEZEE
HEHEAABREBERS  UEHRKRSE
B NEEENAREETZE TN ERRE
HEAREG ISEEZEgNHMKERE
BEERFBEAGENG LEIZERESE
HoRBEAG LRENFERBEFURE
FRRR-BEERBPERREAGET
=) B F) 5 5 B 32 B 48 ik (www. hkexnews. hk)
e 7 A B 48 uk(www.chihogroup.com) o

BERIRREEERAR

—s-=FEFR 77



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRS

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(continued)

Shareholders’ Communication Policy (continued)

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
(www.chihogroup.com), where the latest information and updates on
its business operation and development, corporate governance practice,
contact information of investor relations and other information of the
Company (such as interim and annual reports, notices, circulars and
announcements) are published for the public's access.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
shareholders’ communication policy as disclosed above during the year
ended 31 December 2023, and is satisfied that it is effective for the
Board to understand the views and opinion of the shareholders through
the available channels.

Dividend Policy

The Company may declare and pay dividends to the Shareholders by
way of cash or by other means that the Board considers appropriate.
It is the policy of the Board, in recommending dividends, to allow the
Shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits, and at the same
time, to ensure the Company to retain adequate reserves for future
growth. The Company’s decision to declare or to pay any dividends
in the future, and the amount of such dividends will depend upon,
among other things, the current and future operations, financial
condition, liquidity position and capital requirements of the Group,
as well as dividends received from the Company's subsidiaries and
associates, which in turn will depend on the ability of those subsidiaries
and associates to pay a dividend. In addition, any final dividends for a
financial year will be subject to the approval of the Shareholders. The
declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is also subject
to any restrictions under the laws of Cayman Islands, the laws of Hong
Kong, the Company’s articles of association and any applicable laws,
rules and regulations.

Whilst this Dividend Policy reflects the Board's current views on the
financial and cash-flow position of the Group, the Board will continue
to review this Dividend Policy from time to time and the Board may
exercise its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or
modify this Dividend Policy at any time as it deems fit and necessary.
There is no assurance that dividends will be declared or paid in any
particular amount for any given period. The Dividend Policy shall in no
way constitute a legally binding commitment by the Company that any
dividend will be paid in any particular amount and/or in no way obligate
the Company to declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.

78 CHIHO ENVIRONMENTAL GROUP LIMITED ~ANNUAL REPORT 2023

BIGSRAVEE (48)

B ERAEEGR ()

AREABYBEE AQADRBPEM
(www.chihogroup.com) > TI & B RAHEFE
ERBER -PEEAER REEMGEHA
ERNRNER EERMN U RAATHA
Bl PR FER - BE - BREAS) U
HABRBALTEE-

EFTUER X ENRRIEABERNE
EFCEC=F+A=+—HIEEEANE
MRENL URBENDAMBEFEER
REREFERRNER-

g BEER
FABAURENTANEFTERABENE
A RARRE RN RE - EFFINHE
BERNRESTENBERDAAFRREDE
RABEN > WERERARQTEZF I E R
BIERKER - A ABEIRIKTEAIRIRK
REBBIRE KA B R ENBERBURR (B
hEE) AEENRERRREE HHER
MRBEERNREEER URBER
B FABREMEABTWEBRE EEMKR
BURRZF F AR KBE AR IRN R EBIAE
77) e ILSh - ERIR B BB E R KRR B
BB TREMERE ERBHIREEIRK
KNTAZHAEEEEN BEBZE TQ
BINEMERMA R ERBRERE R
ERRIE T B EAIRFIARIR ©

BEZREBRRMEFEREERLER
MBERBEABN TR EEFE R
BARBSZRERR BEFE A AETE
HEREHNERENEISBEEELENE
IR BB BT R,/ HERZREBE-
B 1R EE B B R FE 45 T B U E 4 E
HRATUERIKN - REBRE T EIEN
AT EERORIBEGEE AR BRLUE
AR EHRKTEARER, RS EEAR
REEEBREARBHARFEIRRE



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS
Shareholders general enquiries

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings to
the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited.

Shareholders and the investment community may at any time make a
request for the Company’s information to the extent such information is
publicly available.

Procedures for putting forward enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time forward enquires to the Board in writing
through the Company Secretary who will direct the enquiries to the
Board for handling. The contact details of the Company Secretary are as
follows:

The Company Secretary

48 Wang Lok Street

Yuen Long Industrial Estate
Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 2587 7799
Email: ComSec@chihogroup.com

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene General
Meetings

Subject to the provisions of the articles of association of the Company
("Articles of Association”), the Listing Rules and the applicable laws
and regulations, Shareholders may convene general meetings of the
Company in accordance with the following procedures:

1. One or more Shareholders holding at the date of the deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company (the “Requisitionist(s)”) may require the Board to
convene an extraordinary general meeting of the Company (an
"EGM") by depositing a written requisition (the “Requisition”) at
the registered office of the Company at Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands
and a copy thereof at the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong at 48 Wang Lok Street, Yuen Long
Industrial Estate, Hong Kong, for the attention of the Board or
the Company Secretary.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRS

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continued)

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene General
Meetings (continued)

2. The Requisition must clearly state the name(s) and shareholding in
the Company of the Requisitionist(s), specify the purposes of the
EGM and the details of the business proposed to be transacted in
the EGM and be signed by the Requisitionist(s) and may consist
of several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of

the Requisitionists.

3. Upon receipt of the Requisition, the Directors shall verify the
Requisition with the Company’s branch share registrar and upon
this confirmation that the Requisition is proper and in order, shall
forthwith proceed duly to convene the EGM, and such EGM
shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of the

Requisition.

4. If the Directors do not within twenty-one (21) days from the date
of the deposit of the Requisition proceed duly to convene the
EGM, the Requisitionist(s), may himself or themselves convene
a physical EGM at only one location which will be the principal
meeting place and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
Requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be

reimbursed to the Requisitionist(s) by the Company.

5. Under the Articles of Association and pursuant to the
requirements of the Listing Rules, a notice specifying the date,
time and place and particulars of resolutions to be considered at
the EGM shall be given to all Shareholders entitled to attend the

EGM for consideration in the following manner:

(i) notice of not less than twenty-one (21) clear days or ten
(10) clear business days, whichever is the longer, if a special

resolution is to be passed at the EGM; and

(i) notice of not less than fourteen (14) clear days or ten (10)
clear business days, whichever is the longer, in all other
cases, provided that an EGM may be called by a shorter
notice if it is so agreed by a majority in number of the
Shareholders having the right to attend and vote at the
EGM, being a majority together holding not less than 95%
in nominal value of the issued shares giving such right.

The notice period is exclusive of (i) the day on which the notice
is served or deemed to be served; and (i) the day on which the

EGM is to be held.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continued)

Procedures for Shareholders to Make Proposals at
General Meetings

Subject to the provisions of the Articles of Association, the Listing
Rules and the applicable laws and regulations, Shareholders may
propose a resolution at general meetings of the Company by following
the "Procedures for Shareholders to Convene General Meetings” to
convene an EGM and propose a resolution to be resolved at that EGM.
Please refer to the document titled “Procedures for Shareholders to
Convene General Meetings” on the Company’s website.

Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for
Election as a Director

Subject to the provisions of the Articles of Association, the Listing Rules
and the applicable laws and regulations, the Company may from time
to time in general meeting elect any person to be a Director either
to fill a casual vacancy or as an to additional Director by an ordinary
resolution.

"Candidate”) for
election as a Director at general meeting in accordance with the
following procedures:

1. Shareholder(s) may propose a person (the

(@ a Shareholder or a group of Shareholders holding not
less than one-tenth (1/10) of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company may requisition an EGM to propose
the Candidate to be elected as a Director in the manner
provided in
General Meetings”; or

"Procedures for Shareholders to Convene

(b)  Election of directors whether by rotation or otherwise in
the place of those retiring would be considered ordinary
business at an annual general meeting of the Company (the
“AGM") and if the notice of an AGM includes the election
of Directors, any Shareholder may propose the election of
any person as a Director at the AGM;

EEXELRHRS

AR HEF (48)
RENRRRAGLREBZZERF
RIBAABEZMAAIIRS S EHRBIRE R
EOIROER R ER IR EHRERS
ZRFINERBRRERE LIREREZR U
BRRRFIARGRIEZERIRRSHIARE
L; \E%EE,J/ \u?tm Dﬁ}}%ztg __]QHJS rﬂiﬁﬂ
FRRAEZEFI Mo

RREFHE—BATREFTZER
RiBARSRMAAIE  EHRARBRE
BNER AR ARIRRAEEEE
BRBEREHEMALAAES  LUAHE
B REFRITIEES -

1. BRRAURBEUTEFRRRAE LEZ
FEEE—m AL (MREA) RES:

() BEFLORERTFEMNRAAT
RRAE LREZARBBER
K+D2Z2—/N0)H—2HZH
REFZIRRBRARREARAEZ
BEIFMEEZANERBHARK
REFRARE > DURZREEREEA

(b) MAEREREBFAE (MERE
FARG)) PEREE FHp@Ek
BEAUHEMASNIRKEREZE
EORERAE—REBERMEER
BEAGESORERES T
AR RRREFAE LR
HEETHWALTAESE;

ERRFEERRAR —BEZFFR

81



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRS

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continued)

Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for
Election as a Director (continued)

1.

(continued)

Provided that, in each case, no Candidate other than a Director
retiring at the meeting shall, unless recommended by the
Directors for election, be eligible for election as a Director at any
general meeting unless:

(i) a notice signed by a Shareholder (other than the person
to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the
meeting for which such notice is given of his intention to
propose such Candidate for election; and

(i) a notice signed by the Candidate of his willingness to be
elected,

shall have been lodged to the Company at its principal place
of business in Hong Kong at 48 Wang Lok Street, Yuen Long
Industrial Estate, Hong Kong within the period of at least seven
(7) days commencing on the day after the despatch of the notice
of the general meeting and ending no later than seven (7) days
prior to the date appointed for such general meeting.

In addition, the notice must contain the information as specified
in Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules about the Candidate,
including but not limited to the following:

(i) full name;

(i) age;

(iii)  business and residence addresses;

(iv)  principal occupation or employment;
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continued)

Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for
Election as a Director (continued)

2. (continued)

(v)  experience including (a) other directorships held in the last
three (3) years in public companies the securities of which
are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong (PRC) or
overseas, and (b) the major appointments and professional
qualifications; and

(vi)  interests in Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 576 of the Laws of
Hong Kong).

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the constitutional
documents of the Company were amended. In order to (i) conform
to Appendix A1 Core Shareholder Protection Standards to the Listing
Rules; (ii) reflect certain updates in relation to the applicable laws of the
Cayman Islands and the Listing Rules; and (iii) make other housekeeping
amendments, a special resolution was passed by the Shareholders to
amend the existing memorandum and articles of association of the
Company by way of adopting a new set of memorandum and articles of
association of the Company in substitution for, and to the exclusion of,
the existing memorandum and articles of association of the Company
at the annual general meeting held on 27 June 2023. A copy of the
amended and restated memorandum and articles of association is
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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MAJOR EVENTS OF CEG IN 2023

BEelRASF=FAEHE

APRIL I8

Scholz Group joined Car2Car Alliance, together with the
alliance members to drive European Automobile Carbon
Reduction

Scholz Recycling GmbH, a subsidiary of the Group under Scholz
Holding GmbH (together with its subsidiaries, the “Scholz Group”),
joined Car2Car project, which is a union involving famous automakers,
recyclers, component processors, and universities. The project is
committed to collaborating on the development of innovations for
dismantling and automatic sorting of scrapped vehicles, utilizing
digital technology and artificial intelligence (Al) to automate and
accelerate the recycling process, and utilizing robots to automate the
dismantling process. The project aims to jointly improve the utilization
rate of recycled materials in the design process of new vehicle models,
and reduce the carbon footprint of raw materials such as steel and
aluminum. Car2Car project has received 6.4 million euros in grant
support from the Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Climate
Action in Germany. This project will drive the Group’s research and
development to a new level.
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MAJOR EVENTS OF CEG IN 2023
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Qishun Recycling Project obtained the qualification for IS B ¥R ES B B4 TR B ISt B B i AR
ELV dismantling and officially started the ELV recycling BN EXNRE IR E TS
business.

Qishun Recycling Project located in Taizhou City, Zhejiang Province HB&MMNIIEANTHNEIBREESEER
obtained the qualification for end-of-life vehicle (“ELV") dismantling  JEFEVSREFLBIEIFM B > TH7BER
and officially started the ELV recycling business. At present, the EXBNREEMEENELIWIFARETS - Bal 28
collection and dismantling volumes of the project are increasing month BEMINEEMIFESEAZAB R 78R
by month, and it is predicted that the business volume will continue to  FEERHFEIR o
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MAJOR EVENTS OF CEG IN 2023
ESRAR-IFZ=FAERT

AUGUST /\ B

Plzen Metal Recycling Yard in Czech Republic was put
into operation

In light of the convenient transportation, long industrial tradition,
and developed automobile manufacturing industry in Plzen State, the
Group invested in the construction of a new metal recycling yard in this
area. The construction of Plzen Metal Recycling Yard was completed in
August 2023 and was officially put into operation. Its recycled metal
recycling business will increase the annual metal recycling capacity of
Scholz Group by 500,000 tons after reaching full capacity.

Plzen Metal Recycling Yard will combine with the Group’s experience in
resource reuse to inject new energy into the local circular economy.
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OCTOBER +8

Shandong Hongshun Joint Venture Project Launches the
First Batch of Recycling and Utilization of Scrapped EVs

In October 2023, Shandong Hongshun Recycling Technology Co., Ltd
started the recycling line of the first batch of scrapped electric vehicles
("EVs"). That was an important node in the green recycling field of the
Company'’s joint venture project in Greater China.

This batch of EVs will be disassembled professionally and processed
to achieve the reuse of components and the recycling of metal
materials. This will help to reduce environmental pollution, improve
resource utilization efficiency, and further implement the green circular
development concept of the Group.
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MAJOR EVENTS OF CEG IN 2023
ESRAR-IFZ=FAERT

NOVEMBER +—A8

Taizhou Chiho-Tiande Metal Co., Ltd. was awarded as a
key import platform unit in Zhejiang Province

On November 6th, the 6th China International Import Expo Zhejiang
Province Key Import Platform Promotion Conference and the Zhejiang
Province Trading Group Import Procurement Centralized Signing
Ceremony were held in Shanghai. At the event, Taizhou Chiho Tiande
Metal Co., Ltd. (“Chiho-Tiande"”) was awarded the fourth batch of
provincial-level key import supply chain platform units in Zhejiang
Province and received the award at the award ceremony.

Chiho-Tiande is designated by the Ministry of Environmental Protection
of the PRC as a utilization enterprise for imported waste hardware,
waste wires and cables, and waste motors. It is a leading enterprise
in China engaged in mixed waste metal recycling, dismantling,
processing, deep processing, and resource recycling. For a long time,
Chiho-Tiande, while focusing on business, has adhered to green, low-
carbon and sustainable development as the main direction of enterprise
development, and has successively won the honors and certifications
of China's Top 500 Foreign Trade Enterprises, Zhejiang Province's
Demonstration Unit for Developing Circular Economy, the National
Advanced Group of Nonferrous Metals Industry, exemplary organization
for Energy Conservation and Consumption Reduction in Zhejiang
Province, and Zhejiang Province’s Civilized Unit.
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MAJOR EVENTS OF CEG IN 2023
ESRMRIFZ=ZFAER

NOVEMBER +—A8

Scholz Group and Voestalpine jointly signed a long-term |ERZXEESEEEERAKEE—MR
cooperation framework agreement HA S (RIELR 8

On November 27, Scholz Group and Voestalpine held a strategic  #11827H » IEF 2k £ [ A B2 8 Bk £ ) £ B2
cooperation signing ceremony in Linz, Austria, and jointly signed a  HIFIMZHLEWR T RESESENER LA
long-term cooperation framework agreement, marking a solid step E T RHISFERRZH EHEE 55 EK
for both parties to drive green steel production in Austria and its F&BEMEMNGEIDEEEBHREN—
surrounding areas. The partnership aims to fully leverage the supply & E&S1EBHRBEMNEIISETRDEEIE
advantages of recycled steel raw materials of Scholz Group and support R EBEMNBLEMBRMEHEEED > L&
from Voestalpine's “Greentec steel” strategy. IR 8 BB Greentec steel |5RB&

(Note: Greentec steel is a long-term decarbonization strategy implemented by Voestalpine (%€ :Greentec steelZ RIFMERABREBRIEBE R
to align with the EU climate goals. The strategic aims to reduce the group’s carbon dioxide — TI¥U/THY R HR AR B R A% - Z R ER 5t 8 B1Z 2 FI20305#

emissions by about 30% by 2030 and achieve carbon neutrality by 2050.) BB ERN A tHIERERL30% A A F20505F
BIRHBAM )
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

WIIZHBENERS

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZT _=—F+_F=+—

To the Shareholders of Chiho Environmental Group Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Chiho Environmental Group
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are
set out on pages 98 to 263, comprise:

. the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2023;

o the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then
ended;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;
and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

B ZHRENIRS

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023 #HE_ZE_=F+_A=+—HL-FE

BASIS FOR OPINION (continued)
Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw your attention to Note 2.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, which states that, the Group reported a net loss of
HK$19.2 million and a net cash outflow from operating activities of
HK$47.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 and as at 31
December 2023, the Group had total borrowings of HK$903.1 million
of which HK$786.5 million were classified as current borrowings
while the Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted to HK$366.5
million. Included in the current borrowings as at 31 December 2023
was a secured syndicated term loan with an outstanding balance of
HK$376.0 million which became overdue on 30 March 2024. On 2
April 2024, the Company received a demand letter from the lender for
immediate repayment of the outstanding syndicated term loan balance
and the applicable default interest. Furthermore, in early 2024, trade
credit insurance facility of HK$172.5 million of the Group’s European
operation was cancelled by an insurer which caused some of the
Group’s suppliers to require advance payments for inventory purchases.
In addition, the Group’s subsidiary in Czech Republic could not meet
certain restrictive financial undertakings of a current bank borrowing
with outstanding balance of HK$91.5 million as of 31 December 2023.
These conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 2.1
to the consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence of a
material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt over the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in
respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matters described
in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we have
determined the matter described below to be the key audit matter to
be communicated in our report.

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to impairment
assessment of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives.

EREVER (8

‘it
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Independent Auditor’s Report

B HENER S

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023 #HE_ZE_=F+_A=+—HL-FE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
FRESER

FEEtEE (@

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB MARERARE SR

Impairment assessment of goodwill and intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives

BERARRACEAFHZETEEZRENE

Refer to note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.
AHR2RGREMBRRMETE17

Majority of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives arose from the acquisition of Scholz Group in
December 2016. The net book amount of goodwill and
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives of the Group
as at 31 December 2023 was HK$532.1 million and
HK$155.3 million, respectively.
REDHNEERARROUISRAFRZ BT EELRRE
RZE-—REFTZAURBIERXER 25 BEH
RIBEZ=F+"RA=+—HzHEKABRIEHESE
Mz BT EENREFED 532 1BEHBTR155.3
BEHBIT

Management performed an assessment on impairment of
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
as at 31 December 2023 to determine the recoverable
amount using value-in-use calculations. These calculations
used pre-tax cash flow forecast based on the financial
budget covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond
the five-year period were extrapolated using an estimated
long term growth rate.
EEBRACHBESEN S =F+"A=+—H
ZEERARRAIGEREAZEBREEETREN G
MEETRE et ZstEERURERFRZHHTE
BERERRARESRBEN  AFERB 2 RENKAMG
STREIERERER

In assessing the appropriateness of the goodwill and
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives impairment
assessment performed by management, the following audit
procedures have been performed by us:

AL EEEZRERAERIEAFHZENEERE
MLz BN WM ETUTERER

Understanding and evaluating management’s key controls
over the impairment assessment process;

TRERHBEERE N RENEBIEARRIES

Comparing the current year actual cash flows with the
prior year cash flow forecast to assess the reliability of
management's forecast;

HAFEERReAEBRE tFERSREAAETLE
MEHhEEE RN A FEE

Evaluating management’s financial budget and discounted
cash flow forecast by understanding the process by which
they were drawn up, and testing mathematical accuracy of
the underlying calculations;
IZEREBUMBRERERRERERA TRERR
giEr AEERATE 2 BRI
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Independent Auditor’s Report

B ZHRENIRS

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023 #HE_ZE_=F+_A=+—HL-FE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
R BB

FEEtSEE (@

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RPN E A MARERRESNEE

The assessment required the use of significant
management’s judgements and estimates about future
business performance including revenue growth (sales
volume and metal commodity price forecast), gross profit
margin and discount rate and accordingly, this was an
area of our audit focus.
ZAEBREEEE MR REBRTIFLERFIE G
oEEREER HEREBEmERTER) ~ EF=X
RAERZE HitERARMBEZEOHR 2 —o

Assessing the appropriateness of key assumptions used in the
discounted cash flow forecast for the projected 5 years by
comparing (i) projected sales volume to available production
capacity and historical sales volume, (ii) metal commodity
price forecast to market research and analyst reports, and (iii)
projected gross profit margin to historical profit margin. We
also checked these key assumptions against actual results in
the period subsequent to the year end;
FBLERO)FERHERTIEAERMUTHE (VB
mERTER B IS T R D MENERE 5 K(i)TERER =
BELEANF MERREFRRRESREBAFMAZ
FTERRZEBEM BRMTHREFELERABZERE
BomEZEIERR;

Evaluating the discount rate by assessing the cost of capital
of the Group and referencing the cost of capital of other
comparable companies in the industry;

BiEih SEEZEARME REBETAEMBIHLER
REWNERR A sHIZRRE

Evaluating the sensitivity of the Group’s discounted cash
flow forecast by considering downside scenarios against
reasonable possible changes to the key assumptions; and
ZERIZBRRZOEVEEFHZITTER Tz EEH
MR RSEAZBRE ; &

Involving our internal experts to assess the appropriateness
of the methodologies used in determining the recoverable
amounts.

ERMHNAEERS E TR E o [l 28R B 5 /AR E

B

Based on the procedures performed, we found that the
judgements and estimates made by management in respect of
the goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
impairment assessment were supportable by available evidence.
Rig LIMBETER RMADAEEETEHEKREERT
FRFHZBEEERETERAEZ A RGOS
Rz BB FFo
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93



Independent Auditor’s Report

B HENER S

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023 #HE_ZE_=F+_A=+—HL-FE

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included
in Chiho Environmental Group Limited 2023 Annual Report (the
“annual report”) other than the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon. We have obtained some of the
other information including chairman’s statement and management
discussion and analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. The
remaining other information, including directors’ report, corporate
governance report and the other sections to be included in the annual
report, is expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not and will not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information identified above
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information
that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the remaining other information to be included in the
annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those charged
with governance and take appropriate action considering our legal
rights and obligations.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

B ZHRENIRS

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023 #HE_ZE_=F+_A=+—HI-FE

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

B HENER S

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023 #HE_ZE_=F+_A=+—HL-FE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.

We also:

2N E R 5 B HRR A
ENEE @

ERB(EBEFER]) ETEFNBERET
RMERTEEHE RETHEEERRE
FE o FAITR

>
or ™

%

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

B ZHRENIRS

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023 #HE_ZE_=F+_A=+—HL-FE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats
or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Yuen Shin Fong.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 23 April 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

R

ma il

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023 #HE_Z_=

F+R=1t—HLFE

2023 2022
—_E_-= -t - =
Notes HK$M HK$M
Iz BEAT BEBT
Revenue U&= 5 16,479.7 19,574.3
Cost of sales 55 & A 8 (15,441.7) (18,366.6)
Gross profit EF 1,038.0 1,207.7
Other income Hang A 6 91.7 74.4
Other gains, net Hh w258 7 13.6 205.9
Impairments on non-financial assets ~ JFERIE ERE 7 (35.6) (74.3)
Reversal of impairments on financial ~ &RE E R EBEEFEE
assets, net 23.7 15.9
Distribution and selling expenses DIEMIHERZ 8 (48.2) (47.1)
Administrative expenses TEREZ 8 (907.2) (927.7)
176.0 454.8
Finance income ZETON 10 4.9 8.3
Finance costs MR A 10 (186.6) (195.0)
Finance costs, net AT A JF 2R (181.7) (186.7)
Share of post-tax profit/(loss) of FEMLEGE A BBRIR B EA
an associate (E518) 18 0.5 (1.6)
Share of post-tax profit of joint ventures FE{h & & (b 2 FRTR B 18 54.5 137.5
Profit before income tax FRPTSMR AR 49.3 404.0
Income tax expense FriSimE~x 1 (68.5) (166.6)
(Loss)/Profit for the year FR (E518) wF) (19.2) 237.4
(Loss)/Profit attributable to: LUR& S EMN (B18) /&wF
Shareholders of the Company PIN/NETE S (9.3) 264.5
Non-controlling interests FEER R (9.9) (27.1)
(19.2) 237.4
(Loss)/Earnings per share attributable to 2<A 5] PR SR FE(L £ Y
shareholders of the Company for the &% (5518) /&F|
year (expressed in HK$ per share) UERETIIR)
Basic (loss)/earnings per share EREX (B8 &2F 13 (0.01) 0.16
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share FREE (518 &7 13 (0.01) 0.16
The above consolidated statement of profit or loss should be read in ¥4z &85 7% & LARE T AY B s — fHRDEE o

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

EatalER

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023 HZE_ZT _=F+_A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—E°= =
HK$M HK$M
BHEAT BEEAT
(Loss)/Profit for the year £ 0EH w192 237.4
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Eft2E U~ (§518)
Item that may be reclassified to O EF D IEERm 2B -
profit or loss:
Currency translation differences on BINEBZERELE
foreign operations 108.8 (323.9)
Items that will not be reclassified to ~ # T BEH HIEERm
profit or loss: EH
Change in fair value of equity BATFESAREMEE R
investments at fair value through ZIREIRE 2 AT EEE)
other comprehensive income 1.8 (2.6)
Remeasurements of post- EMTEREREBERRERZ
employment benefit obligations ‘BT 0.8 0.8
Share of other comprehensive EEEEhE
income of joint ventures Hhemmis 1.6 3.8
Other comprehensive income/(loss) FREMZENE (B18)
for the year, netof tax mg 1130 (321.9)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) FRTEWRE (B518) A28
for the year 93.8 (84.5)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for U T & A EEEARNEE
the year attributable to: e, (B518) 48%8 !
Shareholders of the Company PIN/NSTE S 107.3 (49.7
Non-controlling interests FEIERS R (13.5) (34.8
93.8 (84.5)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

HMoHERRRN

As at 31 December 2023 R-ZE_=F+"H=+—H
2023 2022
—_E_-= -t - =
Notes HK$M HK$M
Iz BEAT BEBT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME- -BEREHE 14 2,232.6 2,202.6
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 15 635.2 618.0
Investment properties Sa=—L/ES 16 49.7 54.3
Intangible assets BTEE 17 793.5 786.1
Investments accounted for using the  FREREARZERSE
equity method 18 738.3 710.7
Financial assets at fair value through B AFEFABR I TREE
profit or loss 19 0.8 0.8
Financial assets at fair value through AV (EFF AEME2EUEG
other comprehensive income ETREE 20 87.6 84.8
Other non-current assets HthIERBEE 23 7.5 10.8
Deferred income tax assets FIEFTSMEE 21 62.3 52.5
4,607.5 4,520.6
Current assets REEE
Inventories =78 22 1,712.2 1,323.7
Trade, bills and other receivables B5 B EMEWIIE 23 1,784.6 1,640.3
Amounts due from related parties & WS Bl B 75 7R I8 37 85.3 82.7
Derivative financial instruments TEEMITA 25 16.5 17.1
Tax recoverable AI3R[EIFRIE 91.1 31.9
Pledged bank deposits and restricted ~ BIEIRIEITIERR
bank deposits ZIREBIIRITER 26 5.0 52.3
Cash and cash equivalents ReEcREEEEE 26 366.5 713.7
4,061.2 3,861.7
Assets held for sale FIELEEE 24 51.7 190.7
4,112.9 4,052.4
Total assets BEEMEE 8,720.4 8,573.0
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES ExmkaE
Equity attributable to shareholders 22 B IR R FE(L RS
of the Company
Share capital (P& 27 16.1 16.1
Other reserves H A 28 6,506.5 6,389.9
Accumulated losses HtEiE (1,591.1) (1,581.8)
4,931.5 4,824.2
Non-controlling interests JEERR R 29 (57.0) (43.5)
Total equity g 4,874.5 4,780.7
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As at 31 December 2023

Consolidated Balance Sheet

mEHERRR

R B Sy e ]

2023 2022
—®== it S =
Notes HK$M HK$M
Iz BEAT BEBT
Non-current liabilities JEREBEE
Borrowings EEN 30 116.6 111.3
Lease liabilities HEESR 31 247.0 192.1
Retirement benefit obligations BREERNEE 32 9.8 11.1
Other payables H A& I8 33 101.1 98.8
Deferred income tax liabilities EIEFRISIRER 21 285.4 281.0
759.9 694.3
Current liabilities REBAaE
Trade and other payables B 5 REMEL RIS 33 2,013.5 1,778.3
Current income tax liabilities BNERFRIS IR a®E 55.3 85.5
Borrowings ERN 30 786.5 1,030.8
Lease liabilities HEaR 31 114.8 119.9
Amounts due to related parties and  FE{T B 5 R IB R JEIE IR A
non-controlling interests 37 97.1 68.4
Derivative financial instruments TTEEmTA 25 18.8 15.1
3,086.0 3,098.0
Total liabilities BEME%E 3,845.9 3,792.3
Total equity and liabilities HEkaREE 8,720.4 8,573.0

The consolidated financial statements on pages 98 to 263 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 23 April
2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Tu Jianhua
REELE
Director

EF

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction
with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CHANGES IN EQUITY
n‘7|- = *Eﬁi%@]ﬁ

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022 HZE_Z__F+_A=+—HIFE

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

RARIRRER
Other Non-
Share reserves  Accumulated controlling Total
capital (Note 28) losses Total interests equity
1T B | o
e (HE28) B8 @ FERER s
HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM
BEET BEET BEET BEET BEET EEY
As at 1 January 2022 R-_E2-"%#-H—-H 16.1 6,704.1 (1,846.3) 48739 (14.4) 4,859.5
Comprehensive income(loss) 2ENE/ (59
Profit(Loss) for the year it/ (68 - - 2645 2645 27.1) 2314
Other comprehensive (oss)fincome  Eh 2 (%) /Wi
Currency translation differences on BN £ ERESE
foreign operations - (316.2) - (316.2) (7.7) (323.9)
Change in the fair value of financial #ATEst AEMZE
assets at fair value through other W@ 2 £BIEEZ
comprehensive income, net of ATELE),
tax NkRE - (2.6) = (2.6) = (2.6)
Remeasurement of post- %%ﬁﬁjéf@ﬁm%ﬁﬁ“é
employment benefit obligations, 2 &FIEE NHHRE
net of tax - 08 - 08 - 08
Share of other comprehensive B8 tE HthEE
income of joint ventures g S 38 = 38 = 38
Total other comprehensive loss FREMZASEER
for the year, net of tax NERE - (314.2) = (314.2) (7.7) (321.9)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income X2 (F18) /NG BE
for the year, net of tax NRE - (314.2) 264.5 (49.7) (34.8) (84.5)
Transactions with shareholdersin -~ SRR (URE 1) #f72
their capacity as shareholders 25 L
Contributions from non-controlling  JEERER T8
interests - - - - 57 57
Total transactions with shareholders SRR (IRRS1) €72
in their capadity as shareholders X 74%E - - - - 5.7 5.7
As at 31 December 2022 S
+-B=+-H 16.1 6,389.9 (1,581.8) 48242 (43.5) 4,780.7
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

mAEDE2ER

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023 #HE_ZE_=F+_A=+—HL-FE

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

FAFRRIEN
Other Non-
Share reserves Accumulated controlling Total
capital (Note 28) losses Total interests equity
Hittfkfa . . . .
iR (KtzE28) RithE My FEREG Mg
HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKS
BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT
As at 1 January 2023 RZE2-_=%-F—H 16.1 6,389.9 (1,581.8) 4,824.2 (43.5) 4,780.7
Comprehensive loss 2EFE
Loss for the year EREE - - (93) (93) (9.9) (19.2)
Other comprehensive incomef(loss) LA 2 &/ (8518
Currency translation differences on BN EH 2 EREE
foreign operations \ - 1124 - 1124 (3.6) 108.8
Change in the fair value of financial AT EH AHMZE
assets at fair value through other &7 SMEEZ
comprehensive income, net of ATELE),
tax ey - 18 - 18 - 18
Remeasurement of post- ENHAERSAREHR
employment benefit obligations, 2 &FIEE NHHRE
net of tax ‘ - 0.8 - 0.8 - 0.8
Share of other comprehensive B8 tE HthEE
income of joint ventures W& - 1.6 - 1.6 - 1.6
Total other comprehensive income/ R Et2EWE/ (518)
(loss) for the year, net of tax B e - 116.6 - 116.6 (3.6) 113.0
Total comprehensive income/(loss) ~ FRZENE / (518) B>
for the year, net of tax tlEZE] - 116.6 (93) 107.3 (13.5) 93.8
Transactions with shareholdersin -~ SRR (URES17) #f72
their capacity as shareholders 25 )
Contributions from non-controlling  JEERER 2 T8
interests = = = = = =
Total transactions with shareholders SRR (IRRS1) €72
in their capacity as shareholders %X F43% - - - - - =
As at 31 December 2023 RZBZ=%+"A=1+-H 16.1 6,506.5 (1,591.1) 4,931.5 (57.0) 4,874.5

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read

in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
n‘7r\ Eﬁﬁ Iﬁgﬁ

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023 #HE_Z _=F+_HA=+—HILFE
2023 2022
—EZ=F =
Notes HKS$M HK$M
M 5E BEET BEET
Cash flows from operating activities & ;EHFFFHEE R
Cash generated from operations BEMPIRE 39 309.6 902.9
Interest paid BNFE (185.0) (204.2)
Tax paid, net BEXRIEFEE (172.1) (301.8)
Net cash (used in)/generated from &2 %8 (FrA)
operating activities FriSR& 358 (47.5) 396.9
Cash flows from investing activities R EEHFFSHEE R
Purchases of property, BEME -BEMEE
plant and equipment (211.5) (299.4)
Purchases of intangible assets BEBRTEE (0.8) (1.0
Proceeds from disposals of property, — HEWZ  BE K& EUR
plant and equipment and right-of- FREEEZFIERIE
use assets 39 45.0 40.6
Placement of pledged bank deposits 7 A BIEIFRITER - (58.8)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits #2EX 2K IFEE1T 17X 47.6 142.2
Investments in financial assets at fair X AT {Est ABTHE 22/
value through profit or loss BEZRE (0.1) =
Investments in financial assets BATFESFAEMEE R
at fair value through other ZEMBEZRE
comprehensive income (0.1) (1.0)
Proceeds from disposals of financial ~HEFABRZZEMEEK
assets through profit or loss and FFAEMEERE 2 &R/
financial assets through other BEZFIENRIE
comprehensive income = 3.2
Proceeds from disposal of intangible & ER B EFRSRUIE
assets 0.4 -
Proceeds from disposal of joint HESEREZPREMIE
ventures 2.8 S
Dividends received from joint BREERERE
ventures 30.3 72.5
Other dividends received BUREAMAR S 0.7 5.7
Proceeds from disposals of assets HERIFHEEEZ
held for sale FrigRIE 39 140.7 288.6
Interest received BUWHE 4.9 3.7
Net cash generated from KEEESMBREFEE
investing activities 59.9 196.3
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
EFARERER

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023 #HE_ZE_=F+_A=+—HL-FE

2023 2022
—EI=HF S
Notes HKS$M HK$M
I BEET BEAT
Cash flows from financing activities Bt & EEIFF15IR £ R
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITERZFTERIE 249.6 242.0
Repayments of bank borrowings BERITER (124.3) (350.6)
Repayments of other borrowings BEAMMER (353.6) (352.6)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEEEARE (133.2) (176.9)
Advance from non-controlling R 2 FAWRIE
interests 31.4 -
Contributions from non-controlling JEEREREE
interests - 5.7
Net cash used in financing activities B & EENFr AR & 358 (330.1) (632.4)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning ¥ 2R KIS EEEH
of the year 713.7 782.3
Net decrease in cash and ReEMREEEEBEB
cash equivalents B EEE (317.7) (39.2)
Exchange differences on cash and cash IR& KIS EEBH 2
equivalents PE R =48 (29.5) (29.4)
Cash and cash equivalents FRZHEERREEEER
at end of the year 26 366.5 713.7

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in  _bii4F & IR 7 E 7R FEHE BT A MY T — B
conjunction with the accompanying notes. =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘7r\

S MR RME

GENERAL INFORMATION

Chiho Environmental Group Limited (“the Company”) is an
investment holding company. The Company and its subsidiaries
(together “the Group”) are mainly engaged in the principal
business of resources recycling, involving recycling of mixed
metal, end-of-life vehicle ("ELV"), waste electrical and electronic
equipment (“WEEE"), wasted oil and Zorba in Asia, Europe and
North America. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set
out in Note 41.

The Company is incorporated and registered as an exempted
company in the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands with limited liability. The address of its registered
office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company’s ultimate holding company is Loncin Group Co.,
Ltd. (“Loncin Group”), a limited liability company incorporated in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"”), and the Company’s
immediate holding company is USUM Investment Group Hong
Kong Limited (“USUMHK"), a company incorporated in Hong
Kong with limited liability. Loncin Group is 98% owned by Mr. Tu
Jianhua (“Mr. Tu”), an executive director of the Company.

The Company has its primary listing on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited.

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong Dollar
("HK$"), unless otherwise stated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented,
unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“"HKFRS") issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange and the applicable disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income,
and financial assets and financial liabilities (including derivative
instruments) at fair value through profit or loss, which are carried
at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies.

2.1 Going concern basis

The Group reported a net loss of HK$19.2 million and a net
cash outflow from operating activities of HK$47.5 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023. As at 31 December
2023, the Group held net assets and net current assets of
HK$4,874.5 million and HK$1,026.9 million, respectively.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had total borrowings
of HK$903.1 million of which HK$786.5 million were
classified as current borrowings, while the Group's cash and
cash equivalents amounted to HK$366.5 million. Included
in the current borrowings as of 31 December 2023 was a
secured syndicated term loan (the “Syndicated Term Loan")
with an outstanding balance of HK$376.0 million.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

= A
17 o = |

M RR M E

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
2.1 Going concern basis (continued)

The Syndicated Term Loan was initially drawn down during
the year ended 31 December 2018 with a loan principal
of HK$1,691.5 million and a repayment period of two
years. Upon the maturity of its initial term, the Syndicated
Term Loan was extended during each of the years ended
31 December 2020, 2021, 2022 and 2023. Over the past
years, the Group made repayments of loan principal,
interests and arrangement fees totaling HK$1,943.3
million under the Syndicated Term Loan and lowered its
outstanding balance under the Syndicated Term Loan to
HK$376.0 million as at 31 December 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
repaid a repayment instalment of HK$92.1 million after
the due date, which constituted an event of default under
the Syndicated Term Loan agreement. According to the
loan agreement, such event of default gives the lender
of the Syndicated Term Loan the right to demand for
immediate repayment of any outstanding Syndicated Term
Loan balances. Furthermore, the outstanding balance of
Syndicated Term Loan amounted to HK$376.0 million as
of 31 December 2023 was due on 30 March 2024 for
which the Group has not repaid and this also constituted
another event of default under the Syndicated Term Loan
agreement (Note 30). Consequently, on 2 April 2024, the
Company received a demand letter (the “Demand Letter”)
from the lender of the Syndicated Term Loan for immediate
repayment of the outstanding loan balance and the
applicable default interest.

Despite the events of default mentioned above,
management held prolonged continuous discussions with
the lender of the Syndicated Term Loan both before and
after the year end regarding further extension as well as the
granting of waiver letters on the above-mentioned events
of default. As of the date of approving these consolidated
financial statements, no binding agreement has been
entered into by the Group and the lender.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
2.1 Going concern basis (continued)

Furthermore, in early 2024, a trade credit insurance
facility of HK$172.5 million of the Group’s European
operation was cancelled by an insurer which caused some
of the Group's suppliers to require advance payments for
inventory purchases. In addition, the Group's subsidiary in
Czech Republic could not meet certain restrictive financial
undertakings of a current bank borrowing with outstanding
balance of HK$91.5 million as of 31 December 2023.

The above conditions indicated the existence of a material
uncertainty with respect to going concern.

In view of such circumstances, the Directors have
given careful consideration to the future liquidity and
performance of the Group, taking into account its measures
implemented to improve the financial condition of the
Group’'s European operation, its available sources of
financing for settling the Syndicated Term Loan, its ability
to renegotiate the loan extension and to obtain the waiver
for the events of default and its available sources of other
financing in order to mitigate the liquidity pressure and to
improve its financial position, which include but not limited
to the following:

l. The Group plans to continue the discussion with
the lender of the Syndicated Term Loan on the
extension of the Syndicated Term Loan and has
proposed to extend the corresponding maturity
to March 2025 with certain partial repayments in
June, July and August 2024. Based on the Directors
latest communication with the lender, the Directors
confirmed that the lender of the Syndicated Term
Loan is considering the extension proposal submitted
by the Group and currently has no plan to take
any further action to secure the repayment of the
Syndicated Term Loan further to the Demand Letter.
The Directors believe that the extension can be
concluded in due course and the wavier letters will be
granted in view of the historical renewal experience
and the adequacy of collateral being held by the
lender.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
2.1 Going concern basis (continued)

I (continued)

The Directors are of the view that repaying the
instalments proposed by the Group during the year
ending 31 December 2024 can be financed through
measures set out below, including but not limited to:

(i)  repatriation of surplus funds on hand through
transfer or dividends from overseas subsidiaries
without affecting their normal operations,
taking into account the local rules and
regulations as well as any potential dividend tax
or remittance tax with respect to the relevant
countries in Asia and Europe.

(i) reduce inventories on hand, particularly in
Europe, which was originally maintained
strategically in bid of rising commodity price.
The Directors are of the view that the Group
can reduce its inventories in the normal course
of operations without trading off margins to
free up funds necessary as planned.

(iii)  dispose of certain land and buildings in Asia
and Europe, and certain equity investments in
Europe. The Group is actively looking for buyers
and has received some non-binding offers from
interested parties for certain land and buildings
of the Group. Based on the latest negotiations
with interested parties, the Directors are of the
view that the Group has the ability to conclude
and complete the disposals as planned to fulfil
the scheduled repayments of the Syndicated
Term Loan.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
2.1 Going concern basis (continued)

The Group continues its efforts to implement
measures to improve its working capital including
further control of capital and operating expenditures
as well as taking operating measures, such as
expediting collection of accounts receivable and
better utilization of supplier credit terms.

The Group maintains continuous communications
with other banks and trade credit insurers in Europe
and Asia to obtain new bank and trade facilitates.
Subsequent to the year end date, the Group is
finalising a new bank borrowing with the pledge of
a land in Germany with an estimated valuation of
HK$75.9 million. The Directors believe that with the
strong operating performance, the Group has the
ability to obtain new borrowing and trade facilities
and the existing other borrowings and trade credit
facilities available to the Group will be maintained
and successfully renewed with substantially the same
terms upon expiration.

In early 2024, the Group’s subsidiary in Czech
Republic obtained a waiver letter from the relevant
bank in respect of the non-compliance of restrictive
financial undertakings for the outstanding current
bank borrowing balance of HK$91.5 million as at 31
December 2023.

The Group plans to look for other sources of
financing including debt or equity financing and
other funds raising exercise.

The Directors have assessed the Group's cash flow
projection covering a period of not less than twelve months
from 31 December 2023. They are of the opinion that
the Group will have sufficient working capital to finance
its operations and to meet its financial obligations as and
when they fall due within the next twelve months from
31 December 2023. Accordingly, the Directors are satisfied
that it is appropriate to prepare the Group’s consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

= A
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
2.1 Going concern basis (continued)

Notwithstanding the above, a material uncertainty exists as
to whether the Group can achieve the plans and measures
described in I, Il, lll and V above, that it may be unable to
realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal
course of business. Whether the Group will be able to
continue as a going concern would depend upon:

a. successful in negotiation with the lender to extend
the due date of the Syndicated Term Loan and to
agree on the repayment schedule as proposed, as
well as obtaining the waivers from the lender on the
above-mentioned events of default; and successful
implementation of the measures set out in I(i) to
I(iii) above to provide sufficient funds as and when
needed to enable the Group to fulfil the repayment
schedule and comply with all other undertaking
requirements of the Syndicated Term Loan eventually
agreed;

b.  successful implementation of measures to improve
working capital by further control of capital and
operating expenditures, expediting collection of
accounts receivable and better utilisation of supplier
credit terms;

C. successful in obtaining new borrowing and trade
credit facilities as and when needed and successful in
maintaining and renewing existing other borrowings
and trade credit facilities available to the Group with
substantially the same terms upon expiration;

d.  successful in obtaining fundings from other sources
of financing including debt or equity financing and
other funds raising exercise.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to write
down the carrying values of the Group's assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities
which might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets
and non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities, respectively. The effects of these adjustments
have not been reflected in these consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(a)

New standard and amended standards

The following new standard and amended standards
have been adopted by the Group for the first time
for the financial year beginning on or after 1 January
2023:

HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 (Amendments)

EAGHENFIRREBNHFRSEL
BERREFHE2R (BFTA)
HKAS 8 (Amendments)

HAE G ELFHSHE (BT )
HKAS 12 (Amendments)

BB ERE125% (BFTX)

HKFRS 17
EEMBREENE175

HKFRS 17 (Amendments)
EEMBREERNFE175E (B:T4)

HKFRS 17 (Amendments)

EBMBREERB175E (BFTH)

The new standard and amended standards, listed
above did not have any significant impact on the
amounts recognised in prior years and are not
expected to significantly affect the current or future
years.

2

A B ()

2.2 FHBEREEKRIEE
(a) FreTZERIRAR(EFTHER]
AEBER _BE_=F—
B—HmZ %R
FEEH RN T 55T 2
AR B FT2ERY

Disclosure of Accounting

Policies

BHBERE

Definition of Accounting

Estimates

BHER TR

International Tax Reform —

Pillar Two

Model Rules

BB E -5

TERAY

Insurance Contracts

RS0

Amendments to HKFRS 17

BHEU TR SR
F17RHERT

Initial Application of
HKFRS 17 and
HKFRS 9 — Comparative
Information
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ZERBEN TR BB
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR M RRME

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 2 RREEGE
2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures 22 EHEBREBKIEE (@
(continued)
(b) Amended standards and interpretation to be (b) FEMBLETERN KR
effective rE

The following amended standards and interpretation
have been issued but are not effective for the
financial year beginning on 1 January 2023 and have
not been applied by the Company:

MR RRED
RZE_=F—F—H#H
BB EEBMHERE
o BMARERATIER :

Effective for annual
periods beginning on

or after
RUTHMBH 2%
RGN EERREN
HKAS 1 (Amendments) Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 1 January 2024
FEGHEANE R (BITA) ReEsBARENIFRE T ME-A-H
HKAS 1 (Amendments) Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 1 January 2024
BEGHENE IR (BITH) (kS e =N —Z-ME-A-H
HKFRS 16 (Amendments) Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 1 January 2024
ERUBREENB165 (BFTH) ERMENEEARE _v_ﬂﬁ A—H
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification 1 January 2024
by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause
BHERRESR (&) FHEREN2I-ERAHBLSHEX —Z_mE—-A-H
BERRNERERNDE
HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 (Amendments) Supplier Finance Arrangements January 2024
EBEHERETNR HREERME 2 —ZNF—-A-H
BEMBREEBTH (BTH)
HKAS 21 (Amendments) Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025
BEGHEIENE (BITE) Mz AR “Z°1%—-A-H
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between To be determined
(Amendments) an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

EBUBREEUFI0%R
E R F28% (55T %)

e NS A )

BENENLE

The above amended standards and interpretation
are not expected to have a material impact on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group's major financial instruments include trade and
other receivables, financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income, derivative financial assets, pledged
bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other
payables, derivative financial liabilities and borrowings,
etc. Details of the financial instruments by category are
disclosed in Note 34.

The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk
and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

(@) Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk

The Group has foreign currency sales,
purchases, trade, bills and other receivables,
pledged bank deposits, cash and cash
equivalents, trade, bills and other payables,
derivative financial instruments, borrowings
and amounts due from/(to) related parties
which expose the Group to market risk arising
from changes in foreign exchange rates. The
Group currently does not have a specific
foreign currency hedging policy. However,
the management closely monitors its foreign
currency risk exposure and considers any
foreign currency forward contracts should the
need arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(@) Market risk (continued)

(1)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

In addition, the Group had entered into several
foreign currency forward contracts with banks
to reduce its exposure to currency fluctuation
risk. The derivatives were not accounted for
under hedge accounting. The Group was
required to estimate the fair value of the
foreign currency forward contracts at the end
of the reporting period, which therefore also
exposed the Group to foreign exchange risk.

As at 31 December 2023, if Renminbi (“RMB")
had strengthened/weakened by 5% (2022:
7%) against the HK$ with all other variables
held constant, pre-tax profit for the year would
have been HK$34.8 million (2022: HK$24.6
million) lower/higher, mainly as a result of
foreign exchange losses/gains on translation
of RMB denominated trade, bills and other
payables/receivables and cash and bank
deposits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(@) Market risk (continued)

(1)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

As at 31 December 2023, if Euro (“EUR") had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2022: 8%)
against the HK$ with all other variables held
constant, pre-tax profit for the year would have
been HK$9.9 million (2022: HK$11.8 million)
lower/higher, mainly as a result of foreign
exchange losses/gains on translation of EUR
denominated trade, bills and other receivables/
payables and cash and bank deposits.

As at 31 December 2023, if EUR had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2022: 7%)
against the US$ with all other variables held
constant, pre-tax profit for the year would have
been HK$27.6 million (2022: HK$57.2 million)
higher/lower, mainly as a result of foreign
exchange gains/losses on translation of US$
denominated trade, bills and other receivables/
payables, borrowings, derivative financial
instruments, amounts due from/to related
parties and cash and bank deposits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR M RRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(@) Market risk (continued)

ERERER (@)
SRAREER @
(a) THIBEM ()

3.1

(i) Foreign exchange risk (continued) () SMEREFR (#)
The Directors considered the foreign exchange AE 8 E i
risk between HK$ and US$ is minimal as HK$ EERABTEE
has been linked to US$. 7T 2 fE B9 4 BB & B
TR {3 o
(i) Interest rate risk (i) FIEEE
The Group's interest rate risk mainly arises from REBWFER R
borrowings. Borrowings obtained at variable FERBER R
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest BAEmMENER
rate risk. EAERRZTRE
gl EYE 1

Based on the simulations performed, with a RIRPTEITRESE
100 basis points shift in interest rate, the pre- EHEES100EE
tax profit would have a maximum increase by B BRIRATDE R B &

the following magnitude: ARIEHRBENT ¢

2023 2022

—E=HF S
HK$M HK$M
BEET BEEAT
Impact on profit HERFTERANAFINFZE
before income tax 10.8 14.1
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(@) Market risk (continued)

(11i)

Price risk

Commodity price risks

The scrap/recycled metal prices are affected
by numerous factors and events that are
beyond the control of the Group. These metal
prices change on a daily basis and can vary
significantly up and down over time. The
factors impacting metal prices include both
broader macro-economic developments and
micro-economic considerations relating more
specifically to the particular metal concerned.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group entered into various commodity futures
to hedge the fair value of scrap/recycled metals.
Certain hedges will be settled in 2024 and the
fair value of such derivatives is disclosed in
Note 25.

All of the metal commodities future contracts
outstanding as at 31 December 2023 and
2022 are designated and qualified as fair value
hedges. Any change in the fair value of the
metal commodities future contracts in relation
to commodity price change will be offset by
corresponding change in the fair value of the
hedged item.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk

0

Risk management

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from
cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial
instruments, amounts due from related parties,
trade, bills and other receivables and deposits
with banks and financial institutions. The
carrying amounts of these balances represent
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in
relation to financial assets.

Credit risk is managed on a group basis.
Management has policies in place to monitor
the exposures to these credit risks on trade,
bills and other receivables on an on-going
basis.

To manage credit risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents, derivative financial instruments and
deposits with banks and financial institutions,
the Group only transacts with reputable and
creditworthy commercial financial institutions
and investment counterparties. Management
does not expect any losses from non-
performance by these financial institutions,
therefore, the expected credit loss for such
financial assets is minimal. The Group has no
policy to limit the amount of credit exposure to
any financial institutions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(1)

Risk management (continued)

The Group generally grants credit terms
ranging from 30 to 90 days to customers
upon the approval of management according
to the credit quality of individual customers.
The Group has policies in place to ensure that
sales of products are made to customers with
an appropriate credit history. The Group also
has policies on granting different settlement
methods to different customers to monitor
the credit exposure. The Group measures
expected credit losses and applies lifetime
expected loss allowances for all trade and
bills receivables. As at 31 December 2023,
the Group held trade and bills receivables
amounted to approximately HK$1,444.9 million
(2022: HK$1,328.8 million) and loss allowances
of HK$27.3 million (2022: HK$38.3 million)
has been provided for such trade and bills
receivables.
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e MR R MR

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(1)

Risk management (continued)

Amounts due from related parties and other
receivables are considered to have low
credit risk. These balances are continuously
monitored by assessing the credit quality of the
counterparties, taking into account its financial
position, past experience and other factors.
Individual risk limits are set based on internal
or external ratings in accordance with limits set
by the Board. The compliance with credit limit
by customers and counter-parties is regularly
monitored by management.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had
concentration of credit risk as 8% and
20% (2022: 6% and 18%) of its total trade
receivables was due from its largest trade
debtors and the five largest trade debtors,
respectively. The five largest trade debtors
have good repayment history and credit quality
with reference to the track records of these
customers under internal assessment by the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(1)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has two types of financial assets
that are subject to the expected credit loss
model:

- Trade and bills receivables

- Other financial assets at amortised costs

While cash and cash equivalents and deposits
with banks are also subject to the impairment
requirements of HKFRS 9, as all banks are
rated with a high credit rating, the identified
impairment loss is immaterial.

Trade and bills receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring expected credit losses
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade and bills receivables. Details of
the quantification in respect of the Group's
exposure to credit risk on trade and bills
receivables are set out in Note 23(b).
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e MR R MR

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Trade and bills receivables (continued)

To measure the ECL, trade and bills receivables
have been grouped based on the settlement
profiles of customers, shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The
expected loss rates are based on the payment
profiles of sales over a period of 24 months
before 31 December 2023 or 31 December
2022, respectively, and the corresponding
historical credit losses experienced within this
period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to
reflect current and forward-looking information
on macroeconomic factor affecting the ability
of the customers to settle the receivables.
The Group has identified the gross domestic
product (“GDP”) and unemployment rate of
the countries in which it sells its goods and
services to be the most relevant factors, and
accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates on
expected changes in these factors.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost
include amounts due from related parties and
other receivables (except for prepayments).
Management assesses the credit quality of
the counterparties, taking into account the
historical risk of default and capacity to meet
its contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term.

The Group considers the probability of default
upon initial recognition of an asset and
whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout
each reporting period. To assess whether there
is a significant increase in credit risk the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
asset as at the reporting date with the risk of
default as at the date of initial recognition. It
considers available reasonable and supportive
forwarding-looking information. Especially the
following indicators are incorporated:

- internal credit rating

- external credit rating (as far as available)
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e MR R MR

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i) Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Other financial assets at amortised cost
(continued)

- actual or expected significant adverse
changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant change to the
borrower’s ability to meet its obligations

- actual or expected significant changes in
the operating results of the borrower

- significant increases in credit risk on
other financial instruments of the same
borrower

- significant changes in the value of the
collateral supporting the obligation or in
the quality of third-party guarantees or
credit enhancements

- significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the
borrower, including changes in the
payment status of borrowers in the
Group and changes in the operating
results of the borrower.

Macroeconomic information (such as market
interest rates or growth rates) is incorporated as
part of the internal rating model.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Other financial assets at amortised cost
(continued)

Regardless of the analysis above, a significant
increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor
is more than 90 days past due in making a
contractual payment.

A default on a financial asset is when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Financial assets are written off when there is
no reasonable expectation of recovery, such as
a debtor failing to engage in a repayment plan
with the Group. Where loans or receivables
have been written off, the Group continues to
engage in enforcement activity to attempt to
recover the receivable due. Where recoveries
are made, these are recognised in consolidated
statement of profit or loss.
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AR M RRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Other financial assets at amortised cost
(continued)
As at 31 December 2023, provision for
impairment on other receivables, excluding
prepayment, amounted approximately to
HK$3.3 million (2022: HK$2.8 million). Other
financial assets at amortised cost are considered
to be of low credit risk primarily because
historically they had no history of default and
the debtors had a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term.

() Liquidity risk

Cash flow forecasting is performed in the operating
entities of the Group and aggregated by group
finance. Group finance monitors rolling forecasts
of the Group's liquidity requirements to ensure it
has sufficient cash to meet operational needs. Such
forecasting takes into consideration the Group’s debt
financing plans, covenant compliance, compliance
with internal balance sheet ratio targets and, if
applicable external regulatory or legal requirements —
for example, currency restrictions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 SREAMESIE (@)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 EREAMEER (&)
(¢) Liquidity risk (continued) (0 FHESRARE @)
The table below analyses the Group's and the TERAMAEBRAAE]
Company’s non-derivative financial liabilities and net- NIETEERBENR T
settled derivative financial liabilities into relevant EENTESRAE 1L
maturity groupings based on the remaining period Th & ERABRAR F BRAR B
at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity REREEBEREES
date. Derivative financial liabilities are included in the A E AR R AR ET
analysis if their contractual maturities are essential for Do mMTEEMEBEN
an understanding of the timing of the cash flows. The ERERERETHIRE
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual TN EREE ) B g5t
undiscounted cash flows. ADHMH-ETRARE

NEEAEHNRBRNER

EME

On demand Between Between
or less than 1and3 3 months and Between Over
1 month months 1year 1and5 years 5 years
BERY
MR-BR -E=fF =[ERE-%£ —E5E AENE
HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM

BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT

As at 31 December 2023 RZBZ=

+ZR=+-H
Non-derivative FiTEEMAR
financial liabilities
Borrowings &3 592.9 56.5 161.7 1242 -
Lease liahilities HE&R 10.6 21.2 179.5 2333 56.8
Trade and other payables BARAMENTIE 1,199.5 3993 161.5 30.0 0.2
Amounts due to related parties  FEfTRH H RIEER
and non-controlling interests ~ ERIIE 54.9 252 8.0 0.6 9.9
1,857.9 502.2 510.7 388.1 66.9
As at 31 December 2022 e
+ZR=+-H
Non-derivative FiTEERAR
financial liabilities
Borrowings B3 1,028.6 14 84.9 1323 S
Lease liabilities REEE 10.9 N7 9738 1764 450
Trade and other payables BAREMENTE 1,117.9 370.1 53.2 24 29
Amounts due to related parties  FEfTEENE A FNE 212 257 215 = =
2,178.6 4189 257.4 336.1 479
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e MR R MR

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand
clause are included in the “on demand or less than
1 month” time band in the above maturity analysis.
As at 31 December 2023, the aggregate carrying
amounts of these bank borrowings amounted to
HK$190.1 million (2022: HK$185.4 million). Taking
into account the Group's financial position, the
Directors do not believe that it is probable that
the banks will exercise their discretionary rights to
demand immediate repayment. The Directors believe
that such bank borrowings will be repaid within five
years after the reporting date in accordance with
the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements. At that time, the aggregate principal and
interest cash outflows of HK$192.4 million (2022:
HK$188.8 million) will be repaid within five year.

The amounts included above for the variable interest
rate instruments are subject to change if changes in
actual interest rates differ to those estimated at the
end of the reporting period.

3.2 Capital management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to stakeholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remained unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which
includes bank and other borrowings and lease liabilities
as disclosed in Notes 30 and 31 and, net of cash and
cash equivalents and equity attributable to shareholders
of the Company, comprising capital, various reserves and
accumulated losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Capital management (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
monitor capital on basis of gearing ratio, which is
calculated based on total borrowings divided by our total
assets.

The Group's gearing ratio as at 31 December 2023 and
2022 was as follows:

REMBRRME

EREMGEIE (&)
32 EBAXREE@®

REE-B-=F+A=+—
ALFE FEEREEESE
B RE A HE R ELER
BERRER RPN EERE
CEE

AEER-S-=ER-E-=
E+-A=+—BmEESAEL
=T

2023 2022

== ZEICTE

HK$M HK$M

BEEAT BEEAT

Total borrowings RER 903.1 1,142.1
Total assets WEE 8,720.4 8,573.0
Gearing ratio BEAGELE 10.4% 13.3%

The Directors review the capital structure periodically.
The Directors also balance the overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends, new share issues and
share repurchases as well as the issue of new debt or the
redemption of existing debt. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes during the year ended 31
December 2023.
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TRERERE (8
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3

3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3

Fair value measurements and valuation process

The directors of the Company determine the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is
available. Where Level 1 and 2 inputs are not available, the
Group engages third party qualified valuers to perform the
valuation for financial instruments that are measured at
fair value on a recurring basis. The Directors and the senior
management team work closely with the qualified external
valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques
and inputs to the model.

Information about the valuation techniques and inputs used
in determining the fair value of various assets and liabilities
are disclosed below.

The following table analyses the Group’s financial
instruments carried at fair value as at 31 December 2023 by
level of the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure
fair value. Such inputs are categorised into three levels
within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

. Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

o Inputs other than quoted prices included within level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived
from prices) (level 2).

o Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)
(level 3).
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REMBRRME

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 SREAMESIE (@)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 33 ATEMGE @)
Fair value measurements and valuation process AFEHAERGERR (@
(continued)
Financial assets/(liabilities) Fair value as at
tREE/(Bf) RUTAENATE
31 December 31 December Fair value
2023 2022 hierarchy
ZZ-= “EBCCF
+ZA=+-B +-A=+-g AFEER
HK$M HK$M
BEAT BEHET
1) Publicly traded metal commodities future contracts classified as (0.3) (1.9) Level 1
derivative financial instruments in the consolidated balance sheet
E%ﬁéﬁ%éﬁ%@ﬁ?@ﬁ%?ﬁf%%%ﬂIEZ’z}%ﬁ’?c%%%Pﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁf@f E—1k
N
2) Metal commodities future contracts classified as derivative financial 8.1 6.1 Level 2
instruments in the consolidated balance sheet (16.8) (13.0)
ReRaBEARRTFHEATESMTIAZEBARBESH FH
3) Foreign currency forward contracts classified as derivative financial 8.4 11.0 Level 2
instruments in the consolidated balance sheet (1.1) (0.2)
RiEEBEARRPAEATE SR I AVMNERREL SR
4) Interest rate swap contracts classified as derivatives financial (0.6) - Level 2
instruments in the consolidated balance sheet
PG EBEEARRTABATESHTAZHEEH L FZH
5) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 0.8 0.8 Level 3
BATEFABRZ EHEE F=H
6) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 87.6 84.8 Level 3
BRATESARMEZERGE SHEE F=H
Financial instruments in level 1 EF—RETHMTH
The fair value of derivative financial instruments publicly KRBT S AR Z2NITEER
traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices TENAFEUEEBERAN
at the balance sheet date. A market is regarded as active MGHREAER HIURRS
if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an FT- X5 LA NTEESE
exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, EERBAGEEREERER
or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual EMRE AZmBRBARE
and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s B BAMESART AT
length basis. The quoted market price used for financial RZNWEEMEREENTIZ
assets held by the Group is the quoted bid commodity G AREBPAENEMEEMEE
future price. These instruments are included in level 1 and AT HEREAREERIAER
comprise primarily metal commodities future contracts RE-ZFETABNRNE—H =
publicly traded in the London Metal Exchange. ZOETRIAEBRZPIAMAR

SHEEEmmAEGH-
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e MR R MR

ERERER (@)
AFETE @)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3

Fair value measurements and valuation process
(continued)

Financial instruments in level 2

The Group’'s metal commodities future contracts
represented the Group’s derivative financial instruments
which are included in level 2. The basis of fair value
measurement and valuation technique of such derivative
financial instruments are par method and taking actively
traded future prices into account.

The Group's foreign currency forward contracts represented
the Group’s derivative financial instruments which are
included in level 2. The basis of fair value measurement and
valuation technique of such derivative financial instruments
are discount cash flow method and present value of the
future cash flows estimated based on forward exchange
rates. The unobservable input is expected future cash flow,
therefore lower cash flow results in lower present value.

Financial instruments in level 3

The Group's equity interests in unlisted entities represented
the Group's financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss which are included in level 3. The
basis of fair value measurement and valuation technique
of such financial assets are discount cash flow method and
present value of the estimated future cash flows of the
investee entities. The unobservable input is expected future
cash flow, therefore lower cash flow results in lower present
value.
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REMBRRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 SRIEMEIE (4B)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 33 AFEME @)
Fair value measurements and valuation process AEEFERGERER @)
(continued)
Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated RiEEEEBEBRBEDRNATE
balance sheet: FE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—# B R Bt
HK$M HK$M HK$M HK$M
B8AT HEAn HEAT HEER
As at 31 December 2023 .
+ZB=+-8
Assets BE
Financial assets at fair value through ~ BATEFABGZZEREE
profit or loss - - 0.8 0.8
Financial assets at fair value through ~ BAFEFARMZEAKGEZ
other comprehensive income EREE - - 87.6 87.6
Hedging derivatives HHT4ETA
- metal commodities futures -EBEmBE - 8.1 - 8.1
Trading derivatives RBMTETR
— foreign currency forwards —HMEEER - 8.4 - 8.4
Liabilities &afE
Hedging derivatives HHT4ETA
- metal commodities futures -EBEmBE (0.3) (16.8) - (17.1)
— interest rate swap contracts RES iy - (0.6) = (0.6)
Trading derivatives RBTETIR
— foreign currency forwards — SN IR - (1.1) - (1.1)
As at 31 December 2022 RZE__&
+=ZA=+-H
Assets BE
Financial assets at fair value through ~ BAFEFABRZZ SHEE
profit or loss - - 0.8 0.8
Financial assets at fair value through ~ BATEFAEMZAKEZ
other comprehensive income SHEE - - 84.8 84.8
Hedging derivatives HAiTEIA
— metal commodities futures -¢BEmEE - 6.1 - 6.1
Trading derivatives XBMETR
— foreign currency forwards —SMEIR A - 11.0 - 11.0
Liabilities af
Hedging derivatives HAiTEIA
- metal commodities futures -cBEmE (1.9) (13.0) = (14.9)
Trading derivatives XBMETR
— foreign currency forwards —SMEIR A - (0.2) = (0.2)
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3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 SREAMESIE (@)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 AFEMGEE @)
Fair value measurements and valuation process AEEFERGERER @)
(continued)
The following table presents the changes in level 3 TRFIEEZZEZ=ZFRZ
instruments for the years ended 31 December 2023 and T TE+BA=+—HLEEES
2022: ZRT AN
Financial Financial
Financial assets at Finandial assets at
assets at fair value assets at fair value
fair value through fair value through
through other through other
profit comprehensive profit - comprehensive
or loss income  Total 2023 or loss income Total 2022
BATHE BRTE
BATE AR BATE st A
HAREZ 2EMEZ ZBZ= tABRZ  2EWEZ ZBIZE
EHEE SHEE ai THEE EHEE a
HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M

FEAtT BEAT EREn BEBEn BEEn  BEER

As at 1 January r-A-8 08 84.8 85.6 08 913 92.1
Additions HE 0.1 0.1 0.2 - 1.0 1.0
Disposals HE - - - (32 = (32
Fair value (loss)gain NTE (BR) /s (0.1) 18 17 32 (2.6 06
Currency translation differences ERES - 0.9 0.9 = (4.9) (4.9
As at 31 December ®+ZA=t+-H 0.8 87.6 88.4 08 848 85.6
There were no transfers among the three levels during REE-_S_=F"FT_-_F
either of the years ended 31 December 2023 or 2022. +ZA=+—HIFE > =@EE
4R R RS o

The management considers that the carrying amounts BEERA NEEVERENRN
of financial assets and financial liabilities measured at RBERATENEHREERS
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements FMEBENREmERAE R FENE
approximate their fair values. e
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3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 SREAMESIE (@)

3.4 Offsetting financial assets and financial 34 EHEMBERESMEE
liabilities
(a) Financial assets () =WmEE
The following financial assets are subject to UMTEMBEEZIEE T
offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements BHEBTHR —FHEEED
and similar agreements: BER B LU ERIR

Related amounts not net off

Gross amount  Net amounts in the consolidated
of recognised  of financial balance sheet
Gross finandial assets  RRGREEBERMIRN
amounts of liabilities ~presented REE
recognised et off in the in the Cash
financial  consolidated  consolidated Financial collateral Net
As at 31 December 2023 assets  balance sheet balance sheet  instruments received amount
REREE
BERIBYN  REREE
BRDEH  CRIER  BRREIN BRERE
KZEZ=%+-A=+-H BELE BREE SHMEETE EMIR gk 28
HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM

BRER BRER BRET BRAT BRER BRER

Pledged and restricted BEARERE
bank deposits ROER 50 - 50 - (12) 38
Cash and cash equivalents B RF2EEER 366.5 - 366.5 - - 366.5

Derivative financial instruments 78T &
- Foreign currency forward - —SMEREIAH

contracts 84 - 84 - - 84
- Metal commodities futre ~ ~2BERBEEH
contracts 8.1 - 8.1 - - 8.1
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.4 Offsetting financial assets and financial
liabilities (continued)

(a) Financial assets (continued)

3 =RARERE
34 ENSMEERSMEE @

(@) TWMEE@E

Related amounts not net off

Grossamount Nt amounts in the consolidated
of recognised of financial balance sheet
Gross finandial aels  RREREESERNEN
amounts of liabilities presented EBLE
recognised  net off in the in the Cash
financial  consolidated  consolidated Financial collateral Net
As at 31 December 2022 assets  balance sheet  halance sheet instruments received amount
RESEE
BERIRY  RREEE
BRIzR  CEREE  BEREIN BlERE
KZE-ZF+ZA=+-A BENE BEEE SHERTE FRTE iR e
HK$M HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM
BEET BEET BEAET BEAET BEET BEET
Pledged and restricted BRRRZRH
bank deposits FITHER 523 - 523 - 430) 93
Cash and cash equivalents ~ RE&RFEEERE 7137 - 7137 - (8.1) 7056
Derivative financial instruments {758 TE
- Foreign currency forward -~ —JMEEERAH
contracts 1.0 - 1.0 - - 1.0
- Metal commodities futre ~ ~£BEREHEH
contracts 6.1 - 6.1 - - 6.1
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3 EREMRERE (@

3.4 Offsetting financial assets and financial 34 HFHEHMEEREMEE @
liabilities (continued)
Financial liabilities (b) Z=mR&E
The following financial liabilities are subject to UMTEmaEZEHE 7
offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements REINITHR—FHEEER
and similar agreements: BERFALURZEIRIR
Related amounts not net off
Gross amount  Net amounts in the consolidated
of recognised  of financial balance sheet
Gross financial liabilities ~ RRGEEEEBRINZN
amounts assets netoff presented il
of recognised in the in the Cash
financial consolidated  consolidated Financial collateral Net
As at 31 December 2023 liabilities balance sheet balance sheet instruments received amount
REREE
BERNGN  REREE
BREASRE CHEIER &ERENN ENERE
K-%-=%+-B=+-H &R BEAE SRERETE $HMIA il B0
HKSM HK$SM HK$SM HKSM HKSM HKSM
BRAT BEAET BB BBAT BBAT BEAT
Borrowings fEm 903.1 - 903.1 - (1.2) 901.9
Derivative financial TEsBIR
instruments
- Foreign currency forward  —SMEREAH
contracts 1.1 - 11 - - 1.1
~ Interest rate swap kS
contracts 0.6 - 0.6 - - 0.6
~ Metal commodities future —£BH AR
contracts =) 17.1 - 1741 - - 17.1
TR

BERIRREEERAR
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3

3.4 Offsetting financial assets and financial
liabilities (continued)

(b)

ERIEMGSIE (&)
34 REHESRMEERESREAE @)

ERaRE @

Financial liabilities (continued)

(b)

Related amounts not net off

Gross amount ~ Net amounts in the consolidated
of recognised ~ of financial balance sheet
Gross financial liabilitles ~ AREGEEEBSERNGH
amounts  assets net off presented HEsE
of recognised in the in the Cash
financial  consolidated  consolidated Financial collateral Net
As at 31 December 2022 liabilities  balance sheet ~ balance sheet  instruments received amount
REREE
BERIBYN RRREE
BRI CEISR 8EREIN EWERE
RZE-Z%#+-R=+-H BREEE BENE SHEETE $BIE BER B
HK$M HK$M HK$M HK$M HK$M HK$M
BB BB BEAET BEAT BEAT BEAT
Borrowings fEm 1,142.1 - 1,142.1 - (43.0) 1,099.1
Derivative financial fTEeMIA
instruments
- Foreign currency forward  —SMEEEAH
contracts 0.2 - 0.2 - - 0.2
~ Metal commodities future —% B RiEE
contracts Er) 149 = 149 = 8.1) 6.8
The gross amounts of the recognised financial assets rEBGREEEEERA
and financial liabilities as presented in the Group's 2INERDEHMEEK
consolidated balance sheet, both of which have been ERIBENEE WERE
disclosed in the above tables, are measured as fair RER) BAFEEE

value.

The disclosures set out in the tables above include
commodities futures contracts traded through
brokers, and foreign currency forward/swap contracts
contracted with banks. If a default event (included

ERFAAIRBERIEEBE
KARZHBRBES
Mk BIBITETRIINE
B EAEH M H IR

but not limited to default payment, liquidation, BAOENG (BIEEARRRIE

bankruptcy or insolvency) occurs, the brokers and the RATFR BN EHES

banks are able to exercise the right to offset against BE) &L NIRITAIT

any favourable contracts and/or the collaterals placed. FREANEHEEABENEN
R,/ SRARAR G o
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are addressed below.

(a) Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group tests at least annually whether goodwill and
other assets that have indefinite useful lives have suffered
any impairment in accordance with the accounting
policy stated in Note 17. Other assets that are subject to
depreciation and amortisation are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amounts of an asset or a cash-
generating unit have been determined based on value-
in-use calculations or its fair value less costs of disposal,
whichever is higher. These calculations require the use of
estimates. The value-in-use calculations primarily use cash
flow projections. Judgement is required to determine key
assumptions adopted in the cash flow projections and
changes to key assumptions can significantly affect these
cash flow projections and therefore the results of the
impairment reviews.

REMBRRME

4 EBEEGsHEFRFIER

5t R H B SR B ST (> W UB AR
RREMRERER GEEHRER
NTREHRREANSERR-

NEFEHAREL G REBR
IEES 2 Gt st EEARDEAEE
BERERT - BEEEANARNK T8
BEESINEERGBREABEZEX
AR 5T R AR SR A T S Bk o

(a) JEERMEERME

SEBERBEN 7R S 5T
REVESEBEREMIER
EFEAEHNEEETAS U
MERSTHIRAE HMtEINE
RN EENEEBEEMHHIR
FIE RN EENEREBEET
Yo B R E R IT iR o B
ERRSESBANT UK CIEEE
REREREENEATERLE
BAE (UBREEAE) st8HEF
UEE ZEEHERENA
TE%O@W%@%%%E%IE@
BREREEN -RIBERE
;‘E‘JEPFE?X%E’\JIQEXE%ET’FHj#IJ
ErREREE > FEERME(EH
EHLEFRSREBAEEEX
FE IRKFERBERFANG
%o
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(b) Asset retirement obligations

Various pieces of land was leased by the Group for
operating scrap yards and preparation of the land might be
needed to make it appropriate for operation as scrap yards.

It was the Group's contractual obligation to bring the land
to its original condition as the Group is not the owner of
the land. The Group estimates the expected costs necessary
to dismantle the scrap yards by assessing the discount rate
as well as expected increment in future cost which might
lead to changes in the provisions recognised.

(c) Estimation of provision for impairment of
receivables

The loss allowances for receivables are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the allowances calculation,
based on the Group's historical credit loss experience,
existing market conditions as well as forward looking
estimates at the end of each reporting period. Where the
expectations are different from the original estimates, such
differences will impact the carrying values of receivables
and the impairment loss on receivable is recognised in the
years in which such estimates have changed.

(d) Current and deferred income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the worldwide provision for income taxes.
There are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain, such as
deductibility of compensation payments to customers.
The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit
issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will
be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences would impact the current and deferred
income tax assets and liabilities in the period in which such
determination is made.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(d)

(e)

()

Current and deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences
and tax losses are recognised when management considers
it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences or tax losses
can be utilised. Where the expectation is different from
the original estimates, such difference will impact the
recognition of deferred tax assets and income tax in the
period in which such estimates are changed.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
cost to completion and selling expenses. Management of
the Group reviews the inventories listing on a category-
by-category basis at the end of the reporting period, and
assesses whether the cost of the finished products will
exceed their net realisable value. Management estimates
the net realisable value for such inventories based primarily
on the latest resale value and quoted prices on applicable
commodity exchanges. If the market price of inventories
is to decline, additional write down may be required.
Management reassesses the estimation at the end of each
reporting period.

Fair value of derivatives and other financial
assets

The fair value of financial instruments and other financial
assets (including embedded derivative components of
convertible bonds and options over shares in joint ventures
to joint venture partners, if any) that are not traded in an
active market is determined by using appropriate valuation
techniques and making assumptions that are based on
market conditions existing at each reporting date.

The fair value of options over shares of non-listed entities
are determined using discounted cash-flow method, which
requires the determination of an appropriate discount rate
as well as assumptions regarding the cash-flow projections.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(g) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful
lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges
for its property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
by reference to the estimated periods that the Group
intends to derive future economic benefits from the use of
these assets. These estimates are based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets of similar nature
and functions. Management will adjust useful lives as
appropriate.

The Group periodically reassesses the useful lives of its
property, plant and equipment, taking into consideration
past usage and performance, prior repair and maintenance
efforts, current physical and operating conditions of these
assets, industry practices as well as future usage plans.
Periodic review could result in a change in useful lives and
therefore depreciation and amortisation expense in the
future periods.

(h) Determination of the lease term

In determining the lease term, management considers
all facts and circumstances that create an economic
incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a
termination option. Extension options (or not periods after
termination options) are only included in the lease term
if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not
terminated). The assessment is reviewed when a significant
event or a significant change in circumstances occurs which
affects this assessment and that is within the control of the
leasee.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s CODM, which has been identified as the Executive
Committee that makes strategic decisions, assesses the Group's
performance from geographic perspective and has identified
three reportable segments of its business: Asia, Europe and
North America. The operating segments are assessed based on
the measure of segment profit. This measurement basis excludes
the effects of non-operating gains/losses, such as impairments
on non-financial assets, fair value gain/loss on trading derivative
financial instruments, and gain/loss on disposals of assets held
for sale, joint ventures, property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets. The measure also excludes
centralised costs such as the Group’s key managements’
remunerations and other central administrative expenses. Finance
income, finance costs, income tax expenses and those unallocated
income and expenses are not included in the result for each
operating segment that is reviewed by the Group’s CODM. Inter-
segment sales are charged at prevailing market price.

Total segment assets exclude deferred income tax assets, tax
recoverable, derivative financial instruments and cash and cash
equivalents which are managed centrally. Information relating
to segment liabilities is not disclosed as such information is not
regularly reported to the CODM.
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

DEPER (48)
TEAURIEMAEERE_S

The following table presents revenue and segment profit
information regarding the Group’s reportable segments for the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, respectively:

_EERIEZ_#+"-HA=+—H

IEF ] 23R 7 8P B9 Wk ik K 0 BB e Fl

&R
For the year ended
HENTHOLEE
31 December 2023 31 December 2022
ZEIZE+IRZt-A it 2l % ]
North North
Asia - Europe  America Unallocated Total Asia furope  America  Unallocated Total
| BN EEN &R gt il M BEN ROR st
HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM
BRAT ERAT ERAT EBRT EBAn BEAn EEEn EBEr EEEn EEEn
Revenue e
Total segment revenue il 17198 149609 41 - 16,6848 17871 178414 357 - 19,6642
Inter-seqment sales HEERE - (208) - - (208 (39 (86.0) = = (89.9)
Btemal seles e 17198 147558 4 - 164797 1782 17754 %7 - 195743
Seqment (loss)/profit AR /ER (128.7) 364.4 (9.0) 43 210 (104.0) 707.8 (179 48 590.7
Finance income I 49 83
Finance costs HERA (186.6) (195.0)
Profit before income tax KR RAIRR 43 4040
Income tax expense FighE (68.5) (166.6)
(Loss)Profit for the year £/ (58 /R (192) 314
Depreciation and amortisation expenses &R &HE: (621)  (3264) - (15 (%2 (93 @774 05) (16.1)  (3633)
Fair value (loss)igain on trading derivative X iEATESHTBZATE
financial nstruments (Note) (58) /s (3) - - - (49) (49) = = = 157 157
Fair value (loss)igain on financial assets at AT EFF AR £REE
fair value through profit or loss 20T (B8 /s - - - (0.1) (0.1 5 32 s = 32
(Loss)/Gain on disposals of property, plant HENEBERRERER
and equipment and right-ofwse assets ~ EEEZ (58) /& (05) 134 - - 126 178 175 = = 353
Gain on disposals of assets held for sale  (HEFfEHEBEZ A - 6.0 - - 6.0 8.7 740 = = 15.7
Provision for impairments on property, 4% ERREURERE
plant and equipment and right-otuse ~ EEZHEES
N (102) (08) - - (11.0) - - - (10) (10)
Provision for impairment on intangble &/ EE 2 BIEAR
N (94) - - - (94) - - - - -
Provision for impairment on investment ~ % EAB(EZ RERE
in a joint venture - - - - - (12.0 (613) - - (133)
Provision for impairment on asset RELEBE REAR
held for sale - (152) - - (15.2) - - - - -
Note: The fair value (loss)/gain on trading derivative financial instruments for the e B8E_ZE_=FEr_-_Z°-_"_F+ZAH

year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 represented the fair value (loss)/gain
related to those trading derivative financial instruments that were not subject
to hedge accounting.
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R M BERRME
SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 REER @)
Segment assets NWEE
Reconciliation of segment assets to total assets as at 31 AR =F+ZRA=t—HEZE
December 2023 and 31 December 2022 are provided as follows: T IHE+ZRA=1+—HoHMEEHAE
ERENHERNT
As at
i
31 December 2023 31 December 2022
ZE-=£+ZR=t+-H “2-"f+7RA=+-H
North North
Asia  Europe  America Total Asia Europe  America Total

il Bl XM it il g BN h)
HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HCSM  HKSM HKSMO HKSM
BREn BRAT BREnT BRAT BRET BRET BEET BREN

Segment assets AHEE 13135 6,844.6 259 81840 13376 62735 1467 77578
Deferred income tax assets BiEmEHER 623 525
Tax recoverable TREHRE 91.1 319
Derivative financial instruments {74 4RI E 16.5 17.1
Cash and cash equivalents BERRESEES 366.5 7137
Total assets BERE 8,720.4 8,573.0
Geographical information HEER
Non-current assets, other than financial instruments and deferred FERBEEFEEER T A KRIEILER
income tax assets, are analysed by geographic regions as follows: BREE BMEIHAOT .
As at
1
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
ZEZ= —F——
+=-A=+—H +ZA=+—H
HKS$M HK$M
BEAT BEBTT
Asia EEDN 486.1 604.2
Europe BTN 3,967.1 3,774.2
Total 48z 4,453.2 4,378.4
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable for the sales of goods and services in the ordinary
course of the Group's activities. Revenue is shown net of value-
added tax, returns (if any) and after eliminating sales within the
Group.

Sales of goods

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the goods
is transferred to the customers in accordance with relevant
shipping terms, the customers have full discretion over the
goods and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the
customers’ acceptance of the goods. Delivery occurs when the
products have been shipped to the specific location, the risks of
obsolescence and loss have been transferred to customers, and
either customers have accepted the products in accordance with
the sales contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the
Group has objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have
been satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the price
specified in the contract. Accumulated experience is used to
estimate and provide for the returns, if any, using the expected
value method, and revenue is only recognised to the extent
that it is highly probable that a significant reversal will not
occur. A refund liability (included in trade and other payables) is
recognised for expected returns in relation to sales made until the
end of the reporting period. No element of financing is deemed
present as the sales are made with credit terms that are consistent
with market practice.

A receivable is recognised when control of the goods is
transferred to the customers as this is the point in time that the
consideration is unconditional because only the passage of time is
required before the payment is due.
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R M BERRME
5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 SEER @)
Sales of goods (continued) HEGMR @
If the services rendered or products delivered by the Group exceed HAEBRRERENRBZIZTNERB
the payments made by the counter parties, a contract asset is BHFHFNER AEIBGNEE-
recognised. If the payments exceed the services rendered or 153 FREB B PR (R AR TS AT TV
products delivered, a contract liability is recognised. - A e aEe
The Group's revenue mainly represents the amounts received or AEBKRZTEREFANHEFTEYN
receivable for the sales of recycled scraps and wastes, net of sales T BEW) 2 B U o FE UK RN IE 0 BREE B
related taxes, during the year. The Group derives revenue mainly ERERE AEBFENEEZSE
from transfer of these goods at a point in time. YR R R A A s o
Analysis of revenue by category BEZEN D EZIE D
For the year ended
BEUTHHLEEE
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
ZE=5F -2
+=-B=+—H +=-A=+—H
HK$M HK$M
BHEAT BEEAT
Metal recycling Ea=]CIlle
— Ferrous metal -E2EEE 10,358.4 12,624.8
— Non-ferrous metal -BE%E 5,629.9 6,272.7
Forging and foundry IS MRS - 86.2
Others Hith 491.4 590.6
Total st 16,479.7 19,574.3
Information about major customers FEXFWNER
No single customer contributed 10% or more to the Group's I —— E&_giifﬁ‘F:
revenue during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. B=+—HLFE UI®E—XFE

R 2 £ [ W i 10%WL/<J: °
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T e HmRMEE
OTHER INCOME 6 HMUA
2023 2022
== TECF
HK$M HK$M
BEET BEET
Rental income for short-term REHREEERSWA

operating leases 7.2 7.7
Rental income from investment properties &% FE S A (Fi5E16)

(Note 16) 12.1 13.3
Government grants/subsidies BT #Eh, #ERE 17.6 43
Dividend income LISV ON 0.7 5.7
Other income from related parties o 2 BA B 5 BV B A A

(Note 37(a)) (MI5E37(a)) 5.6 5.3
Compensation from insurance coverage RIGEE 26.9 19.1
Tax subsidies received 2 U AR W Aes B 11.3 8.1
Service income BRFEUW A 1.8 2.8
Others Hith 8.5 8.1

91.7 74.4
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REMBRRME

OTHER GAINS, NET AND IMPAIRMENTS ON 7 HfthkZ FERIESHE

NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS ERE
2023 2022
—EZ=F .-
HKS$M HK$M
BEEAT BEEAT
(Loss)/Gain on fair value change of: AT EEE (F5B) W -
— trading derivative financial instruments ~ — B /AETE AT 5tERIEM
not subject to hedge accounting REMETEEMTA (4.5) 15.7
— financial assets at fair value through —BAFEFABRZ
profit or loss (Note 19) SREE M19) (0.1) 3.2
Foreign exchange losses, net FEREEFEE (10.8) (15.1)
Gain on disposals of property, plant and HEME -BEMRERER
equipment and right-of-use assets HEEZ W= 12.6 35.3
Gain on disposals of assets held for sale HERFEHEEEZ WG
(Note 24) (M$5z24) 6.0 156.7
Impairments on non-financial assets: FEMEBERE !
— provision for impairments on property, —ME-BERZER
plant and equipment and FRREEZRERE
right-of-use assets (Notes 14, 15) (MF5E145215) (11.0) (1.0)
— provision for impairment on intangible —mEEEZBERS
assets (Note 17) (FF5%17) (9.4) -
— provision for impairment on —REGEhEY
investment in a joint venture AEEE = (73.3)
— provision for impairment —FEHEBEZ
on assets held for sale BEEE (15.2) -
Others HAth 10.4 10.1
(22.0) 131.6
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8

EXPENSES BY NATURE

8 BMHIDZHEX

2023 2022
—F=-= B F
HK$M HK$M
BHEAT BE&ATT
Changes in inventories of work-in-progress 8 @ R B F & 2 B H)
and finished goods 199.3 177.4
Raw materials and consumables used B AR L K JE #E 13,098.1 16,005.2
(Reversal of)/Provision for impairments on  {ZE& B E (B[0) B t5 548
inventories, net (Note 22) (fF5%22) (23.8) 33.6
Freight cost EH 813.0 780.8
Utilities and waste disposal cost KEBE KREYRIEMRA 361.4 395.5
Employee benefit expenses (Note 9) BE®RFIHEZ (&) 954.3 975.6
Depreciation and amortisation expenses of ¥ -MEKRHZH BEEE
property, plant and equipment, FTRARBEENEENE .
intangible assets, right-of-use assets ITE Mg HR S
and investment properties 390.2 363.3
Legal and professional expenses FEREERE 33.3 32.3
Auditors’ remuneration A GRS
— audit services —RZER 16.3 18.6
— non-audit services —IEZBRTE 2.7 3.7
Repair and maintenance expenses HEREEER 185.1 165.4
Lease expenses HERR%
— short-term leases — A 4.8 3.2
— low-value leases —REEHEE 6.9 6.8
Administrative services provided by RAE 5 IR R ITEARTS
related parties (Note 37(a)) (F¥5E37(a)) 11.5 18.0
Other expenses HihBasz 344.0 362.0
Total cost of sales, distribution and selling S8 A~ D8 R IHER UL
expenses and administrative expenses FATE Rz 42 %R 16,397.1 19,341.4
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EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE

REMBRRME

EERARE2

Employee benefit expenses during the year are as follows: FANESRMNMAZUNT !
2023 2022
—¥_-= g
HK$M HK$M
BEET BEEAT
Wages and salaries TER#E 763.3 794.2
Other termination benefits HAhBER =R 1.1 =
Social security costs IR A ‘ 47.7 42.5
Pension costs — defined contribution plans Bk 2 — R EH A2
(Note (a)) (Py5E(a)) 52.6 50.9
Other employee benefits Hithg B1&7F] 89.6 88.0
Total employee benefit expense BERMNMEZAEEE 954.3 975.6
Notes: 5T

(a) Pensions - defined contribution plans
Contributions totalling HK$0.1 million (2022: HK$0.1 million) were payable to
the fund as at 31 December 2023.

No forfeiture of contributions were used to reduce the existing level of
contributions during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

(b) Five highest paid individuals
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the
year include three (2022: three) Directors whose emoluments are reflected in
the analysis shown in Note 38. The emoluments payable to the remaining two
(2022: two) individuals during the year are as follows:

(a) BHhE—REMHEDRE
HREHIBEERT (CEZ2F:018
BET) BR-_ZEZ-=#+"A=+—H
BIBEAES-

RBEE_Z-_=F+"B=+—HL*F
B BMEs BB W ERLUBEIRE
HRFKFE (CZZZF | o

(b) EUESHFMAL
FRAEEZAUERSHFMALTSEMN
EEHINME3FIENT 2= (ZF
ToE ) BERE-FRNENCTH TR
CEZZF W) ALZMEWT ¢

2023 2022
—E=HF ZEBITH
HK$M HK$M
BEBT 5EAT
Salaries, bonus and other allowances %< ~ E4T K EL ;285 10.6 13.3
Penson Costs — defined contribution 3R {k& i 4s— F E M2 st 3]

plan 0.2 0.2
10.8 13.5

The emoluments fell within the following bands: e FUATEE :
Number of Number of
individual individual
A# A
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,0017 75 %4,500,00058 7T 1 -
HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 6,000,001 75 %6,500,00078 7T 1 1

HK$7,000,001 to HK$7,500,000 7,000,001 75%7,500,00078 70
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AR M RRME

10 FINANCE COSTS, NET 10 BAFSRAS 358

2023 2022
=== B F
HK$M HK$M
BHEAT BEERAT
Interest income from bank deposits RITERZFEWA 4.0 7.0
Interest income from related parties kAR S ZF BEUWA
(Note 37(a)) (FF5E37(a)) 0.9 1.3
Finance income ””””””iiai}:%il%}Z\ 777777777777777777777777 9 83
Interest expense on bank loans, IRITER BX RENER
overdrafts and bills payables ZHBR% (92.5) 61.1)
Interest expense on other borrowings Higmz A EBR% (78.2) (122.1)
Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note 31) fHE&EZF) BB % (1:E31) (14.3) (11.2)
Interest expense on loans from KERBANERZFEMAZ
related parties (Note 37(a)) (FF5E37(a)) (0.6) (0.6)
Interest expense on loan from REIFFZERERNERZF
non-controlling interest B (1.0) =
Financecosts ________#mBRx () (195,00
Finance costs, net BT A JF 28 (181.7) (186.7)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

For the year ended 31 December 2023, Hong Kong profits tax
has not been provided for as the Group's estimated assessable
profit for the period are set off by tax loss carried forward from
prior years.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% on
the estimated assessable profit for the year ended 31 December
2022.

Under the law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the "“EIT")
and the relevant EIT Implementation Regulations, the tax rate of
PRC EIT has been provided at the rate of 25% (2022: 25%) on
the estimated assessable profit for the year.

Germany income taxes have been provided at the rate of
approximately 30% (2022: 30%) on the estimated assessable
profit for the year.

Taxation on profits from other jurisdictions has been calculated
on the estimated assessable profit for the year at the rates of
taxation prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

11

REMBRRME

FrieRpx
REEZE=F+Z"8=+—HIt
FE BARAEEPRNGERRE
MBEFFEAEREBIEMIE
i MR TR E B FREE -

RBE-_E-_"F+-"HA=+—HlI
EE - EBMNERDIBBEHANGTE
SRIEFIR16.5% R KRB -

RIFEPERCEMRSER (EEMBER)
ERBBEEFREREBEES  hE
TEREBRIDBBEERGERERE
MIRINE25% (- _F : 25%) 5t
IR o

EERERILIREERGERERE
FABIRMEL30% (ZBEZ_F ¢
30%) sHRRfE -

REHEMBEEE RN ZIRBTHIRE
FARGFERNEN IEAERBEEPR
ERERZRTMEAE -

2023 2022
—ET=F —EHF
HKS$M HK$M
BEET BEET
Current income tax expense: BNERPR1SIRBASE !
Germany EE (79.4) (111.9)
PRC EIT FRED 2 PISIR (0.5) (12.6)
Other jurisdictions Hhalz#&E (4.3) (31.8)
(84.2) (156.3)
Over/(Under) provision in prior years: BIEFEBREEE
BELD
Germany = 1.6 1.8
Hong Kong 5% - (0.6)
Other jurisdictions Hhalx#E 6.0 1.6
e N i
Deferred income tax credit/(expense) EILFRSIME SR, ()
_ Note2vy . &2) - (13.1)
Income tax expense FRiSMms (68.5) (166.6)
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iR e B IRRMEE
11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 1 FRiSIRREAZ (@)
The tax on the Group's profit before income tax differs from the AEBGRERAGENNRIEREGH
theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average BFRERGREERENNMEFERE
tax rate applicable to profit of the consolidated entities as MEANEREBEZZRWT :
follows:
2023 2022
—¥_-= S
HK$M HK$M
BEBT BEET
Profit before income tax FRET1S IR AT & A 49.3 404.0
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates ¥ AR AR E ORI B
applicable to profits in the respective AR BEHIRIE
countries 43.5 1334
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for ~ AR MIRFS L
tax purpose 74.3 85.5
Tax effect of income not taxable for BARRBRANRBLE
tax purpose (43.0) (45.5)
Tax effect of temporary differences RN REREN
not recognised MBEE (5.7) 5.4
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERRIBEGENR B E 24.5 40.0
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses A ZAIREDRRIBEEN
previously not recognised MBEE (2.0) (10.9)
Tax impact on share of results from HRE(E— R AR
an associate and joint ventures EiE b ,\E’J%’R\?’K TR 2 (15.5) (38.5)
Over provision in respect of prior years BEFEBRER (7.6) (2.8)
Income tax expense for the year FRMEHRES 68.5 166.6
OECD Pillar Two model rules OECD% — & REE Al
The Group is within the scope of the OECD Pillar Two model rules. AEBEBOECDE _SY R T&#HIHRAHN
Pillar Two legislation was enacted in certain countries, where the HERN - F_IXHUZEEAERS
Group entities are incorporated or registered, and will come into BS ST M AR iz S s AV E TRIK B
effect on or after 1 January 2024. Since the Pillar Two legislation WHER_E_NE—B—Hm®z’®E
was not effective at the reporting date, the Group has no MemMRE I HIEARBRSHEEN
related current tax exposure. The Group applies the exception to 9E’_:Exﬁl Z'S%Tff*ﬁ FAENERIR 18
recognising and disclosing information about deferred tax assets felBRIBER _—_SE_=—Ft8EMMN
and liabilities related to Pillar Two income taxes, as provided in the ’é,% & 5T AR B 125 BT AR E
amendments to HKAS 12 issued in July 2023. SEBRERAZAIIMNERURD LI E
HE—STHMEBRAEMNIEIERES
)X&ﬁf/\éfﬂ"
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)
OECD Pillar Two model rules (continued)

Under the legislation, the Group is liable to pay a top-up tax for
the difference between the Global Anti-Base Erosion Proposal
('GloBE’) effective tax rate for each jurisdiction and the 15%
minimum rate. Majority of the subsidiaries within the Group
have an effective tax rate that exceeds 15%, except for a few
subsidiaries in European countries such as Germany and Austria.

The Group is in the process of assessing its exposure to the Pillar
Two legislation for when it comes into effect. The tax implications
in these countries arising from Pillar Two legislation remain
uncertain. This is due to the impact of specific adjustments
envisaged in the Pillar Two legislation which give rise to different
effective tax rates compared to those calculated in accordance
with paragraph 86 of HKAS 12.

Due to the complexities in applying the legislation and calculating
GloBE income, the quantitative impact of the enacted or
substantively enacted legislation is not yet reasonably estimable.
Therefore, even for those entities with an accounting effective tax
rate above 15%, there may still be Pillar Two tax implications. The
Group is continuing to assess the impact of the Pillar Two income
taxes legislation on its future financial performance.

11

REMBRRME

FRriSiRR S (48)
OECDE & A (B)
RIBZEH  REBEEEME B AR
ENEIKMEaRERE (TGIoBE ) &
RIREAI15%RERE BRI ZEEH
AN TE TT AR o BRI 15 B Ky B2 A S BX
MERZ DEF AN KEBARK
BAFREZERREHBB15% °

AEBEANGEES —HIZE
EMEAEENRR - ZFEKKE
BB IUEZRBEENAREE -
TSRS Z X IDEPREN AR
AENFEIRERRIARESE
Bt ERIB 125 B8R T HIMELR
EE

I FEREP K5t EGloBEW ABYHE
MM CREMABEEBEMIILENTE
EXEHRESEFRMES - EIL- B
EH e ERRESI15%NERM
S NUEREE _ERBHEE K
EREEMEET LB RSN
EHERRYBRIRENNT &

BERIRREEERAR
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12 DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed during 2023 and 2022, nor
has any dividend been proposed by the Company since the end of
the reporting period in respect of the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022.

13 LOSS/EARNINGS PER SHARE
(a) Basic

Basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
(loss)/profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary

12

13

B
FRBAR_B=ZFERZFF
HERVRERRKMEANRE > B#
ECEZ=FRIZZIZF+TZA
=+ —HLEFENBRSHRTERZS
IR ERRE -

BheiE B

(a)

B

BkEX (B8 B BEEAR
BIRREMGEEE (B8 mh]
BRUAFEEBEETEBERMET

shares in issue during the year. BEBFERH
2023 2022
—F== -2
HKS$M HK$M
BEBT BEET
(Loss)/Profit (&548) &
(Loss)/Profit for the year attributable ~ Z</A &) IR SR AE(L
to shareholders of the Company REE (558) wH (9.3) 264.5
Number of shares &8
Weighted average number BEITEBRMETHEHE
of ordinary shares in issue (F5)
(thousands) 1,605,152 1,605,152
Basic (loss)/earnings per share SREAR (B8 &BA
(expressed in HK$) LB TTEIER) (0.01) 0.16
(b) Diluted (b) 8

The Group has no potentially dilutive shares outstanding
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings comprise mainly factories and offices.
Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less
depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss during the financial
period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their cost over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Land and buildings 12-50 years
Plant and machinery 5-20 years
Office furniture and 3-13 years

equipment

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset'’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within
‘other gains, net’ in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

REMBRRME

14 ME - -BEKRSKE

ME - BERKE
ITHRBTFEEAERERMAE-
W2 BB R 3% 1 1 PR SR AR AR 3T ES
IR -EEMABERBREERRE
BRI °

BEMRAESERBEARZARKE
B mERAEERAAER MERE
AR EZHEEREAZBERT 5 E
BEEMFAEERTDENRIS A
BUEE -CEENDZREERR
IR -FTEHMEEREBREE
EZMHHBAR GEIRm KPP

WENLRBEGESE  WEHMGS
AIERFHAD A - BERINT ¢

THIRIETF 12E 504
= Rt 28 5E204F
WMAERBRRE 3F 134

BENGREERIEAFHNESRE
R WEBEEBR TERHEE

W—IEEEZREESREMG TR
O AZBEEZREESF
R E H AT YR [O] 8

HEZWEREBETSBBLEBREM
TEEREEMEE LR EEm RN
TEfth ot 88 P EEST ©
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 YE- -BERSE @)

(continued)
Construction in progress

Construction in progress represents buildings, plant and
machinery under construction and pending installation and
is stated at cost. Cost includes the costs of construction of
buildings and the costs of plant and machinery. No provision
for depreciation is made on construction-in-progress until such
time as the relevant assets are completed and ready for intended
use. When the assets concerned are brought into use, the costs
are transferred to other property, plant and equipment and
depreciated in accordance with the policy as Property, plant and
equipment.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or intangible
assets not ready to use are not subject to amortisation and are
tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired.
Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill
that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of
the impairment at each reporting date.
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AR e MR R T

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 YE- -BERSE &)
(continued)
Office
Land Plant furniture
and and and  Construction

buildings machinery equipment in progress Total
BARER

THREFT  RERESR B HEIRE 4zt

HKSM HK$M HK$M HK$M HK$M

BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT

As at 1 January 2022 RZEZZ&F—F—H
Cost [ 2,206.4 1,089.7 212.0 471 3,555.2
Accumulated depreciation and RAMERABEER

impairment loss (509.1) (659.8) (129.3) (0.4) (1,298.6)
Net book amount REFE 1,697.3 429.9 82.7 467 2,256.6
Year ended 31 December 2022 BEZZ-__F+°A=+-H

ILFE
Opening net book amount FNRERE 1697.3 429.9 82.7 467 2,256.6
Additions AE 16.1 95.0 355 152.8 299.4
Transfer upon completion ASER R 176 436 28 (64.0) =
Transfer to investment properties BELEME (H16)

(Note 16) (6.6) - - - (6.6)
Impairment loss (Notes 7 & (iv)) BEEE (7 RK(v) 0.9) = = 0.1) (1.0)
Disposals HE (12) (14.8) (2.0) (09) (18.9)
Depreciation charge EmL (70.9) (102.3) (334) - (206.6)
Currency translation differences EREH (90.3) (25.0) (3.9 (1.1) (120.3)
Closing net book amount FRZEEZE 1,561.1 426.4 81.7 1334 2,202.6
As at 31 December 2022 R_E__E+"F=+—H
Cost A 2,105 1,091.9 2374 1338 35736
Accumulated depreciation and REMERABEER

impairment loss (549.4) (665.5) (155.7) (0.4) (1,371.0)
Net book amount REFE 1,561.1 4264 81.7 1334 2,202.6
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 YE- -BERSE @)

(continued)
Office
Land Plant furniture
and and and Construction
buildings ~ machinery  equipment in progress Total
WAKER
THREF RERES R HREIR 4t
HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM
BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT
Year ended 31 December 2023 BEZZ”-fF+”ZB=1+-H
IEEE
Opening net book amount FNRDEE 1,561.1 426.4 81.7 1334 2,202.6
Additions RE 57.9 75.3 83.5 55.7 272.4
Transfer Rk EE 59.8 68.2 = (128.0) =
Transfer from assets held for sale BEREEHEEE (HeE24K(ii)

(Note 24 & {iii) 6.4 - - - 6.4
Impairment loss (Note (iv)) HERRE (V) (0.8) (7.9 - - (8.7)
Disposals HE (6.7) (17.9) (7.7) (0.1) (32.4)
Depreciation charge EMS (72.4) (133.9) (52.9) - (258.7)
Currency translation differences ERER 30.1 15.3 (3.3) 8.9 51.0
Closing net book amount FXZEEMFE 1,635.4 426.0 1013 69.9 2,232.6
As at 31 December 2023 RIEZ=H+"F=1+—H
Cost %N 3,435.5 1,779.4 501.0 703 5,786.2
Accumulated depreciation and RATERABEER

impairment loss (1,800.1) (1,353.4) (399.7) (0.4) (3,553.6)
Net book amount REEE 1,635.4 426.0 101.3 69.9 2,232.6
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Construction in progress as at 31 December 2023 mainly comprises new yard
(2022: new sewage treatment plant) being constructed in Europe.

As at 31 December 2023, property, plant and equipment with a net book
value of HK$1,895.9 million (2022: HK$1,507.9 million) were pledged to
secure certain borrowings and general banking facilities granted to the Group
(Note 35).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, HK$6.4 million property, plant and
equipment were transferred from assets held for sale (2022: Nil).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recognised a provision
for impairments on property, plant and equipment of HK$8.7 million
(2022: HK$1.0 million) related to certain idle assets in Asia (2022: Europe),
which their recoverable amounts are below their carrying values based on
management’s assessment.

The recoverable amounts of performing property, plant and equipment is
determined through value-in-use. Recoverable amounts for non-performing
property, plant and equipment is determined based on fair value less cost of
disposal.

Py5E -

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

BERIRREEERAR

REMBRRME

14 ¥ZE KB KR&E (8

RIBE_=F+"A=+—HBWEET
RIZOEERNBRRTNH ISR (T
ZIE IS KEER ©

AR =HF+"RA=+—8 REFE
#1,895 9@ @B T (ZE "4 1 1,507.9
BEBT) X -BRERLFHCIRE £
AXERERETER R —RIBITHREN
518 (BFEE35) ©

REBEEZZ_=F+ZHA=+—HLHF
Er64EEBBTHNYE BERRETHE
B EHEEE (T2 2F 1 5)o

REES-_=F+-"A=+—HILEE
R REBBYE - BEKRRERDEE
BEs7TEEAT (CEF1.088%8
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R EIREE -
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15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 15 {EREEE

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use
by the Group.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received;

. any initial direct costs; and

° restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of
the asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If
the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the
right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful
life (Notes 14).

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment,
vehicles, offices, warehouse and all leases of low-value assets
are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Short-term leases are
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets
comprise IT equipment and small items of office furniture.
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REMBRRME

15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued) 15 FEREEE @)
Office
Land and Plant and furniture and
buildings machinery equipment Total
WAKRER
T RIEF BB Rt ad B st
HK$M HK$M HK$M HK$M
BEAET BEET BEET BEET
As at 1 January 2022 RZ2Z-“F-F—H
Cost B A 678.5 425.0 2834 1,386.9
Accumulated depreciation, REHNE B8R
amortisation and impairment loss ~ BfEEE (270.1) (284.0) (131.3) (685.4)
Net book amount REFE 408.4 141.0 152.1 701.5
Year ended 31 December 2022 E_E__F+_8
“+—ALFE
Opening net book amount FRERE 408.4 141.0 152.1 7015
Additions nE 398 59.6 55.0 154.4
Disposals HE (16.9) (46.7) 7.7 (55.9)
Depreciation and EREHRS
amortisation charge (52.4 (33.0) (48.9) (134.3)
Currency translation differences EREHE (18.2) (15.2) (14.3) 47.7)
Closing net book amount FRZREFE 360.7 105.7 151.6 618.0
As at 31 December 2022 A S— e
Cost 5)‘5% 613.8 401.6 297.7 1,313.1
Accumulated depreciation, REHiTE Bk
amortisation and impairment loss BB (253.1) (295.9) (146.1) (695.1)
Net book amount REFE 360.7 105.7 151.6 618.0
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE_E-=-&£+_"FH
=+—BIFE
Opening net book amount FYREFE 360.7 105.7 151.6 618.0
Additions HE 15.7 82.8 76.6 175.1
Impairment (Note (iii)) AE (ki) (2.3) - - (2.3)
Disposals HE (9.7) (11.8) (49.7) (71.2)
Depreciation and EREHRES
amortisation charge (45.8) (31.6) (41.4) (118.8)
Currency translation differences BRELE 2.1 5.6 26.7 34.4
Closing net book amount FRZEEFE 320.7 150.7 163.8 635.2
As at 31 December 2023 A_E_=F+_A
=+-H
Cost D% 601.9 461.5 315.8 1,379.2
Accumulated depreciation, REHNE B8R
amortisation and impairment loss ~ JR{EESR (281.2) (310.8) (152.0) (744.0)
Net book amount REFE 320.7 150.7 163.8 635.2
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15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

Notes:

@)

(ii)

(iii)

As at 31 December 2023, certain leasehold land and land use rights with a
net book value of HK$136.7 million (2022: HK$142.6 million) were pledged
to secure certain borrowings and general banking facilities granted to the
Group (Note 35).

Expenses relating to short-term leases of HK$4.8 million (2022: HK$3.2
million) and expenses relating to leases of low-value assets that are not
classified as short-term leases of HK$6.9 million (2022: HK$6.8 million) were
charged to the consolidated statement of profit and loss for the year ended
31 December 2023 (Note 8).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recognised a provision
for impairments on right-of-use assets of HK$2.3 million (2022: Nil) related
to certain idle assets in Asia, which their recoverable amounts are below their
carrying values based on management’s assessment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16 IKRBEYE
Investment properties, principally comprising land and buildings, KEME (FZEELUMANETF) HF
are held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation BAECSREPHASRANIEABE AR
or both, and that are not occupied by the Group. Investment B mERE DR MIFREAERYG
property is initially measured at cost, including related transaction A REMEVBERASTE > BI5H
costs and where applicable borrowing costs. Subsequent to R 5 A A M B Rk A (AN ) © 1
initial recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less VipER B REMERIABEE
subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated RATERE MR HERIETR
impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to write off EDEREG AN BT AR EH
the cost of investment properties over their estimated useful lives AR B R R A > 5T R H G
and after taking into account of their estimated residual value, SHRIREBERER
using the straight-line method.
An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when KREMERHERRENEKRARY
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and FRAREFEEER A EE KKK
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Any EFRFEUSER - BUE R EE
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated 2 ERANETEE RHEMmERIE
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the FIENBEEREEZENERESE 1
carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the BUBRER Y AR St A8 5 o
period in which the property is derecognised.
2023 2022
—EZ=F =
HKS$M HK$M
BEEAT BEEAT
As at 1 January w—B—H 54.3 56.3
Depreciation charge ERSE (3.9) (3.7)
Transfer from property, BEME -BEREE
plant and equipment (Note 14) (MIzx14) = 6.6
Currency translation differences PE S0 =28 (0.7) (4.9)
As at 31 December ®+ZB=+—H 49.7 54.3

Notes:

(i) The above investment properties, which are situated in the PRC, are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the remaining useful lives.

(ii) The fair value of the Group’s investment properties as at 31 December 2023

was HK$172.1 million (2022: HK$219.3 million).

P st

(i) ER B R EY LR T ERFHMU
HREEIFE

(ii) AEBBEVER T _=F+=-A1
Z+—ANAFEBIABERT (CE
ZZHEI219388BT) °

ERRFEERRAR —BEZFFR
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16

17

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iii) Rental income from these investment properties recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2023
amounted to HK$12.1 million (2022: HK$13.3 million) (Note 6).

(iv) As at 31 December 2023, investment properties with a net book value of
HK$49.7 million (2022: HK$54.3 million) were pledged to secure certain
borrowings and general banking facilities granted to the Group (Note 35).

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries represents the
excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair
value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair
value of the identified net assets acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is allocated to each of the cash-generating
units (“CGUs"), or groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of
units to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest
level within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for
internal management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the
operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a
potential impairment. The carrying value of the CGU containing
the goodwill is compared to the recoverable amount, which is the
higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any
impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and is not
subsequently reversed.
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17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Computer software

Computer software acquired is capitalised on the basis of the
costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software.
These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives of 5
years.

Brand names, patents and licenses

Separately acquired brand names, patents and licences are shown
at historical cost. Brand names, patents and licences acquired
in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Certain brand names, patents and licences
which have a finite useful life are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of certain
brand names, patents and licenses over their estimated useful
lives of 8 to 20 years. Certain brand names have indefinite useful
life and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Impairment assessment is undertaken annually or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential
impairment.

Customers’ relationship and suppliers’ relationship

Customers’ relationship and suppliers’ relationship acquired
in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. The customers’ relationship and suppliers’
relationship which have a finite useful life are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method over the expected life of
the customers’ relationship and suppliers’ relationship of 5 to 20
years.

17

REMBRRME

BwREE (8

BIGERH

7\ BB B W1 1S R P BRI
FEEZRABREF UGG &
ATy R A AR5 ER
o

% EF KRR

BIUWENRELE BRI R ERE
FEERAIR e REFEGHPURER
o hE A T8 B e R RR i U s B R
AFEER -HEEERUEHFHN
BT AR B R R IR AR
R B O ERBIRIR - B A
B8 L8 E20F MG 5t Al
REMRADEETRERE - FH K
FEIBAE A - BT % BRERAY
EREH B4R RstRERE
SRR BENEASFET HAEEM
8015 S 20 B BT A 3R R (B 0 A
G EETHE TR E

ERRGRRMEERRR

REBEHPWENZ R BHRKLHE
FRIRIZUIIE B IR A FEED - B
BEERVERFEHNE PG RME
7 B R d A AR R 5T B R R (E R 1R
PR - MR BERENTRBGER
HEBRAENRAFHSE205 M5
o

BERIRREEERAR

—E_=#4% 169



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

= A =
iR E B IRRMIEE
. e = =
17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 17 BEEE (&)
Customers'
relationship
Brand names, and
Computer patents and suppliers’
Goodwill software licenses relationship Total
R, ERRGER
Gk e g RER HIEER% st
HK$M HK$M HK$M HK$M HK$M
BEET BEET BEET BEBT BEET
As at 1 January 2022 R_Z2__F—HF—H
Cost A 554.0 6.6 271.7 9.8 929.1
Accumulated amortisation Rty - (1.4) (45.0) (33.8) (80.2)
Net book amount REEE 554.0 5.2 226.7 63.0 848.9
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE_Z_—&
+ZA=+—-HIFE
Opening net book amount ENEREEE 554.0 52 226.7 63.0 848.9
Additions RE - 1.0 - - 1.0
Amortisation charges BiEmEY = (2.5) 9.2) (7.0) (18.7)
Currency translation differences ERER (29.6) 0.2) (11.9) (3.4) (45.1)
Closing net book amount EXRE@EE 524.4 35 205.6 526 786.1
As at 31 December 2022 RIE__F
+ZA=+—-H
Cost %N 524.4 49 2575 91.7 8785
Accumulated amortisation Rt = (1.4) (51.9) (39.1) (92.4)
Net book amount FREFE 524.4 35 205.6 52.6 786.1
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17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 17 BEZEE @)
Customers’
relationship
Brand names, and
Computer  patents and suppliers’
Goodwill software licenses  relationship Total
i g BRRER
55 Elme  EAREER HESEE Bt
HK$M HK$M HK$SM HK$SM HK$M

BEAT BRET BRET BEAT BERAET

Year ended 31 December 2023 BEE_=%

+ZA=+—HILEFE
Opening net book amount FRAZE 524.4 35 205.6 52.6 786.1
Additions HE - 0.8 - - 0.8
Disposals HE - (0.4) - = (0.4)
Amortisation charges BiEmy - (1.2) (7.6) = (8.8)
Impairment HE (9.4) - - = 9.4)
Currency translation differences ERER 17.1 0.1 6.3 1.7 25.2
Closing net book amount EXRE@EE 532.1 28 2043 54.3 7935
As at 31 December 2023 RIBZ=F

+ZA=+—H
Cost IEN 532.1 4.6 265.6 94.6 896.9
Accumulated amortisation Rt #E - (1.8) (61.3) (40.3) (103.4)
Net book amount REBE 532.1 28 204.3 54.3 793.5
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17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 17 EREE @&

Impairment tests for goodwill and intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives

Goodwill is recognised through the acquisition of Scholz Holding
GmbH (”Scholz Holding”) in 2016. Intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives represented brand names, amounted to
HK$155.3 million as at 31 December 2023 (2022: HK$150.4
million).

Management reviews the business performance based on
geographic regions. It has identified Asia and Europe regions as
the main regions. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of Scholz
Holding is allocated to metal recycling CGU in Asia and Europe
regions. Brand names have been allocated to CGUs in Europe
region.

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value-
in-use calculations. These calculations use pre-tax cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by management
covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year
period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rates stated
below. The growth rate does not exceed the long-term average
growth rate for the recycling businesses in which the CGU
operates.

*  For identification only
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17 BEEE @&
HERARRIERER BLEE
ZRERE @
SEEREFRAGEAESE BLE
B RERR A EE B
METERRL B EXRLITEXE

17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
Impairment tests for goodwill and intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives (continued)
For the impairment test for goodwill and intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives, the key assumptions, long term growth
rate and discount rate used in the value-in-use calculations are

disclosed below:

BRFX

Metal recycling

ERBE
Asia Europe
D) | EX
2023 ZEZ=
Long term growth rate RHEEX 2.0% 2.0%
Pre-tax discount rate (Note (i) BRAAITIRER (f5E()) 20.7% 17.4%
Gross profit margin ek 2.0%-8.0% 8.6%-9.0%
Revenue growth rate Wi R = 1.1%-10.2% 2.0%-26.2%
Metal recycling
EBEK
Asia Europe
CED B
2022 ZEICE
Long term growth rate RIBEX 2.0% 2.0%
Pre-tax discount rate (Note (i)) BRAAITIER (f5E() 22.0% 17.7%

Gross profit margin

£ij%

3.8%-7.8%

6.2%-8.3%

Revenue growth rate g R =X 6.0%-27.0% 4.5%-6.8%

Note: BsE

(i) Pre-tax discount rate applied to the pre-tax cash flow forecast. (i) FE F3 B2 BR #6 A1 3R <5 0 T8RN 49 BR AR AT #7 3R
=o

BERIRREEERAR
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17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Impairment tests for goodwill and intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives (continued)

An impairment loss of HK$9.4 million was recognised on metal
recycling CGU in Asia’s goodwill during the year ended 31
December 2023 based on management’s cash flow forecast. No
other class of assets other than goodwill was impaired.

The recoverable amounts for Europe CGU would still exceed their
remaining carrying amounts if the assumptions were changed as

follows:

° lowering long term growth rate by 1 percentage point;

° raising pre-tax discount rate by 0.5 percentage point; or

° lowering revenue growth rate by 5% of the expected

growth rate.
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18 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 18 {EAHEZEZEARMNIESE
EQUITY METHOD

(a) Interest in an associate (a) M—HEBEATZER
2023 2022
—E-=fF —E-
HK$M HK$M
BEAT BEET
Cost of unlisted investment in R—EEEAEZ
an associate (Note) JELEHIER A (Fizh) 2.3 2.3
Share of post-acquisition eI BB RTS8
accumulated losses (1.0) (1.5)
1.3 0.8
Notes: BfsE
Details of the Group's associate at the end of the reporting period are as AERRREPRNBE QB FBFNT :
follows:

Proportion of

Place of ownership interest

Name of entity principal business held by the Group Principal activity
NEFFRER

BB TEE M R EEEH
Poly Metals Company Limited (“Poly Metals") Hong Kong 20% Trading of metal scrap
EEeBARAR (TEE)) 5E BEEBRXS
Poly Metals is a private company and there is no quoted market price available HERMWARBRERNLEAIGHNT S
for its shares. 1B
There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group's TWRARAEERBEARZE
interest in an associate. w2 HAE R

BABRERSRAT —Z=-=&£5£% 175



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

18 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 18 {FR#EIIEAENBE (B
EQUITY METHOD (continued)

(a) Interest in an associate (continued) (a) M—MEEERTZER (&)
Summarised financial information for an associate —EBE AT 2 M EERBE
Set out below is the summarised financial information TXHEHEBEER M BEERNBTE
for Poly Metals which is accounted for using the equity HEAEEEAR.
method.

Summarised balance sheet EEERREBE
2023 2022
—E-= —_EFE_—
HKS$M HK$M
BEATT BEET
Total current assets MENEEHEE 15.1 20.2
Total non-current assets ERENEELEE 0.9 0.9
Total current liabilities Ve =N L (17.2) (24.8)
Total non-current liabilities BB EIERE - -
Summarised statement of comprehensive income 2HEKEREE
2023 2022
HK$M HK$M
BEATT BEBT
Revenue W 402.6 269.3

Profit/(Loss) and total comprehensive & #], (§538) K2 ®E
income/(loss) e, (B548) 48%8 2.5 (8.0)
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18 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 18 (S EARNIEE (@)
EQUITY METHOD (continued)

(a) Interest in an associate (continued) (a) M—HEBEATZER (@
Summarised statement of comprehensive income 2ENEREE (B)
(continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial M RS B R A Y R o
information to the carrying amount of the interest in Poly ZHREE REaBmRRAE
Metals recognised in the consolidated financial statements: ) 2 HERWT ¢
2023 2022
== B F
HK$M HK$M
BHEBT BEET
Net liabilities of Poly Metals BREPR+ZA=1+—H8®
as at 31 December BEFEE (1.2) (3.7)
Proportion of the Group’s ownership AS&EE A E Eh =z A 1
interest in Poly Metals 55 EE 20% 20%
Share of net liabilities of Poly Metals F&{5 S Eh & &3 48 (0.2) (0.7)
Goodwill i 1.5 1.5
Closing carrying value FRIREE 1.3 0.8
The information above reflects the amounts presented B} e PR A B [ B S B
in the financial statements of the associate adjusted for NEIZ Bt BERERERAEERN
differences in accounting policies between the Group and ZHE N ZHMBERKREIN 2 E
the associate. Ko
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18 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 18 {FH#EIEZARMNIGE (B

EQUITY METHOD (continued)

(b) Interests in joint ventures (b) MNEELEZHER
Particulars of the significant joint ventures are set out FTEFEREZFHBHINUWT
below:
Place of
establishment/
principal place Principal  Measurement
Name of entity of business % of ownership interest activities method Carrying amount
vkt Ve
BELE TEERHY BEEEZANL TEEH HERE IREfE
2023 2022 2023 2022
- S kSt 4 - S k- St
HK$M HK$M
BEAT BEER
Schrott und Metallhandel Germany 75% 75% Note (i) Equity 159.3 1489
M. Kaatsch GmbH &8 M) #
Scholz Austria GmbH Austria 63.35% 63.35% Note (ii) Equity 349.0 3180
S| Tz (i) i)
Kalischatarra, S.de R.L. de C.V. Mexico - 50% Note (iii) Equity - -
B g(l)] B
Rematholding Co. s.r.| Romania 50% 50% Note (iv) Equity 70.9 76.1
ESED Mz (iv) i
Individually immaterial joint ventures Note (v) Equity 157.8 166.9
BRFEAAELE MizEw) s
731.0 709.9
Notes: FisE
(i) Schrott und Metallhandel M. Kaatsch GmbH is a private company (i) Schrott und Metallhandel M.
and there is no quoted market price for its shares. It is engaged in Kaatsch GmbHA—BFAA R B K&
collection, processing and trading of scrap metal in Germany. HE MRS RE Z A8 NE
BERENE - NMIKEEEELS
Bo
(ii) Scholz Austria GmbH is a private company and there is no quoted (ii) Scholz Austria GmbHZA—BFAA R
market price for its shares. It is engaged in metal recycling business in B R BB AR M B T 35 IR AE o XA A
Austria. REARMFEEEEBER-
(iii) Kalischatarra, S.de R.L. de C.V. is a private company and there is (iii) Kalischatarra, S.de R.L. de C.V.&3—

no quoted market price for its shares. It is engaged in collection,
processing and trading of scrap metal in Mexico. Such investment was
disposed of during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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18 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (continued)

(b)

Interests in joint ventures (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iv) Rematholding Co. s.r.l is a private company and there is no quoted
market price for its shares. It is engaged in collection, processing and
trading of scrap metal in Romania.

AR e MR R T

18 ER#EEEARNKZE (@)

(b)

ReagtEz D (@
MisE - (&)
(iv) Rematholding Co. s.r1Z&—RFA

RNEARERNDIUEEBRHRE &R
AREEEENERE -MIRE

BERESB-

(v) In addition to the interests in joint ventures as disclosed above, the (v) BREXHBZREECEES
Group also has interests in a number of individually immaterial joint S REBMTREUEENIEERE
ventures that are accounted for using the equity method: EhEEEED UHEAEREA

B :
2023 2022
—T=HF —F_C
HK$M HK$M
BEAET BEET
Aggregate carrying amount of individually ~FMERIJEEAGE %>
immaterial joint ventures IRE{EAEEE 157.9 233.1
Aggregate amount of the Group's share of: ZSEE B (L 2 44945 :
Profit for the year FRiEF] 19.8 38.0
Other comprehensive loss Hih2mEEE - -
Total comprehensive income 2EKEAEEE 19.8 38.0

Commitments and contingent liabilities in respect of
joint ventures

The Group provided guarantees for borrowings of
approximately HK$50.9 million (2022: HK$49.9 million) to
certain joint ventures as at 31 December 2023 (Note 42

().

There are no other contingent liabilities relating to the
Group's interests in the joint ventures.
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18 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (continued)

(b) Interests in joint ventures (continued)
Summarised financial information for joint ventures
Set out below is the summarised financial information for
Schrott und Metallhandel M. Kaatsch GmbH, Scholz Austria
GmbH, Kalischatarra S.de R.L. de C.V. and Rematholding
Co. s.rl which are accounted for using the equity method.

In the opinion of the Directors, these joint ventures are
material to the Group.

Summarised statement of comprehensive income

18 ER#EEARNKZE (@)

(b)

REELEZER (@)
SEREZMBENTE

T ¢FESchrott und Metallhandel
M. Kaatsch GmbH ~ Scholz Austria
GmbH ~ Kalischatarra S.de R.L. de
C.V.X%Rematholding Co. s.rIf84
BERMEE  HigEm E AR
EER R ZEOELEHAE
EmsSEEKXe

EEBEIRBE

Schrott und
Metallhandel Scholz Austria Kalischatarra,
M. Kaatsch GmbH GmbH S.deR.L. de CV. Rematholding Co. s.r.
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Z¥-=F C®CCF CECEE C3CCE IECEE T3 IECZE 0 TECIE
HKSM HK$M HKSM HK$M HKSM HK$M HKSM HKSM
BE#nr Egfr  ERAm  BEAn  BREm  EEEr BRER  EBER
Revenue W& 14074 1,5385 3,089.8 38945 - 9374 812.8 1,011
Depreciation and amortisation 178 R #24 (333) 217 (62.5) (64.2) s (137) (22.0) (158)
Interest income FEKA 09 07 02 0.1 - - - -
Interest expense HSET (6.1) (74) (16.0) (100) - (1.0) (45) (26)
Income tax expense FigiEs (33) 9.1 (94) (201) s (316) (0.1) (36)
Profitioss) for the year R/ (58 106 28 537 749 - 589 (145) 80
Other comprehensive B2 ElE
income 03 - 21 55 - 0.7 - -
Dividends received from joint  BRAELERE
ventures - 9.6 134 215 - - - 128
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18 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 18 (S EARNIEE (@)
EQUITY METHOD (continued)

(b) Interests in joint ventures (continued) (b) MEELEZEZDS @
Summarised balance sheet BEEABRREE
Schrott und
Metallhandel Scholz Kalischatarra,
M. Kaatsch GmbH Austria GmbH S.deR.L de C.V. Rematholding Co. s.rl
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-cf _®--%f ZBISE _“Z--F ZECZE “Z--F ZE-ZE _T-CE
HKSM HK$M HKSM HK$M HKSM HK$M HKSM HK$M

BREn BEEr BEArn  AEEr  BEAm  AEEn  BRAT  BEAER

Current it
Cash and cash equivalents &K
Re%EEA 52 73 2369 2366 - = 105 43
Other current assets AthrEEE 283.4 209.8 339.4 3546 - S 1853 205.9
Total current assets MEYEELE 288.6 2171 576.3 591.2 - = 195.8 210.2

Current financial liabilities  FE1S B &R
(excluding trade payables)  (FEIEER

FEf508) (43.3) (37.0) (174.4) (221.6) - - (64.7)
Other current liabilities ~ EfiREI&E (140.1) (103.2) (250.2) 2173) = = (63.2)
Total current liabilities MEEREE (183.4) (140.2) (424.6) (4389 - - (127.9) (82.1)

Total net current assets BB EBE

Fak] 105.2 76.9 1517 152.3 - - 67.9 128.1
Non-current (i)
Total non-current assets ~ JEREEELE 298.1 175 4234 384.2 - S 792 34.1

Non-current financial FREERER
liabilities (excluding trade ~ (FAEES

oayables) 5B (1944) (99.6) (503) (552) - § (133) 1)
Other non-current liabiliies  E13EREN&E (5.1) (82) (43.9) (47.1) - - (3.4) (12.8)
Total non-current liabilities  JEEI& E1EE (199.5) (107.8) (94.2) (102.3) - = (16.4) (209)
Net assets BEFE 203.8 186.6 480.9 434.2 - - 130.7 1413
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18 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 18 fEf#EIZARMNIRE (@)
EQUITY METHOD (continued)
(b) Interests in joint ventures (continued) (b) MEELEZEZDS @
Summarised balance sheet (continued) BEEABRRHME @
Schrott und
Metallhandel Scholz Kalischatarra,
M. Kaatsch GmbH Austria GmbH S.deRL deCV. Rematholding Co. s.rl
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
—®-cf _®-"f CZB-SE _Z--F ZEBCDE “Z-"F CZECZE TCCE
HKSM HK$M HKSM HK$M HKSM HK$M HKSM HK$M
BEBBT EEEr BEBT  BEEr EEAT  BEEr  BEARm BEEn
Reconciliation to carrying BREIEHR :
amounts:
Operating net assets R-F—B8
asat 1 January LEEEME 186.6 1846 1342 4072 - 3280 3 167.2
Profit for the year ERER 106 2438 537 749 - 589 (145) 80
Other comprehensive A2 Ak E
income 03 - 21 55 - 0.7 - -
Dividend paid BRRE - (12.7) (21.2) (34.0) - = - (25.5)
Currency translation EREHR
differences 6.3 (10.1) 121 (19.4) - 10.7 3.9 (8.4)
Impairment AE - - - - - (1234) - -
Transfer &z - - - - - (274.9) = =
Closing net assets BREERE 2038 186.6 480.9 4342 - - 130.7 1413
Group's share in % RE@ELR
B 5% 75% 63.35% 63.35% 0% 50% 50% 50%
Group's share in HKSM ~ REETE(S
BEET 152.9 140.0 304.7 275.1 - - 65.4 70.7
Goodwill B 6.3 89 443 829 - - 55 54
Closing carrying value EXRREE 159.2 1489 3490 3180 - - 70.9 76.1

The information above reflects the amounts presented in
the consolidated financial statements of the joint ventures
adjusted for differences in accounting policies between the

Group and the joint ventures.
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R M BERRME
19 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 19 BAFESFABHEZEMSE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS =5
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are all held for BAFEFABRZ EMEESTFE
trading and include the following: BEE SEUT
2023 2022
"= -2
HK$M HK$M
BEET BEAT
Unlisted equity securities JE LT AES
As at 1 January w—RB—H 0.8 0.8
Additions NE 0.1 -
Disposal HE = (3.2)
Fair value change NEEED (0.1) 3.2
As at 31 December w+ZB=+—H 0.8 0.8
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20 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 20
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
comprise equity securities of unlisted entities mainly located in
Czech Republic, Slovenia, Poland and Germany. They are all held
as long-term strategic investments that are not expected to be
sold in the short to medium term and include the following:

BT EFARMEE RS
ZEMEE

BATEFARMEZERDZ SHE
EEEEIBMUNERAME X
et MR EEEIE LB
TS - ZEFEMEESFFESE
HEPHANTEHEZ RAKEMR
& B8ENTEIE!

2023 2022
—E=HF =S

HKS$M HK$M
BEET BE&AT

Unlisted equity securities JE LT AES
As at 1 January w—HB—H 84.8 91.3
Additions RE 0.1 1.0
Fair value change NEBEH) 1.8 (2.6)
Currency exchange differences PERZE%E 0.9 (4.9)
As at 31 December w+ZB=+—H 87.6 84.8

Upon disposal of these unlisted equity securities, any related
balances with the financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income are reclassified to the retained earnings.

Dividend income of HK$0.7 million (2022: HK$5.7 million) from
these unlisted equity securities are recognised in “other income”
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended
31 December 2023 (Note 6).

184 CHIHO ENVIRONMENTAL GROUP LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2023

HEZFIFLHREBSFE  BAF
Eff AEMGEWENERMEENTE
AERMEFIEN D EERE R -

BE_ T =—F+_B=+—HIEF
B rZEELMmRABHMERER
AO7TEEBT (T2 ZF 5788
Bro) RiraERR THAWAL Pl
(MFs6) ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

21 DEFERRED TAXATION

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred
tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date in the countries where the Company’s
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate
on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.

(b) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the
initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also
not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of
the reporting period and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.

21

REMBRRME

EIEIR IR

AEE RN IB R X B IE R RIE TR
B IREEAR A Rm AP BHEE
Hitt2E o PR BT R P s
WIEEAMERRIN -EZBER T R
BRDREAMEE K@ N EREE
PRS-

(a) EBPHAFRSIR

BRSNS BRI A R B F
RE BERBARGERELE
RELERRMEANBRNEE
BEXAHCEMNEE LBE
RN AP E - EEENE
RRTEDIREFTRIERVIE R E
HST R RN WEEA
B T RBFRIARR IR
TBIIR AR TE e ©

(b) EFEFRIFHT
EIEFFSMIMEELRBRZR
BERAREERERTEREVE
BRPHIREEMENGRE
B UEREEFHEEEE R
m> BEERESEEEEND

REE AN ERIELERE
BE-ERIEFMSMIKBERS
(FEEEBEH PHEEXR
BENVIEFES MEXZ KT
FEGHTREHERNELD T
PESCHR  IEIEFR IS I SR B 3R
SHRACEMNEE LEMR
i WERRELFTISNEE
BERMELFAMSREGEERTE
R EEAMEK (RAM) MmiE
Fo
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21 DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

(b) Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those
temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and
tax bases of investments in foreign operations where the
Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the
same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities
are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right
to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Investment allowances and similar tax incentives

Companies within the Group may be entitled to claim
special tax deductions for investments in qualifying assets
or in relation to qualifying expenditure. The Group accounts
for such allowances as tax credits, which means that the
allowance reduces income tax payable and current tax
expense. A deferred tax asset is recognised for unclaimed
tax credits that are carried forward as deferred tax assets.
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21 DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

(b) Deferred income tax (continued)

Investment allowances and similar tax incentives

(continued)

The analysis of deferred income tax assets and deferred

AR e MR R T

21 BRIERIE (B)
(b) EIEFFSIR ()
BERERELRIKEE (@

EIEFRISINE EREIEFFSINE

income tax liabilities is as follows: B2 AW :
2023 2022
=" = ==
HKS$M HK$M
BEATT BEBT
Deferred income tax assets: EIEFRISINEE ©
Deferred tax assets to be recovered #1218 B % Uk[olpy
after 12 months IR IEE B 20.1 45
Deferred tax assets to be recovered  #531218 B A W [ol#Y
within 12 months FIEFRIEE B 42.2 48.0
62.3 SY)
Deferred income tax liabilities: IRIEFTEINEE
Deferred tax liabilities to be settled #1218 2 B4 &/
after 12 months FIERRIEEE (252.9) (257.3)
Deferred tax liabilities to be settled R 12E R REEH
within 12 months EERIEEE (32.5) (23.7)
(8599 (281.0) _
Deferred income tax liabilities, net IEIEFFISIREEFEE (223.1) (228.5)
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T e HmRMEE
21 DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 21 IRIEFRIE (48)
The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during FRIEFISRNEERBRBZEE R
the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of FRE—RBEAEE AR
balances within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows: wmr
Accelerated
Deferred income tax
tax liabilities depreciation Others Total
MEERRIE
IRIEFRIEMAR e Hith st
HK$M HK$M HK$M
BEATT BEAT BEET
As at 1 January 2022 W_Z2-_—_&#—HF—H 264.4 41.4 305.8
Credited to the consolidated REEEE@mRETA
statement of profit or loss (1.9) (6.4) (8.3)
Currency translation differences BE 7 =48 (14.5) (2.0) (16.5)
As at 31 December 2022 RWIEZ-_F+_-H
=+—H 248.0 33.0 281.0
(Credited)/charged to the Pir&Bmk GtA)
consolidated statement of 0Bz
profit or loss (5.1) 4.4 (0.7)
Currency translation differences b2 = RE 5.6 (0.5) 5.1
As at 31 December 2023 RZZ2EZ=+TAH
=+—H 248.5 36.9 285.4

188 CHIHO ENVIRONMENTAL GROUP LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2023



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

21 DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 21 IRIEFRIA (4B)
Decelerate Unrealised
tax profit on
Deferred income tax assets Tax losses depreciation  Provisions  inventories Others Total
HRIE RER
BEFBREE MRIESS e BE  wEEN Hth st
HKIM HKIM HK$M HK$M HK$M HK$M
BEET BEAT EEYE EEY R RN
As at 31 January 2022 RIZZZE-R
=t+-H > 9.2) (12.1) (1.6) (56.0) (78.9)
(Credited)/charged to the RegaBa® Gt/
consolidated statement k%
of profit or loss - (0.1) 78 1.0 12.7 214
Charged to the consolidated REaEM2ENER
statement of other nex
comprehensive income - - - - - -
Currency translation differences ~ BERER - 05 09 03 33 5.0
As at 31 December 2022 RZE-—“&+"R
=t+-H - (8.8) (3.4) (0.3) (40.0) (52.5)
(Credited)/charged to the REsBERE GIA) /
consolidated statement nes
of profit or loss - 2.7 (2.0) 0.1 (2.8) (7.4)
Charged to the consolidated REEEMEANER
statement of other 0%
comprehensive income - - - - - -
Currency translation differences ~ ER = - 5.6 (0.1) 0.2 (8.1) (2.4)
As at 31 December 2023 RZE-=£+"R
=t+-H - (5.9) (5.5) - (50.9) (62.3)

RAB AR FABNIKEB R RE
EEEDRETFATZRERA
W AMZETF AN REHRAE
WWE@%?Dﬁ&ﬁm’ﬁ%lﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
BRafd4s. 788 8T (CE 5
230.35%57@ RZEZ=F+IA4
=t+t—H ' RKELEHNA2,002.958
BT (CET"F11,033.688B7T) ©

The Company controls the dividend policy of its subsidiaries and
the Directors do not have an intention to distribute the retained
earnings of certain subsidiaries such that deferred income tax
liabilities of HK$495.7 million (2022: HK$230.3 million) have
not been recognised for the withholding tax and other taxes
that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of these
subsidiaries. Unremitted earnings amounted to HK$2,002.9
million (2022: HK$1,033.6 million) as at 31 December 2023.
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21

22

DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried
forward to the extent that the realisation of the related tax
benefit through future taxable profits is probable. The Group did
not recognise deferred income tax assets of HK$227.1 million
(2022: HK$410.5 million) in respect of tax losses amounting to
HK$1,180.3 million (2022: HK$1,931.9 million). Unrecognised
tax losses of HK$796.8 million (2022: HK$782.6 million) have
no expiry date and the remaining tax losses will expire at various
dates up to and including 2028 (2022: 2028).

INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average method.
The cost of finished goods comprises raw materials, direct labour,
other direct costs and related production overheads. It excludes
borrowing costs. Cost of inventories also includes gains and losses
on qualifying fair value hedge in respect of inventories designated
as hedged items. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling
expenses.

21

22

ﬁﬁﬁ ( l\ﬁ)

NATIEHEE 2 RIEREEREIIE
Fﬁ méﬁf'lﬁﬁuﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁaﬂ
EEBHBZESRNEANERES
BE AREBWEMRRIELEET,180.38
EBEHET(CE2H :1,931.9888
70) BEeRiRIE PRSI E E227 1B BB T
(CE-_F 1410588 BTT) o KiE
BIIEEE79%6.88E BT (TE -
E 782 6E&EAE ) WEEMBAR m
BRTREGEBENR-_ZZNE(CE

::E TECN\E) BEZS) @z
BIZAEHEEm -
T—l:

FERMARTEFEFEMEN 2R
RESAR o A LUNIE T IDEEE © A
mZRARERMH -BERF T RE
thEEREREREERER T
BREEEMRET - FERETEEEE
RENPEENFEZGERATEY
R I KBS 1R o BT IR FERE LA
EEGBET A EBREBERZ
BEINER RIS 2 #ER-

2023 2022

== ==
HK$M HK$M
BEATT BEATT
Raw materials FErti 159.5 210.2
Finished goods RAL 1,552.7 1,113.5
1,712.2 1,323.7

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in cost
of sales amounted to HK$13,273.6 million (2022: HK$16,216.2
million), which included a net reversal of impairments on
inventory of HK$23.8 million (2022: provision of impairment
HK$33.6 million) (Note 8).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has pledged inventories
with a net book value of HK$1,098.6 million (2022: HK$1,006.1
million) to secure certain borrowings and general facilities to the
Group (Note 35).
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23 TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade and bills receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. If collection of trade, bills and other receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of
the business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not,
they are presented as non-current assets.

The Group holds trade, bills and other receivables with the
objective to collect the contractual cash flows. Accordingly, trade,
bills and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less loss allowance.

Trade, bills and other receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery.

Impairment losses on trade, bills and other receivables are
presented as net impairment losses in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited against the same line item.

23

REMBRRME

B5 - RiE R HEthEURIE

B RRBRRRIERTHBERB
BEhpEmidE iR ERBmERE
FHIRIR 58 5~ BRI E MUK
ERNWREFERAE —F AR (FEE
R ABEFERCEBRAN) » AR
DEASRBEE SADELAIERS
HE-

FEBEFAES  BEREREME YR
B BEEBIENRERE ALt &
2 REKREMBWRBENATEN
YRRERY > HR M BB RN KA L EH
PRAINRBIR A E -

BN FEINRENSIEERE 5
REREMEURIRS T LU o

B 5 REKHEMEWRIEN R ERS
BRGEERER2I R AERIER
&8 o H 12 UR[ol 55 Al B M EH 9 s B R 51
AR—ER-

2023 2022
—E=HF =

HKS$M HK$M
BEATT BEET
Trade receivables B 5 M’ WIS 1,434.7 1,312.5
Less: loss allowance T ESIE R (27.3) (38.3)
Trade receivables, net B EWTIEFEE 1,407.4 1,274.2
Bills receivables R EE 10.2 16.3
Deposits and prepayments Y& KM TENRUIE 134.6 123.7
Deposits paid for purchase of raw materials B &Rkl > BT % 20.9 18.9
VAT recoverable PR EDEER 105.9 108.1
Other receivables (Note) HithggEweana (sE) 113.1 109.9
1,792.1 1,651.1

Less: non-current portion A IEREE D
Other deposits and receivables Hthiz & K e (7.5) (10.8)
1,784.6 1,640.3
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23 TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23
(continued)

Note: As at 31 December 2023, the balance included a receivable of HK$41.9
million (2022: HK$42.5 million) from the Taizhou Bay Committee, a
government authority in the PRC.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has pledged trade
receivables with a net book value of HK$1,236.5 million (2022:
HK$969.0 million) to secure certain borrowings and general
banking facilities to the Group (Note 35).

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the aging analysis of the
gross trade receivables based on invoice date was as follows:

B 5 E ik R Lt AR

(#8)

Wi : R =F+"/B=+—01  &HaiE
REPEBNERANEEEERITRIE
MIBEBBT (CE-_F 425588

7T) e

N B ZE+-_H=+—H K&
BAREFES,236588 8T (CE
TTFI99.088 BT ZEIRFES
EURFRIE MU RAEEERNE T
B —RRIRTTREE (MI5E35) ©

N _E_=FERZFE__F+°AH
=+t—H BRRMERERER

BEARARES AT T ¢

2023 2022

—EZ= -2
HK$M HK$M
BEATT BERHBT
0 - 90 days 0F90H 1,350.5 1,258.6
91 - 180 days 91E180H 36.4 18.1
Over 180 days #B:8180H 47.8 35.8
1,434.7 1,312.5

(a) Fair values of trade receivables

Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables,
their carrying amounts are considered to approximate their
fair values.
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23 TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23
(continued)

(b)

Impairment and risk exposure

The Group measures the expected credit losses on the
trade and bills receivables by grouping them based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.
The Group has divided the trade and bills receivables into
three groups shared with similar credit risk characteristics
based on geographical locations which are Asia, Europe
and North America. The expected loss rates are estimated
based on the historical credit losses experienced, adjusted
to reflect differences between economic conditions during
the period over which the historic data has been collected,
current conditions and the Group’s view of forward-looking
economic conditions. On that basis, the loss allowances
as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 were determined as

REMBRRME

B 5 RiE R HEthEULRIE

(ll‘g

(b)

)

BT R A
FERRBABEERRITE K
BEARBLE 7 KRB R
MNIRAEEERETHEE.
FEEDRBEDM BUNKRILE
NEIHIR (I B B 5 T RIRFEUR
MEDHEBERLUEERBRE
=4 - BB RXEREEE
R R 5T WS AR LR
W £ FE SL B L B RS 2 AR O3
IR B IR T8 e A= B2 [ A B 1 A R
MERRZER-RBILEE
TR CERCECF+ R
= +t—BpEREEETENT -

follows:
Gross carrying
amount
Expected - trade and bills Loss
credit loss rate receivables allowances
BEREE
FRHEE —BoRER
| 5pES FE R IE o=t
HK$M HK$SM
BEAT BREAT
As at 31 December 2023 NZEZ=F+"H8
=+—H
Active accounts TEEBRR P
Current TE 0.1% 1,075.8 0.5
Past due 1 - 30 days BEAE30K 1.7% 221.1 3.8
Past due 31 - 90 days BEA31E90K 2.5% 35.4 0.9
Past due over 90 days BERBEI0K 18.6% 98.7 18.4
Terminated accounts HKIEERA 100% 3.7 3.7
Total st 1,434.7 27.3
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iR e B IRRMEE

23 TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23 B3 FERHMEWRIE
(continued) =)
(b) Impairment and risk exposure (continued) (b) AERREEE (B

Gross carrying

amount
Expected - trade and bills Loss
credit loss rate receivables allowances
REIREE
BHAEE -BSRER
BiEx e FIE EiERE
HK$M HK$M
BEET BEET
As at 31 December 2022 W_E__F+_H
=+—H
Active accounts EIBRR P
Current E 0.2% 993.2 2.2
Past due 1 - 30 days BEE30KR 5.2% 238.5 12.4
Past due 31 - 90 days BHA31E0K 12.4% 25.9 32
Past due over 90 days BHAEIBI0K 32.0% 50.6 16.2
Terminated accounts KIFERE 100% 43 43
Total Hact 1,312.5 38.3
Loss allowances on terminated accounts are mostly from RIFERPIGBIEBEADRE
the Asia region and majority of the loss allowances on TEHh & > mIE AR P IR 1R 5
active accounts are from the Europe and North America & K BB 93 2k B BROM A0 36 3 0
regions. S o

FEME SRR BIREE
ZEEBERNT

Movements on the Group’s loss allowance of trade
receivables are as follows:

2023 2022
"= -2

HK$M HK$M

BEET BEBT

As at 1 January w—B—H 38.3 55.4

Reversal in loss allowance recognised B3 k5 18 5 5 2 [0] (5.9) (0.6)
Receivables written off during FARMIEERRUEZ

the year as uncollectable FEW TR IE - (12.6)

Currency translation differences PE R = RE (5.1) (3.9)

As at 31 December w+ZB=+—H 27.3 383
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R M BERRME
23 TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23 B5 - REKRHMEWRIE
(continued) =)
(b) Impairment and risk exposure (continued) (b) AERREEE (@)
As at 31 December 2023, provision for impairments A =F+"HA=+—8"
on other receivables and prepayments amounted to L 8 ISR TE e TR AT SR TR R (B 4
approximately HK$18.7 million (2022: HK$18.5 million). ERGIsTEEAT (T2

F 18588 AET) °

The other classes within trade, bills and other receivables do B EEREMERRIBERE
not contain impaired assets. The Group does not hold any MR AEEEREEE &K
collateral as security. EETESEEAIKRREE
fRo
The carrying amounts of the Group's trade receivables, net NEB T B 5 EWRIE (0RE
of provision, are denominated in the following currencies: ) ZREETL U T EEEHE !
2023 2022
—EZ=F =
HKS$M HK$M
BEEAT BEEAT
Renminbi (“"RMB") ARE TARI) 70.7 101.6
Euro ("EUR") Erc (TBR7Ty) 1,078.1 957.1
United States dollar (“US$") FEt (M%&) 189.8 130.0
Other currencies HiEHE 68.8 85.5
1,407.4 1,274.2
The carrying amounts of the Group's other receivables are RWZEB2_=F+"R=+—H>
mainly denominated in RMB, EUR, US$ and Polish Zloty REBHEMBURIEZ BREEE
("PLN") (2022: RMB, EUR, US$ and PLN) as at 31 December ZLUARE BT ETROKE
2023. R (@R CE2T 248!
AR BT ETTRLAER) 51
o
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e MR R MR

24 ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 24 IFEHEEE

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying
amounts will be recovered principally through a sales transaction
rather than through continuing use. For this to be the case, the
asset must be available for immediate sale in its present condition
subject only to terms that are usual and customary for the sale
of such assets or disposal groups and its sale must be highly
probable. All assets and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as
a disposal group are reclassified as held for sale regardless of
whether the Group retains a non-controlling interest in its former
subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current non-financial assets classified as held for sale are
measured at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair values
less costs to sell. Property, plant and equipment, intangible
assets and right-of-use assets classified as held for sale are not
depreciated or amortised.

WIFRPHEENREEREIEZRBY
EXZMIFEBREERREE Al
DERFFHEEE - RILEBER T
BERENTRTTAMEILALE (2
AEBTHEIEEENHEHENN—
RRABERR) BHE L E TR MK
ReDBER/EEMERNNFARNMRA
EERBEHEMDEAFFLHE
BRAEEESNLERFREHEAF
NCIESE SRR

DEAFELHENFERFENE
B REREEE R TERHERE
FHREEFE - DEARKFLEERN
ME - -BEhRE BLEERERRE
BERFETHEN#HE

2023 2022
ZEZ= -

HKS$M HK$M
BEATT BEET
Property, plant and equipment (Note (i) Y BB Rk (MIEE3)) 49.4 59.3
Right-of-use assets (Note (ii)) ERREEE (FEki)) 2.3 2.3
Interests in joint ventures (Note (iii)) REE R R GEEEi) = 129.1
51.7 190.7

Representing: 5!
Assets held for sale FIEHEEE 51.7 190.7
51.7 190.7
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FEMBERRME
24 ASSETS HELD FOR SALE (continued) 24 FEHEEE @)
Movements on the Group’s assets and liabilities held for sales are FEREFFHEEERBRZEHE
as follows: T
2023 2022
—EB=F ==
HKS$M HK$M
BEET BE&AT
As at 1 January w—RB—H 190.7 167.0
Transfers from: = I
— Investment accounted for using the —FREREARZ
equity method (Note 18) % & (EE18) - 152.5
Transfers to: BigE
— Property, plant and equipment, net of -ME - BB KREE
impairments NFRAE (6.4) -
Disposals HeE (134.7) (113.2)
Impairment PERIE] (15.2) =
Currency translation differences PE R ZE%E 17.3 (15.6)
51.7 190.7
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e MR R MR

24 ASSETS HELD FOR SALE (continued)

Notes:

@

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The balance as at 31 December 2023 represented certain plant and
equipment located in Asia with a net book value of HK$51.7 million (2022:
HK$50.2 million and HK$9.1 million in Asia and Europe respectively).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group disposed of certain
plant and equipment located in Europe with a net book value of HK$3.1
million (2022: HK$9.5 million). Remaining assets held for sale located in
Europe with a net book value of HK$6.4 million was transferred back to
property, plant and equipment (Note 14) as at 31 December 2023.

The balance represented certain leased lands with a net book value of HK$2.3
million (2022: HK$2.3 million) located in Asia as at 31 December 2023.

The balance represented the investments in joint ventures located in Mexico
with a net book value of HK$129.1 million as at 31 December 2022. Such
asset held for sales was disposed of during the year ended 31 December 2023
with a sales price of HK$140.7 million.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recognised a gain an
disposals of assets held for sale of HK$6.0 million (2022: HK$156.7 million) in
“other gain, net” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (Note 7).
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24 FHEHEERE (@)

CEE

0]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

RIBZ=ZF+"A=+—HNHEHKE
UREMNETHE R&ZH REFES
S51.7EBET(CRI_F  TMKREND
AS0.2EBBTKITERETT) °

RBEE_Z-_=F+"B=+—HLHF
B AEEBHEMRENNE THRER
R REFEAIIBERET (TR
F 195888 - RIZT=F+"A4
=+—B > REFEACATEBTHUR
BN ELENRREEELEME K
BR&E (fsE14)

BEHRER 2 _=F+-_A=+—80K=E
FEA23HEST (T2 2F 2388
BT MR NS THEE L o

EHRIENBAINEECENRE P
B _HE+RB=+—HEREFES
129158 BT - BRFEHENEEDR
HEST=F+"HA=+—HILEEH
& EEAI140TEEBTT

RBEE_Z-_=F+"BA=+—HLHF
B AEERGREERR HA 358
FREAEEREHEEENRGFZCOBE AT
T2 TF 156788 BT (MET) o



25 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

M RRME

ll-'=

25 TEEMTIA

2023 2022
—EZ= —EITHF
HK$M HK$M
BHEAT BN
Derivative financial assets TTEEmEE
Hedging derivatives — metal commodities ¥ HHTE T E—BE &
future contracts (Note (i)) BEEH (EEE)) 8.1 6.1
Trading derivatives — foreign currency RBTETR -
forward contracts (Note (ii)) B4 (MFEEG)) 8.4 11.0
16.5 171
Derivative financial liabilities TEERaRE
Hedging derivatives — metal commodities ¥ fT4 TE—SEE @
future contracts (Note (i)) BEEH (FEE)) (17.1) (14.9)
— Interest rate swap contracts (Note (ii)) —%'J?.ATE,HH =49 (I EEGin) (0.6) =
Trading derivatives — foreign currency RBTETR -
forward contracts (Note (ii)) a5 (MIEEG)) (1.1) (0.2)
(18.8) (15.1)

Notes:

(i) Hedging derivatives - metal commodities future contracts

The Group enters into copper and other metal future contracts in order

to manage its exposure to the price risk of inventories. All these metal
commodities future contracts are designated as hedges of the fair values of
the commodities held by the Group (fair value hedges). These contracts are

actively traded in an active market and are measured at fair values based
on quoted price as at reporting date, with gain or loss recognised directly in
consolidated statement of profit or loss, together with any changes in the fair

value of the hedged commodities that are attributable to the hedged risk.

The notional principal amount of the outstanding metal commodities future

contracts was approximately HK$284.3 million (2022: HK$135.7 million) as at

31 December 2023.

Py 5E -

(i)

BIRMAEEFRAR

HA

HAfTETA-ZBERMESH

FEEFJURARAtESBHRESLN UE
BHEENERAR FIEZSEBEM
PEEHNRIEERSEEMFEERATE
B (ATFEEMN) - ZEAMNNERT
BREFRIRENBES AR REEA
FEFE IR R E R RRERN
%%}“FPF@E.‘:ZEWQEFE@@?’E}%E%%
Hi8am R

RIBEZ=F+"A=+—H *x&EHE=

BERBEEANREELETEA2843
BEBT (CEITF 1 135.78887T) ©
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e MR R MR

4= = ==
25 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 25 TTEEMTIA @)

(continued)

Notes: (continued) MiEE © (48)

(i) Hedging derivatives — metal commodities future contracts (continued) (i) HATETA-sEBERBESH (@
The following table contains details of the hedging instrument used in the TREEVRBI=ZF+A=+—80XK
Group's hedging strategy as at 31 December 2023: EEE PRI ANE AT RS

Carrying Hedging
amount of gain Hedge
hedging adjusted  ineffectiveness
instrument, against recognised in
Term net inventories profit or loss
HHITH BEEREN RIB TR
k-3 SREEE Eapll 6 Bk
HK$SM HK$M HK$M
BEET BEET BEET
As at 31 December 2023
RZZ2Z=F+-RA=+—H
Fair value hedges NFEEHAH 3 months (8.9) 8.9 S
=1@a
As at 31 December 2022
RZZ2Z_&+-A=+—H
Fair value hedges NEEEAH 3 months (8.8) 8.0 S
=1@a
The following table contains details of the hedged items under the Group’s TREGVR B =ZF+A=+—H=RK
hedging strategy as at 31 December 2023: ERENETRERIBETHNERREEFE
2023 2022
—T=HF S
HK$M HK$M
BEAET BEBT
Carrying amount of the hedged item EHAHIER ZREE
Accumulated amount of fair value hedge BEIPIEE AT EEPREEN
adjustments on the hedged item included Rt £ GtAEEFIEE REE)
in the carrying amount of the hedged item 8.9 8.0
Net carrying amount of the hedged item SFATFENEHNIEBRERE
included in the inventories as recognised (RirEEEBBERTRED)
in the consolidated balance sheet 465.8 334.2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

Notes: (continued)
(ii) Trading derivatives - foreign currency forward contracts

The Group entered into foreign currency forward contracts in order to
mitigate its exposure to the foreign currency risk. These contracts were
measured at fair value using quoted forward exchange rates at the end of
the reporting period, with gain or loss recognised directly in consolidated
statement of profit or loss within ‘other gains, net’.

The notional principal amount of the outstanding foreign currency forward
contracts were approximately HK$536.6 million (2022: HK$327.5 million).

(iii) Interest swap contracts

The Group entered into interest rate swap contracts in order to mitigate its
exposure to the interest risk. These contracts were measured at fair value
using observed yield curves at the end of the reporting period, with gain
or loss recognised directly in consolidated statement of profit or loss. The
notional principle amount of the outstanding interest rate swap contracts was
approximately HK$86.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
Nil).

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS, RESTRICTED
BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to
cash, subjected to insignificant risk of change in value and with
a maturity of three months or less from date of investment, and
bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in
current liabilities on the statement of financial position.

Pledged bank deposits represent deposits pledged to banks to
secure general banking facilities granted to the Group. Deposits
amounting to HK$1.2 million (2022: HK$43.0 million) have been
pledged to secure bank borrowings, and are therefore classified
as current assets (Note 35).

Restricted bank deposits represent the restricted cash of HK$3.8
million (2022: HK$9.3 million) placed in bank accounts in Polska.
These funds are specifically designated as restricted cash for the
settlement of tax related issues.

25

26

REMBRRME

TTEEMI A (@

)]
(i) RBUTEIASIMEEREY

A8 MET SN IR B A A9 LUBE S BB L
BeZEANNREMAEAENRREE
RBPANTEFE HRERERNESE
AR TE At U o P 8 R T

KEHIBRBEONBERSENS
536 6EEBABT(CE-_HF 3275888

7T) e
(i)  FIREHMEL

FAEMBIT UM EERAL  LURER X
Rk ZEEORRESMREABERMAT
ZSMEBRATESE ERBEEER
GABRERER -BE_T_=F+_A
—+—HBLEFE - REENMNEXIEHS
HNBBRAEERN86IEBET (CT
ZTE o

ERIRIR1TER - ZIRFIIR
TERRRERREEEER
=]

ReRESEEHEAOERTRTE
B RITREMMBREZEHE
o EM SRR RE KR E
ARERSRARS BELDABRT
X B RS A PR =EARBER
RIPZUHE BRSBTS - BT B 31
ABBRREZADEFE T 2R
e

ERFIRITERIEARITIHRBEUASE
EEERN—RIBTEEFERNE
ReEFRI2EEBEBT (CTET2F !
43.05 B8 7T) BIRRERITERIE
R EIW S EAREEE (isE35) ©

ZREBITEREFARBRITR
FHRNZRHEIRE3IEEET (CF
TTHFI93ERAT -RFETRE
AIEERRREIFE > BUBRIRE
THRARIRE

ERRFEERRAR —BEZFFR
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iR E B IRRMIEE
26 PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS, RESTRICTED 26 BIRIFIRITEM ZIRHIER
R A =% 5y
BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND CASH TEMRRRERAEEFEE
EQUIVALENTS (continued) B (#&)
Cash and cash equivalents represent cash and short-term bank fﬁﬁ&fﬁﬁ%@lﬁg??’?ﬂ%ﬁ B&=
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. BRI T BIRE RATRIRITER °
2023 2022
—_E-= —_EFE_
HK$M HK$M
BEET BEET
Cash at bank and on hands IRITAFHEREE 366.5 705.6
Security deposit (Note) ReEE (WD) - 8.1
Total cash and cash equivalents as per FeRERERZRER
consolidated statement of cash flows HEEEBEEEE 366.5 713.7
Note: The balance represents deposits placed with financial institutions as security Wizt . BRETASHBEBEARGESES R
for open metal commodity future contracts. The security deposits are non- HEANBERNEZES - RIBSH TR
interest bearing.
27 SHARE CAPITAL 27 &
Numbers
of shares Share capital
K& E R s
(Thousands) HK$M
(T BEAT
Authorised share capital EER A
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each as at RIE--“F—F—Q8-
1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, B "FE4+"A=+—82-
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 “ZZ-F—HF—Hk
“E=F+ZA=+—HZ
SREE.BITZ ZER 5,000,000 50
Issued and fully paid BETRERE
As at 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, = —=y = = N
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 B F+ZRA=+—H8"
“ET-FE-A—HK
ZE=F+ZHA=+—H 1,605,152 16.1
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OTHER RESERVES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e MR R T

28 HthfzkE

Foreign
Capital Statutory Enterprise  Remeasurement ~ Remeasurement currency
Share redemption Capital general expansion on financial of pension translation
premium reserve reserve reserve fund assets plans reserve Total
) ) BNt EfiE )
RiER  RAREHE Ratih  EE-REE  CEIRES EHEE BREsl  SRERRR @t
HKSM HK$M HK$M HKSM HKM HK$M HK$M HKSM HKSM
BE%R BEET BEET BEET BEET BEET BEET BEET BEET
(Note (i) (Note (i) (Note (i)
() GEI)] ()
Asat 1 January 2022 RZE-"%-F-R 59119 03 4 107.1 107.1 (39 (13) 3615 6,704.1
Currenqy translation differences  ESNEHZERER
on foreign operations - - - - - - - (316.2) (316.2)
Change in fair value of RATEFARMEEREZ
financial assets at fai value SHEEZATEED
through other comprehensive MhiE
income, net of tax - - - - - (26) - - (26)
Remeasurement of post-employment X3t BEEERRHKE
benefit obligations, net of tax BHEE NBRE - - - - - - 08 - 08
Share of other comprehensive income EEfE&E 0% 2 Ef2ElE
of joint ventures - - - - - - 38 - 38
As at 31 December 2022 RIBZZE+ZAZ+-A 59119 03 n14 107.1 107.1 (6.5 33 453 6,389.9
Asat 1 January 2023 RZB-=5-A-RB 59119 03 m4 107.1 1071 (6.5) 33 453 6,389.9
Curency translation differences ~ BNERZERER
on foreign operations - - - - - - - 124 124
Change in fair value of RATEARMRERGZ
financial asets at far value SHEEZATERY
through other comprehensive il
income, net of tax - - - - - 18 - - 18
Remeasurement of post-employment Bt EREEREHH
benefit obligations, net of tax BHED NBRE - - - - - - 08 - 08
Share of other comprehensive EfagrEz 22 ENE
income of joint ventures = o - - - - 16 - 14
As at 31 December 2023 RZB-ZE+-R=+-H 59119 03 m4 107.1 1071 ((%)] 57 157.7 6,506.5
Notes: e
(i) Capital reserve represents the sum of (a) the difference between the nominal (i) BAEERQAIRBDNR_ETN\FEAE
value of the aggregate share capital and share premium of the subsidiaries HRFTNE T AR A M R EREY
acquired by the Company upon a group reorganisation in 2008 and the EEERNABS MR ERETRMZEE
nominal value of the Company's shares issued in exchange and (b) a HNEERO -ZZE—ZSFERKRREERZ
capitalisation of shareholders’ loans in 2010. 48700
(ii) Statutory general reserve and enterprise expansion fund represent the (ii) KABFEFRABNEHRERBARE

appropriation of 10% of profit after tax determined based on the relevant
accounting rules and regulations of the PRC as required by the Articles
of Association of the Company's PRC subsidiaries. The appropriation may
cease to apply if the balance of the statutory general reserve and enterprise
expansion fund has reached 50% of the PRC subsidiaries’ registered capital.
The statutory general reserve and enterprise expansion fund can be used to
make up prior year losses or to increase share capital.

BERIRREEERAR

BAREPEAME SRR EREER R
MEBEFN0%BAEE —REFEREEE
REZ -HEE—REBEREEZERES
BRERERE F AR M EAB50%  AET
RIEBE - FE—REFRLCEZRES
AARBRBEFEBBRIIEMARE
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e MR R MR

29 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

30

29 JEEERGfEm

Share of net liabilities of

subsidiaries

EEFATAGETFE

2023 2022
=F == -

HK$M HK$M
BEHBT BEAT
As at 1 January n—B—H (43.5) (14.4)
Transactions with non-controlling interests B2 JEIERR R ET 25 - 5.7
Share of loss for the year, net FREGEEREE (9.9) (27.1)
Share of other comprehensive loss, net FEEEMEEmEEEF (3.6) (7.7)
As at 31 December W+-B=+—H (57.0) (43.5)

BORROWINGS

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised
cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss over the period of the borrowings
using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee
is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it
relates.
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BIUE M Z 2T U B RA KA B

ARG Em R -

8 BB 9 80 2 BB 15 B 1R PJ SE R A FR BN >
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REMBRRME

30 BORROWINGS (continued)

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at

least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

30 &%k (48)

ERDBARBER HAEEAE
HHEANEEEEEEANERSH
K D12EHERI -

2023 2022
ZEZ= —F_—
HKS$M HK$M
BEATT BEBTT
Non-current JETR
Bank borrowings IRITIERR 116.6 111.3
Current el
Bank borrowings RITIE 410.5 286.1
Other borrowings (Note i) HEsk (sE) 376.0 744.7
786.5 1,030.8
Total borrowings fERR4E%E 903.1 1,142.1

Bank borrowings mature at various dates up to 2028 (2022:
2025) and bear average coupons ranging from 0.9% to 12% per

annum (2022: 0.9% to 12% per annum).

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group’s bank and other

borrowings were repayable as follows:

RITEFNAREABHIE EE-F
TN\NEAL(CEZ . -E_-F"
F) > FHEMFNENF09%E12%
(CEZZF  FHEI%E12%) ©

NW_E2_=Fxk_ZF__F+°A8
=+—H xERRTREAMERZ
BRBERAOT

Bank borrowings Other borrowings Total
BITER Hitifig R st
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
2= —E-C 2= —E-C —E-=f CZECC
HKSM HK$M HKSM HK$M HKSM HK$M
BEAT EBE8dnx BEExT BBEn  BHEBRT BEERD
Within 1 year —FR 410.5 286.1 376.0 744.7 786.5 1,030.8
Between 1 and 2 years —EmF 81.3 88.8 - - 81.3 83.8
Between 2 and 5 years MERE 35.3 22.5 - - 35.3 22.5
116.6 111.3 - - 116.6 111.3
527.1 397.4 376.0 744.7 903.1 1,142.1
BRRAREESRAT —T=FFR
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30 BORROWINGS (continued)

The carrying amounts of the bank and other borrowings are
denominated in the following currencies:

30 &%k (48)

$R1T R EL M RN 2 R AT DA T 5 B
MEEHE :

2023 2022

—E-= - -

HK$M HK$M

BEAT BEET

EUR BLIT 74.2 452
us$ EPar 376.0 768.2
RMB AR 187.6 163.6
Czech Koruna ("CZK") HR R (R 235.4 164.9
PLN LR 29.9 0.2
903.1 1,142.1

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had aggregate facilities of
approximately HK$3,379.4 million (2022: HK$3,541.7 million)
for loans, factoring and guarantees. Unused facilities as at the
same date amounted to approximately HK$1,207.0 million (2022:
HK$1,135.8 million) which were uncommitted facilities. These
facilities are secured/guaranteed by certain properties, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, investment properties, inventories,
trade receivables, assets held for sale and bank deposits with an
aggregate amount of HK$4,418.6 million (2022: HK$3,722.9
million) (Note 35).
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30 BORROWINGS (continued)

Note i

Note ii:

Included in other borrowings was a Syndicated Term Loan drawn down in
2018 with a principal balance of HK$376.0 million (2022: HK$742.4 million)
as at 31 December 2023. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group repaid a repayment instalment of HK$92.1 million after the due
date, which constituted an event of default under the Syndicated Term Loan
agreement. According to the loan agreement, such event of default gives
the lender of the Syndicated Term Loan the right to demand for immediate
repayment of any outstanding Syndicated Term Loan balances. Furthermore,
the outstanding balance of Syndicated Term Loan amounted to HK$376.0
million as of 31 December 2023 was due on 30 March 2024 for which the
Group has not repaid and this also constituted another event of default
under the Syndicated Term Loan agreement. Consequently, on 2 April 2024,
the Company received a Demand Letter from the lender of the Syndicated
Term Loan for immediate repayment of the outstanding loan balance and
the applicable default interest.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s subsidiary in Czech Republic could
not meet certain restrictive financial undertakings of a current bank
borrowing with outstanding balance of HK$91.5 million. In early 2024,
the aforesaid subsidiary obtained a waiver letter from the relevant bank in
respect of such non-compliance of restrictive financial undertakings.

The carrying amounts of the borrowings approximate their fair

values.
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31 LEASE LIABILITIES

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on
a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value
of the following lease payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less
any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate;

° amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the lessee exercising that option.

Lease payment to be made under reasonably certain extension
options are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease. If that rate cannot be determined, the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the lessee
would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an
asset of similar value in a similar economic environment with
similar terms and conditions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

o where possible, uses recent third-party financing received
by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to
reflect changes in financing conditions since third party
financing was received;

o uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest
rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by the Group
entity, which does not have recent third-party financing;
and

o makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, country,
currency and security.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future
lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, or
there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected
to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or there is a
change arising from the reassessment of whether the Group
will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this
way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change in
the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract (“lease modification”)
that is not accounted for as a separate lease. In this case the lease
liability is remeasured based on the revised lease payments and
lease term using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
the modification.

31

REMBRRME

HE&E @
BETIRBERAE A EH

o  TEHREBERT EAMERNEEAA
RIFESHNE=ARMESNER
TEHERE U R R B R B BT
FZIRMERNEY

o HINABRESE=FSRMETAH
EEERAMFANEE  ERAMU
BRRANRDHEMNRME
THHEENEERRIFHHBEE
b

e HHEBETHEERE HIMSA
MR~ BZ ~ B R iR

EENTRR A& MM B4 2 EFS
DE-MBRAEEERBAG AR
m St ER B e ARENE TS
AR E o

(GEEE ERIES - LR E P RN EN
28 ArERERBENFEERFR

EERERAERETEBE ERN
RIPEERENERT G HRES A
ENMTEHEER - EREEEMNIL
ARENFE MERREENRE
EffHARREE JHEREEEDN
REERES AIRGERE@ETA
fRe

EHEREXEEHARIFLERE
EARNEESHPRELETIRN
HMENBRE2E (TEEET) &8l
NEEMFEHERE-FEILBERT
BEaRREBEEIIHEMNRKES
HAMR  EAEETRIRRIMEST £
MEEHTE-

ERRFEERRAR —BEZFFR

209



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

31 LEASE LIABILITIES (continued) 31

The Group leases various land and land use rights, property,
plant and equipment (Note 15). Rental contracts are typically
made for fixed periods of 1 to 62 years but may have extension
options. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants.

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of
the Group's lease liabilities as at 31 December 2023 and 2022:

HERE @

FEBAERAL R T MERE-
M Bs Rt (HP5E15) - HEEHY
BEIJE-ERT_FENEEMHR
Ve B] B B L BIE A o M B IR RURME
REEETERD B3 2BTENRK
TR A A o 7 B 19 5% 3 4 IR 0 A fy 22

ik

hHo

TRITRAEREAEAEN T "=
FRZZZ_F+RB=+—HZHK
TEMNIEER

2023 2022
—F_-= e
HKS$M HK$M
BEEAT BEEAT
Gross lease liabilities HEaERTE
— minimum lease payments —REREMR
No later than 1 year TR —5 127.2 130.4
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years ER—EBTNERAE 233.3 176.4
Later than 5 years BRAF 56.8 45.0
417.3 351.8
Future finance charges on leases FENRKMESH (55.5) (39.8)
Present value of lease liabilities HEaENRE 361.8 312.0
The present value of lease HEaENREWNT :
liabilities is as follows:
No later than 1 year TEBR—%F 114.8 119.9
Later than 1 year BR—F 247.0 192.1
361.8 312.0
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31 LEASE LIABILITIES (continued) 31 HE&E @)
Interest expenses on lease liabilities of HK$14.3 million (2022: HEaGZMERZ1438EET &
HK$11.2 million) was charged to finance cost for the year ended ZTTHFINN28ERT) BEAAEE
31 December 2023 (Note 10). _E_=F+_A=+—HLEEEZ

R#ERA (MIEE10) ©

The total cash outflow for leases was HK$123.5 million (2022: BE_E_=F+"/B=+—HItHF
HK$194.7 million) for the year ended 31 December 2023. EZHERESRHEIEA123588%8
T(CBEZF 194788 BTT) °
32 RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS 32 BRAEFIFE
The table below outlines where the Group's post-employment TREMAERMSFAGFETBERERZ
amounts and activity are included in the consolidated financial BEARIRBE L EREREH -
statements.
2023 2022
—EZ= BT
HK$M HK$M
BEATT BEET

Consolidated balance sheet obligations for: &5 B EEBERFLUT

RIEZEF

Defined benefit plans (Note (b)) FEBHIFTE FEEb)) 9.8 11.1
Consolidated statement of profit or loss REBmRMWUAT

charges included in operating profit for: FIEFTALE RH 22 !

Defined contribution plans (Note (a)) REMAKETE (HI5E@Q)) (52.6) (50.9)

Defined benefit plans (Note (b)) REGHEE (zE(b)) - -

(52.6) (50.9)

Remeasurements for: MU TRIBEZEMFE .

Defined benefit plans (Note (b)) RERA B (F5E D)) 0.8 0.8
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32 RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (continued) 32 EAREFIEE (B

(a) Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a couple of defined contribution plans
which receive fixed contributions from group companies.
The Group’s legal or constructive obligation for these plans
is limited to the contributions. The expense recognised
in the current year in relation to these contributions was
HK$52.6 million (2022: HK$50.9 million).

(b) Defined benefit plans

The Group operates several defined benefit pension plans
for selected former and active employees of the Group's
certain subsidiaries in Germany. The plans provide benefits
in the form of a guaranteed level of pension payable for
life. The plans are mostly financed by the Group’s internal
resources. A part of the plans is covered by plans assets in
the form of reinsurance policies.

The Group's major plans are valued by qualified actuaries
annually using the projected unit credit method. The
amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet are

(a)

(b)

REMARETE
REERELEATEHEE
HEEEATWEERE IR &
EEMZEAE AT RET
SEUERAR - AEERZSE
HRRER S A52.68 88T
(CBZZF 5098 HET) o

FRERFEHE
FEERAERRERNETF
NENREERERTEESE
FETRERFBAEFE &%
S RMHEREZKIEES
BR - ZEFBABOHEER
REPE R E - M F5t 818D
MUBRERETL AN EE
(=X

FEEZFTB2HEEFRTER
BHEMERBEREULREAR
BE-REAEERBRAERZ

determined as follows: FEEDNERUTAAETE -

2023 2022
—T=F ==
HK$M HK$M
BEET BEEAT
Present value of funded obligations B@EMEENIREE - =
Present value of unfunded obligations E@EBEERIRE 9.8 11.1
Fair value of plan assets FEBEENAFE - S
Liabilities in the consolidated balance #F&EEEBXRNAEE

sheet 9.8 1.1
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32 RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (continued) 32 EAREFEE (@)

(b) Defined benefit plans (continued) (b) REEFEE @
The movement in the present values of defined benefit FARERNETNIRE A
obligations and fair value of plan assets over the year is as BENATFEZSHNOT -
follows:
2023
—EZ=
Present
value of
defined Fair value
benefit of plan
obligations assets Total
RERF HEIEEMN
BEAMRE ATE it
HK$M HK$M HK$M
BEHBT BEAT BEAT
As at 1 January ®—B—H 111 - 1.1
Current service cost SHRBMAE = = -
Interest expense FISRE% 03 - 0.3
Interest income FI WA - = =
(Gain/loss on settlement 78 (kR /B8 - = =
114 - 114
Remeasurements: BHHE:
Effects from change in BIREEHNTE

discount rates = = -
Effect from changes in financial ~ B BERESHNFE

assumptions (0.4) = (0.4)
Effect from other experienced AR EHNRENE 2

based adjustments (0.4) - (0.4)
Return on plan assets, excluding ~ stEIEEMNER > FE1E

amounts included in interest FAFEMANEEE

income = - -

(0.8) = (0.8)

Currency translation ERESH

differences 0.3 - 0.3
Contributions (e
- Employers —fEF = = =
Payments from plans: SRR
— Benefit payments o LARNEN (1.1) - (1.1)
As at 31 December R’+ZBA=+—H 9.8 - 9.8
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32 RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (continued)

32 BIAEFFE (B

(b) Defined benefit plans (continued) (b) REEFEE @
2022
“ECCF
Present
value of
defined Fair value
benefit of plan
obligations assets Total
RERH HEEEN
EEMNRE NFE 18zt
HK$M HK$M HK$M
BEET BEET BEET
As at 1 January ®—BA—H 26.2 (7.3) 18.9
Current service cost ZHEREME S = -
Interest expense FERHX 0.1 - 0.1
Interest income FIBWA S =
(Gain)/loss on settlement =8 (%) /58 (11.3) 6.8 (4.5)
15.0 (0.5) 145
Remeasurements: BiEE
Effects from change in HREEHNFE
discount rates (0.3) - (0.3)
Effect from changes in financial B RBREFNTE
assumptions (0.8) - (0.8)
Effect from other experienced Hithz & EEHNRENTE
based adjustments 03 - 0.3
Return on plan assets, excluding ~ stEIBEMLR > £
amounts included in interest HAFEWANEEE
income - - -
(0.8) - (0.8)
Currency translation EREHE
differences (2.0) 0.5 (1.5)
Contributions R
~ Employers —EF - - -
Payments from plans: BE IR
— Benefit payments o LAREN (1.1) = (1.1)
As at 31 December K+ZBA=+—H 1.1 = 11.1
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32 RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (continued)
(b) Defined benefit plans (continued)

The principal actuarial assumptions used are as follows:

32
(b)

REMBRRME

BIAEFIEHE ()

REBFEE (B
FIRANEERERRNT

2023 2022

HK$M HK$M

BEET BEEAT

Discount rate ARIRZ 3.75% 3.10%
Future pension increase rate AR R B I AN LE = 1.25-1.9% 1% - 2%
Future salary increase rate FREEMFLLE - -

The sensitivity of the defined benefit plans to changes in
the weighted principal assumptions is:

SRR B M B R
B2 BEEMT :

Impact on defined benefit liabilities

HRAERIEANEE
2023 2022
—E-= _ECCF

Change in _Increase in Decrease in _ Changein  Increase in  Decrease in
assumption assumption assumption assumption  assumption  assumption
ReEEH RREM  BREL BREF BRRED B&RAD
HKSM HKSM HK$M HK$M
BEAT HBEERD BEBET HEAER
Discount rate AR 0.50% decrease increase 0.50% decrease increase
by 0.2 by 0.4 by 0.4 by 0.4
#00.2 181m0.4 w04 1g1n0.4
Pension increase rate  BREIZINLEE 0.25% increase  decrease 0.25% increase decrease
by 0.2 by 0.1 by 0.2 by 0.2
Emo2 D0 ®02 D02

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an
assumption while holding all other assumptions constant.
In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of
the assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the
sensitivity of the defined benefit obligations to significant
actuarial assumptions the same method (present value
of the defined benefit obligations calculated with the
projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting
period) has been applied as when calculating the pension
liabilities recognised within the consolidated balance sheet.

TR
1=

BIRMAEEFRAR

SRS AT R R — B
HIRBBTIFA LB RS T
oI L BETATAERS A

SAEAERMEEHEXNFER
RZBRER ERAATRS
EEAERFABEEIZERNREE
ERRAZ 7% BNATRERE 50
RASHER ISR Z R ERH
BERE

T =FEER
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33 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

33

Trade and bills payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of

business from suppliers.

Trade and bills payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective

interest method.

B 5 RHEMENRIE

B RRBRARERTHSERB
BhEEEmIARTME M HERS
BEE-

S RERETRENAFEADEA
B3R > EL1 R B IR SOA SR 8 B
it

2023 2022
—E=F =

HKS$M HK$M

BEET B&AT

Trade payables B ENRIE 1,644.8 1,418.8
Contract liabilities (Note (i) aHaE (MEEi) 90.2 57.9
Other taxes payable HifELRIE 31.0 38.0
Accrued salaries and employee benefits st REERA 132.0 138.8
Provision for claims and contingencies RERNAEEEE - 2.4
Accrued professional expenses FESTEER 27.7 39.1
Asset retirement obligations BEERBEMT 70.9 68.5
Other payables and accruals HihfEIHRIB R ESE A 118.0 113.6
2,114.6 1,877.1

Less: non-current portion B IEmBEE

Asset retirement obligations BEEREBEME (70.9) (68.5)
Other payables HAhrE T =IE (30.2) (30.3)
2,013.5 1,778.3
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33 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 33 BHREMEMTIE (@

Notes: e
(i) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities (i) MENBEREDH WS
The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in the current TRITRARES BRI EEES
reporting period relates to carried-forward contract liabilities. HEEERE -
2023 2022
—EB=HF =
HK$SM HK$M
BEBT BEBET
Revenue recognised that was included in the BETEVEHNEEERRN
contract liabilities balance at the beginning of B
the year 57.9 40.0
The aging analysis of the trade payables based on invoice date BSRMNRERBEZHHZRE D
was as follows: W
2023 2022
—T=H k-
HK$M HK$M
BEATT EENE
0 — 90 days 0ZF90H 1,529.1 1,374.0
91 — 180 days 91£E180H 12.5 25.6
Over 180 days #B38180H 103.2 19.2
1,644.8 1,418.8
The carrying amounts of the trade and other payables B RAMEMHREBZEDERAREA
approximate their fair values. FEEE-
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 34 HERSDZ2EMIA
Assets at
fair value
Assets at through the
Assets at fair value other
amortisation through  comprehensive
cost profit or loss income Total
BATEHA
REHERE  BATEHA Hit2E
FIRZEE BaZEE W@z EE L
HKSM HKSM HK$SM HKSM
BEET BEAT BEET BEAT
31 December 2023 —E_=f+"A=+-H
Assets as per consolidated balance sheet ~ HEBEEABRIEE
Trade, bills and other receivables B% ERREMBKRIE
excluding non-financial assets TEEFERERE 1,665.2 - - 1,665.2
Amounts due from related parties FE W R 5 0B 85.3 - - 85.3
Derivative financial instruments fTEEmMIA - 16.5 - 16.5
Pledged bank deposits and BIERRTERK
restricted bank deposits ZRERITER 5.0 - - 5.0
Cash and cash equivalents RERRLEEER 366.5 - - 366.5
Financial assets at fair value through BATEFABRZ
profit or loss ERHEE - 0.8 - 0.8
Financial assets at fair value through BATEFARMZEREZ
other comprehensive income EREE - - 87.6 87.6
Other non-current assets HiERBEE 3.6 - - 3.6
Total s 2,125.6 17.3 87.6 2,230.5
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 34 1ZEREDZ2ERMT A (@

(continued)
Assets at
fair value through
Assets at Assets at the other
amortisation  fair value through comprehensive
cost profit or loss income Total
BATEFA
REHERA  RATESA Hi2E
FIfRz BE BazEE WazEE st
HK$M HK$M HK$M HK$M
BEET BEAT BEET BEET
31 December 2022 —E--5+-A=+—-H
Assets as per consolidated balance sheet ~ HEBEEABRIEE
Trade, bills and other receivables B% ERREMBKRIE
excluding non-financial assets TEEESRHEE 1,481.4 = = 1,481.4
Amounts due from related parties FE W RRE 5 0B 82.7 - = 82.7
Derivative financial instruments fTEEmMIA - 17.1 - 17.1
Pledged bank deposits and BIERRTERK
restricted bank deposits ZRERITER 52.3 - - 523
Cash and cash equivalents RERRLEEER 713.7 - - 713.7
Financial assets at fair value through BATEFABRZ
profit or loss ERHEE - 08 - 0.8
Financial assets at fair value through BATEFARMZEREZ
other comprehensive income EREE - - 84.8 84.8
Other non-current assets HitSERBEE 4.1 - - 4.1
Total s 2,334.2 17.9 84.8 2,436.9
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 34 1REREDZEMT A (&)

(continued)
Other Liabilities
financial at fair value
liabilities at through
amortised profit or
cost loss Total
HRIBEH AL A BATE
SRz FFAEEZ
HittEma®d =i} “act
HK$M HK$M HK$M
BE&ET BE&ET BEET
31 December 2023 —EZ=f+=ZA=+—H

Liabilities as per consolidated #FEEEEERZAER
balance sheet

Borrowings EEN 903.1 - 903.1
Lease liabilities HEaR 361.8 - 361.8
Derivative financial instruments #T4& £ T A - 18.8 18.8
Trade, bills and other payables, 5« ZE & Hith
excluding non-financial FE(I RIS REIE
liabilities FFERIAaE 1,957.3 - 1,957.3
Amounts due to related parties  FE{ BE B 75 FIE K
and non-controlling interests R E R 97.1 - 97.1
Total 48z 3,319.3 18.8 3,338.1
31 December 2022 —E__f#+Z-B=+—H

Liabilities as per consolidated #EEEEERZ AR
balance sheet

Borrowings EEN 1,142.1 - 1,142.1
Lease liabilities HEAaE 312.0 - 312.0
Derivative financial instruments T4 &/ TE - 15.1 15.1
Trade, bills and other payables, &5 -~ Z# & E1th
excluding non-financial FE(IFRIE > REIE
liabilities FERIAaE 1,710.3 - 1,710.3
Amounts due to related parties  F&{J BB 75 I8 68.4 - 68.4
Total 4Bt 3,232.8 15.1 3,247.9
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35 PLEDGES OF ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has pledged
the following assets to secure certain borrowings and general

36

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

35 HERHE

REBSHER *EECRFUTEE
DERRTHFEBRZETERR—R

banking facilities granted to the Group: RITHE -
2023 2022
—Eg°= ="
HK$M HK$M
BEBET BE&AT
Property, plant and equipment M- BB REE 1,895.9 1,507.9
Right-of-use assets FRAREE 136.7 142.6
Investment properties "EYE 49.7 54.3
Inventories =75 1,098.6 1,006.1
Trade receivables B 5 W ERIE 1,236.5 969.0
Pledged bank deposits BIEFRITER 1.2 43.0
4,418.6 3,722.9
COMMITMENTS 36 ik
(a) Capital commitments (a) EAKIE
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, significant capital NIEZ=_FRZZEZF+Z

expenditure contracted for but not yet incurred is as

A=+—H ' EBiIWNEBREEXZ

follows: BEABABEZOT
2023 2022
ZEZ= —F——
HKS$M HK$M
BHEBT BEET
Capital expenditure contracted for BETMERR
but not provided in the REMBIRRPEED
consolidated financial statements BAME
in respect of:
— acquisition of property, plant and ~ —UXEEYI % ME KRR E
equipment 105.5 63.4
— additions in construction in —ARETEIRE
progress 11.0 9.5
116.5 72.9
Authorised but not contracted for: EREEBRTN
— additions in construction in —HAEEEIR
progress 7.4 11.5
— additions of property, plant and —REVE -BEKREE
equipment 2.2 2.0

BERIRREEERAR
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36 COMMITMENTS (continued)
(b) Operating lease commitments - as lessor

The future aggregate minimum lease payments receivable
under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

36 KiE (@)

(b) REHEERE—(FREEA
RBEF I B ERE 2 KRR IE
WEEEEREERNT

2023 2022
—EBC=F ==

HK$M HK$M

BEET EES:v

No later than 1 year TEBR—%F 12.1 11.7
Later than 1 year and no later BR—FEFRERAST

than 5 years 36.4 11.6

Later than 5 years BRAF 9 17.2

57.5 40.5

37 RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS

Related parties are individuals and companies, including
subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates and key
management personnel, where the individual or company has
the ability, directly or indirectly, to control or jointly control the
other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in
making financial and operating decisions. A close family member
of any such individual is considered to be a related party.

The Group is controlled by USUMHK which owns 60.95% of
the Company’s shares. The remaining 39.05% of the shares
are widely held. The ultimate holding company of the Group is
Loncin Group Co., Ltd. (incorporated in the PRC). The ultimate
controlling party of the Group is Mr. Tu.

(a) Transactions

In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group had the following
transactions with its related parties which mainly comprises
of joint ventures, associates, Loncin International Limited,
USUMHK and their subsidiaries during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

37 RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS 37
(continued)

(a) Transactions (continued)

All of the transactions were carried out in the normal
course of the Group’s business and on terms as agreed
between the transacting parties. They are summarised as

REMBRRME

Rl A2 5 (48

@ X5@
AR RN ARE R EBESE
TP 5 P IR E R
7> BT

follows:
2023 2022
g = —EFE_
HKS$M HK$M
BHEBT BEET
Sales of goods to BUTE A HEER
- Joint ventures —aEhE 241.6 328.1
— Related parties — RS 100.8 28.6
Purchases of goods from TUTE L HER R
- Joint ventures —aEh¥ 442.8 514.1
— Related parties — A B 109.9 147.4
Interest income from REUTERZFERA
— Joint ventures —aghE 0.7 0.7
— Related parties — RS 0.2 0.6
Interest expense to TRHFUTEFZHERZ
— Related parties —RAMGS 0.6 0.6

ERRFEERRAR —BEZFFR
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37 RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS 37 BEARS &)
(continued)
(a) Transactions (continued) @ x5 @
2023 2022
—EZ= - <
HK$M HK$M
BEBT BEERATT
Other income from (Note (i) REBUTEF ZEMKRA
(B 5EG))
- Joint ventures —BaghE 5.2 1.9
— Related parties — RS 0.4 3.4
Administrative expenses to (Note (i) I FUTEHZITERES
(D))
- Joint ventures —aEghE (0.1) -
— Related parties —FAMA (11.4) (18.0)
Notes: Ffd 52
(i) Other income mainly comprised management fee income, rental (i) HMWATEZOEEEERAE
income, service income and commission income. FWABRBRARFBEUA -
(if) Administrative expenses mainly comprised management fee, lease (ii) THRZTEOEEEE -HER

expense and service fee.
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37

RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
(b) Key management compensation

(c)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

Key management includes chairman of the Company,
all directors and other senior managements. The
compensations paid or payable to key management for

employee services are shown below:

37 FAAER S (@)

(b)

TEEEEHM

EEEEOEEAREIRE 2
REFKHMSREEAE 5
REEERBMENIELEER
EEREFHFMIIRMT

2023 2022
—E=HF =S
HK$M HK$M
BEAT BEET
Wages and salaries, including TE M BIEEARASR
restructuring costs and other H#R \FHEREER
termination benefits 35.9 35.1
Pension costs — defined contribution 3ERE 4 — R E Mt
plans 0.5 0.5
Other employee benefits HMESEF 0.1 0.3
Total st 36.5 35.9
Year-end balances () EFEREERR
2023 2022
—EZ=F = —
HKS$M HK$M
BEAT BEET
Receivables from: FEW LI R R IS ©
— Joint ventures (Note (i)) — 5B (M) 74.6 65.1
— Related parties (Note (i)) —RAEE S (M5EG3)) 10.7 17.6
85.3 82.7
Payables to: FEAUT&EARIE .
— Joint ventures (Note (ii)) —aE i HEEI)) (37.6) (33.1
— Related parties (Note (ii) —RBEER A (M 5EGi) (28.1) (35.3
— Non-controlling interests (Note (iii)) —3JE#Epg#EES (MTEE(ii)) (31.4) -
(97.1) (68.4)

BERIRREEERAR
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37 RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS 37 FAEA RS (@)
(continued)
(c) Year-end balances (continued) (0 F#E5ER (@)
Notes: FdEE
(i) The receivables from joint ventures and related parties include trade (i) FEWEE X RBEEARIERE
receivables and other receivables. Trade receivables are repayable B RIEIE R MR ARIE B
within 60 days, and other receivables are repayable on demand. Both SIEWFIBZAR60H AEE  Hith
are unsecured and non-interest bearing. FEWRIB R ZER B2 RIEE - Z W4

AL R ERIARTE R

(if) The payables to joint ventures and related parties include trade (if) FEfT & & ¥ KRR A RIBEIE
payables and other payables. Trade payables are repayable within 60 BRRMNRIEREMBLRIE &
days, and other payable are repayable on demand. Both are unsecured SIERIBZARE60E AEE  Hith
and non-interest bearing. FE(TARIBRIZER B REE - Z M4

IEH R ERIARTE R

(iii) The balance with non-controlling interests is unsecured, repayable on (iii) FFERERGERARITE  RER
demand and bearing interest rate of 3.5% per annum. BB RIZFF|ZE3.5% 8 0

38 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 38 EFEM iR

(@) Directors’ emoluments (a) E=EM=
The remuneration of the directors for the years ended 31 s Sy - S —
December 2023 and 2022 is set out below: +_RA=+—HILEEEZEEH
&S T
Retirement
Salaries benefit
and  Performance scheme Other
Fees  allowances bonus  contributions benefits Total
RIRAER
Year ended 31 December 2023 e HeRER RRTEA BE[EE Hitiig st
HEZZ-ZHE+-A=+-HILEE HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM

BE#An BEEx  BEET  ARET  BRAn  BEER

Executive directors: BTES!
Mr. Tu Jianhua RRERE - 40 5.0 - - 9.0
Mr. Li Linhui (Note (i)) SHIBRE () - 0.8 - = = 0.8
Mr. Miao Yu BRLE - 0.6 0.3 - - 0.9
Mr. Yao Jietian hAK 74 - 3.2 18 0.2 0.1 53
Mr. Wang Li (Note (i) TERE (H5G0) - - - - - -
Mr. Qin Yongming (Chairman) EXBRLE (ZR)
(Note i) (M2 (i) - 40 33 - - 73
Mr. Liu Yongxin (Note (iv)) 2Kk (i zE(v) = - - - - _
Mr. Zhang Wei (Chief Executive Officer)  REESRHE (TRAE#H)
(Note (v) (Hf3E()) - 24 = = - 24
Non-executive directors: FHTES:
Prof. Li Zhiguo FEEAE 03 - - - - 0.3
Prof. Yan Guowan (Note (vi)) SEGHE (V) 0.3 = = - - 03
Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting (Note (vii) TESEELE (FsEvi) 0.3 = o - - 03

0.9 15.0 10.4 0.2 0.1 26.6
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38 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(continued)

REMBRRME

38 EFEMNRED (B

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) () EFHE @&
Retirement
Salaries benefit
and  Performance scheme Other
Fees allowances bonus  contributions benefits Total
RER
Year ended 31 December 2022 e FHehEk RREL BEE HtER st
HECZ-ZE+ZAS1+-HLEE HK$M HK$M HK§M HKSM HK$M HK§M
BEET BEET BEET BEAT BEET BEET
Executive directors: BITEE:
Mr. Tu Jianhua RRERE - 40 30 - - 7.0
Mr, Li Linhui (Note () TR (F15H) - 28 18 - 0.1 47
Mr. Miao Yu BREE - 0.6 03 = = 09
Mr. Yao Jietian AREE - 33 18 0.2 0.1 54
Mr. Wang Li (Note (ii) FERE () - - - - - -
Non-executive directors: FHITES:
Prof. Li Zhiguo FEEHE 0.2 - - - - 02
Prof. Yan Guowan (Note (vi)) SEGHE () 02 = = = = 02
Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting (Note (vii) SR (5Rii) 02 = = = = 02
0.6 10.7 6.9 0.2 0.2 18.6
Notes: MIsE -
(i) Mr. Li Linhui was appointed as an executive director and the chairman (i) FTMBEEBE ST —F+_"A

(ii)

of the board of director with effect from 13 December 2021 and
resigned as an executive director and ceased to be chairman of the
Board and the chairman of each of the Executive Committee, the
Nomination Committee, the Strategy and Investment Committee and
the Pricing Committee and ceased to assume the responsibilities of
a chief executive officer of the Company with effect from 21 March
2023.

Mr. Wang Li was appointed as an executive director of the Company
with effect from 9 June 2022.

BERIRREEERAR

(if)

TZHREZEABNTEERE
EEIR O VYBE_B=F=H
Zt+—HERERTESFETH
REIESGIFEURRLEES:
BRAKREZEAREBELZES
BREZETFEETBARERRET
BARENEE -

TEAEEBZZEZF/ANH
BEZEAERATRNITES-

T =FEER
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38 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

Mr. Qin Yongming was appointed as an executive director and the
chairman of the board of director with effect from 21 March 2023.

Mr. Liu Yongxin was appointed as an executive director of the
Company with effect from 19 December 2023.

Mr. Zhang Wei was appointed as an executive Director and the chief
executive officer of the Company with effect from 21 March 2023 and
resigned as an executive director and he remains as the chief executive
officer of the Company with effect from 14 December 2023.

Prof. Yan Guowan was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company with effect from 4 March 2022.

Ms. Szeto Yuk Ting was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company with effect from 4 March 2022.

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of
the directors or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
None of the directors waived any emoluments during both years.

(b) Directors’ retirement benefits

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company
made contributions to the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund for Mr. Tu Jianhua, Mr. Zhang Wei, Mr. Li Linhui, Mr.
Miao Yu, and Mr. Yao Jietian of HK$18,000, HK$15,000,
HK$4,500, HK$18,000 and HK$18,000, respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company
made contributions to the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme for Mr. Tu Jianhua, Mr. Miao Yu, Mr. Li
Hinhui, and Mr. Yao Jietia in the amount of HK$18,000,
HK$18,000, HK$18,000 and HK$18,000, respectively.
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38 EFEMNRER (B

(a)

(b)

EEME (8
RN

@iy HRKAEEEBZIHRTEER
BxgIF B-Z2°-=4=8
i =} e

vy BIKMREERZERERBNT
B -B_F_=F+"-A+hH
REER

(v) REELEEZEIREATNITE
ERTHESR BB _=F=8
—t+—BRER -RERTNITE
EEMBEBEARBITEARE B
BEZE=F+"F+HHE4S
e

(vi) EEREEE_S__£=AMN
AREZTARNATBEILIERT
Exo

(i) BRESEREBZZZ"F=A
THEBEZTAAQTBILIER
TESE-

(i) RMEFE AEEHERREMNE
ERELESHALCMEME
AR5 AR A 2 5 B B B9
REREAERBE MEEEN
W EF E RN E o

HHEERKRERN
RBEE_Z_=ZF+"_HA=1+—
BIEFER ZARDNARE
ERL IREBIRE - EMBALE
HREAEREARLEEDTE
BEMELABREEHHFR18,000
H7T~ 15,0008 7T ~ 4,500 7T
18,0007 7T 52 18,0007 7T ©

REE_E-_—_F#+-_B=+—
BIEFE  ARADNARE
ERE - HRAEE - EMEL
FREAKREEBT BRGNS
NEEFEEHHETR18,000%
75~ 18,000 7% ~ 18,0003 7T &
18,0008 7T ©
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38 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company
did not pay consideration to any third parties for making
available directors’ services (2022: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and controlled entities
with such directors

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, there were no loans,
quasi-loans and other dealing arrangements in favour of
directors, controlled bodies corporate by and controlled
entities with such directors.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts
in relation to the Group's business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the financial year
(2022: Nil).

(9]

(d)

(e)

REMBRRME

38 EFEMNRED (B

MIRHEZREMRE=51R
HzRE

REBEE_E_=F+"F=+—
HIEFEE KATWEREME
ERFMEEAE =S ARE

CEBEZZ& 8\

BRUES -BBEMESES
HERBATREEHESHER
EHMNERAZE ANER
USRI REMRZNER
RoECSER-E- &+
B=+—0 HEUES -hE
ESENEEATREAR
%%%H?ﬂ%a%ﬁm*
WER BLUERREMRS
BEo

EENRS EHAEHFZ
AR

AT EST R AR
BERMAAREENETERS
BARE PmEZIE® '8
RERFMBEEREAEEZF

B2EARG THREH (Z
BETTFIHE o
ESEREEERAS —S=£5R
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39 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 39 XEFRFHE
Reconciliation from profit before income tax to cash generated PRETISMRANRF B EPMSIRESHIR

from operations:

2023 2022
2= - Ja-
HK$M HK$M
BRAT BEAT
Cash flows from operating activities REFHAMERER
Profit before income tax BRFTBIR AR F) 493 404.0
Adjustments for: U TEIERE .
Finance costs (Note 10) R (ME510) 186.6 195.0
Finance income (Note 10) AW (F95E10) (4.9) (8.3)
Dividend income (Note 6) REUWA (HizE6) (0.7) (5.7)
Depreciation and amortisation (Note 8) HrEREY (izEs) 390.2 363.3
Fair value loss/(gain) on derivative financial TEEMIAZRATE
instruments, net (Note 7) &8 (&F) 38 (MW7) 4.5 (15.7)
Fair value loss/(gain) on financial assets at fair BAFEFABRZER
value through profit or loss (Note 7) BEEZATFERE/ (GF)
GEZ) 0.1 3.2)
Gain on disposals of property, HEME BREREE
plant and equipment and Uk FEREEEZ W
right-of-use assets (Note 7) (H3x7) (12.6) (35.3)
Gain on disposals of assets held for sale HEFELEBEZ W@
(Note 7) (Ht5E7) (6.0) (156.7)
Reversal of for impairments THBENBERDFE
on financial assets, net (23.7) (15.9)
(Reversal of)/provision for impairments on FERE BR) EEFE
inventories, net (Note 8) (Fi=E8) (23.8) 336
Provision for impairments on property, plant, L EN YRS
and equipment and right-of-use assets UkEREEEZ
(Note 7) REEE (FE7) 11.0 1.0
Provision for impairment on investments in joint REAZREZEE
ventures (Note 7) B (HEE7) - 73.3
Provision for impairments on intangible assets ~ HEEEZ BEEE (:7)
(Note 7) 9.4 -
Share of post-tax (profit)/loss of an associate EEBE QB RIRE
(&#F) /#518 (0.5) 16
Share of post-tax profit of joint ventures FEML & & b ERR B R (54.5) (137.5)
Non-cash post-employment benefit expenses FREEEERRBERZ
BRFEX (1.1) (1.1)
Net foreign exchange losses SMNERSIEEEE 19.9 7.0
543.2 699.4
Changes in working capital EEESEE
(Increase)/Decrease in inventories FE (gm) Rmb (350.3) 51.5
(Increase)/Decrease in trade, B ERREMERIE
bills and other receivables dEm wb (115.1) 445.2
Change in derivative financial instruments TSI B (0.4) 4.0
Increase/(Decrease) in trade, bills and other B5 ERREMEMRIE
payables 1,/ R 232.2 (297.2)
309.6 902.9
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39 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 39
(continued)

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from
disposals of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

REFRRRE (8

RiEGRERER HEDE -BEK
REUARCEAEEEZFISRIASE:

comprise:
2023 2022
—EZ=F =
HK$M HK$M
BHEBT EE
Net book amount of property, ME - -BERZEZREZE
plant and equipment (Note 14) (Mzx14) 32.4 18.9
Net book amount of right-of-use assets FRESEZIREMEE
(Note 15) (By5E15) 13.1 55.9
Gain on disposal of property, plant HEME BERREUR
and equipment and right-of-use assets FREEEZ WA
(Note 7) (M45E7) 12.6 35.3
Decrease in proceeds receivable FEUS 18 SR I8 R 2 (13.1) (62.9)
Reduction in lease liabilities HEaERD = (6.6)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEME - BRERREUR
plant and equipment and FREEEZFSMIE
right-of-use assets 45.0 40.6

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from

REtRERER LERIFLESR

disposals of assets held for sale comprise: EZPSRIESE !
2023 2022
—T=F ==
HK$M HK$M
BHEBT BEEAT
Net book amount of assets held for sale FIEHEEEZRERE
(Note 24) (Miz¥24) 134.7 113.2
Gain on disposals of assets held for sale HEREHEEEZ G
(Note 7) (MI5E7) 6.0 156.7
Related tax expenses refunded by buyers B5RMOZ ERARIERY - 18.7
Proceeds from disposals of assets HEFFHEEEZ
held for sale Frig kI8 140.7 288.6
BERFEEBRAT IZTZT=HFFRK

231



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR M RRME

39 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS
(continued)

This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the movements
in net debt for each of the years presented.

39 KEMRIFHRE @

I EBFEIM K2 EE
BRSSP EREE) -

Liabilities from financing activities

HEEDELMAE

Lease liabilities Bank Bank Other

due Lease liabilities borrowings Borrowing borrowings

within due due within due after due within
1 year after 1 year 1 year 1year 1year Total

R—EREHMN R-ERIEN R-FANEN R-E23EN R-FRIHEN

HEafE HEafE H/ITER BITER HitvfE™® @
Net debt as at 1 January 2022 R_E__&—B—-HNEBIE 177.1 190.1 4939 50.8 11172 2,029.1
Proceeds/additions FigsE,/ #E 120.1 346 161.5 80.5 - 396.7
Reversals Ml (6.6) - - - = (6.6)
Repayments REFE (176.1) [} (337.9) (12.7) (352.6) (880.1)
Other non-cash movement HitEREEH 26.5 (29. 5 = (20.8) (24.2)
Currency translation differences ERER 21.1) (1 (31.4 (7.3) 0.9 (60.8)
Net debt as at 31 December 2022 RZIEZZH+ZA=+—AK
HHBE 119.9 192.1 286.1 113 744.7 1,454.1
Proceeds/additions FigmE,/ HE 114.1 52.8 177.6 72.0 - 4165
Repayments HENE (133.2) - (105.9) (18.4) (353.6) (611.1)
Other non-cash movement HitEREEE 48 (4.8) 49.0 (49.0) (15.1) (15.1)
Currency translation differences ERER 9.2 6.9 3.7 0.7 - 20.5
Net debt as at 31 December 2023 RIBZ=H+ZA=+—HN

HHFE 114.8 247.0 410.5 116.6 376.0 1,264.9
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40 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT 40 BE&BEREEEES

Balance sheet of the Company TRFIZEEEER
2023 2022
—EZ= BT
Note HK$M HK$M
I BEATT BEBT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets EREMEE
Investment in subsidiaries, unlisted & F AT JELET 3,500.4 3,500.4
Right-of-use assets FREEE 2.5 4.0
Other deposit Hihizx 0.5 0.5
3,503.4 3,504.9
Current assets RENEE
Other receivables HinpE W =IE 16.9 18.0
Amounts due from subsidiaries EWFABRIE 827.2 1,219.3
Cash and cash equivalents REMRREEEEB 0.1 1.9
844.2 1,239.2
Total assets BEHEE 4,347.6 4,744 1
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES HEkEaE
Equity attributable to AT REEE D
shareholders of the Company
Share capital [N 27 16.1 16.1
Reserves EE 3,079.7 3,186.6
Total equity g 3,095.8 3,202.7

BERIRREEERAR
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40 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT 40 BE&EXRKLEEHEE (8

(continued)
Balance sheet of the Company (continued) TR ZEEGER (@)
2023 2022
—E-= B
Note HK$M HK$M
(=3 BEAT BEET
LIABILITIES =RE
Non-current liabilities FEREBEE
Lease liabilities HEAa®E 1.2 2.8
1.2 2.8
Current liabilities mEMaE
Accruals and other payables FESTE AR HAamELRIE 25.4 32.7
Amounts due to subsidiaries B FRABIRIE 847.5 762.0
Lease liabilities HEaR 1.7 1.5
Other borrowings HMER 376.0 742 4
1,250.6 1,538.6
Total liabilities BEMAE 1,251.8 1,541.4
Total equity and liabilities HmkBERE 4,347.6 4,744

The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the Board of
Directors on 23 April 2024 and was signed on its behalf:

Mr. Tu Jianhua
REERE
Director

EF
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EEAKREE:

Mr. Qin Yongming
FXKBAKE
Director
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40 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT 40 BE&BEREEEES (B

(continued)
Reserves movement of the Company TRFZEEEES
Capital
Share  redemption Capital Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
[N
1 BB i e A G R5thE 4Bst
HK$M HK$M HK$M HK$M HK$M
BEET BEEx BEREEx BEER  BEERD
(Note (i)
(CEE0)
As at 1 January 2022 RoE-—F
—H—H 5911.9 0.3 216.2 (2,726.5) 3,401.9
Loss for the year FERER - = = (215.3) (215.3)
Total comprehensive loss ERNEEEBAE
for the year - - - (215.3) (215.3)
As at 31 December 2022 WoE-—F
+ZA=+—H 5911.9 0.3 216.2 (2,941.8) 3,186.6
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40 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT 40

BEEREXRKMH#HEEZS (B

(continued)
Reserves movement of the Company (continued) AT Z#EES @)
Capital
Share redemption Capital Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
B ERE
R in s fE ffE  REFHE  RSEBEE st
HK$M HK$M HK$M HK$M HK$M
BEEx BEEn BEEx  BEEn  BEER
(Note (i)
(Bi=E(G))
As at 1 January 2023 ATE - =F—FH
—H 5,911.9 0.3 216.2 (2,941.8) 3,186.6
Loss for the year FRER = = = (106.9) (106.9)
Total comprehensive loss ERNREEREE
for the year - - - (106.9) (106.9)
As at 31 December 2023 N_E_=F+
A=+—H 5,911.9 0.3 216.2 (3,048.7) 3,079.7
Note: FsE
(i) Capital reserve represents the sum of (a) the difference between the nominal (i) BAREER@QFRBDNR T N\FEEE

value of the aggregate share capital and share premium of the subsidiaries

acquired by the Company upon a group reorganisation in 2008 and the

nominal value of the Company's shares issued in exchange and (b) a

capitalisation of shareholders’ loans in 2010.
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REMBRRME

= == =E
41 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 4 FRTZ2FREFHE
COMPANY
(@) General information of principal subsidiaries () FEFATMN—KENR
The table below shows the subsidiaries as at 31 December TRIITESIARN-E=F
2023, which in the opinion of the Directors, principally +ZR=+—BHEXEEWA
affect the revenue, net assets or business aspects of the FEEREBREIEFEZTA
Group. To give details of all subsidiaries would, in the BleEBEERA REFMBTFAR
opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive ZHBERESRIEBR IR
length.
Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/ Attributable equity
Place of incorporation/ registered interest and voting power
Name of subsidiary operation establishment capital held by the Group Principal activities
BETRBRRES/ FEAFBREMERE
FARRHE g ML/ M RS ELREFE TEEH
2023 2022
ZfI=F  TZCCE
Chiho-Tiande (HK) Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Purchasing agent of the
BaXM (&8 BRAF BE BB 157 Group and providing
services to group
companies
FEERBAER
RERBTERAT
Chiho Eco Protection Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Processing and sales of
EAGBERRERAR i B 10,000%7T metal scrap and WEEE
MIKBEEBLERR
BEREFEM
Chiho Environmental Recycling Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$80,000,000 100% 100%  Purchasing agent of the
Industry Limited &4 B 80,000,000%7T Group and wholesales
EaRFBETIZERAT of metal scrap without
processing
FERRBABRBERE
MIZBE%E
Chiho Environmental (Beijing) The PRC The PRC RMB50,000,000 100% 100%  Providing services to group
Company Limited** HE HE K 50,000,000 companies
EaRR LR BRAF! RUERBTERLE
Taizhou Chiho-Tiande Metals The PRC The PRC 1S$108,000,000 100% 100%  Processing and sales of
Company Limited** HE HE 108,000,000% 7T metal scrap
EMEAREEBERAR! MIRBEBLER
Chiho-Tiande (YanTai) Resources The PRC The PRC US$22,000,000 100% 100%  Processing and sales of
Recycling Company Limited** HE HE 22,000,000% 7T metal scrap
BaXit (B5) BAERBRAR! MIRBEBLER
Yantai Liheng Environmental Protection ~ The PRC The PRC RMBS5,150,000 60% 60%  Processing and sales of
Technology Company Limited** HE HE AE#55,150,0007T |ubricating il
ERUHRRRRERAR MIRBEBER

A
*

+

All these subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company
For identification purpose only
Limited liability company

b FAZEFARNRASARMBERA
* o fEHEER
+ AREEAR

BERIRREEERAR

T =FEER
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— =1= = 3 =
41 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 41 BRBZFREFHIE @)
COMPANY (continued)
(a) General information of principal subsidiaries (@) FEBFARN—RER (@)
(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/ Attributable equity
Place of incorporation/ registered interest and voting power
Name of subsidiary operation establishment capital held by the Group Principal activities
BEARMRRS/ FEBFHEERE
FAFGHE P b BT AT AR k17N B RRE TEEH
2023 2022
ZfI=F  TZCCE
Yantai Qisheng Petrochemical The PRC The PRC RMB50,000,000 60% 60%  Processing and sales of
Co, Ltd.* HE HE E50,000,0007 lubricating oil
EaERRREIBERAT! MIRHERER
Dalian New Green Recycle & The PRC The PRC JPY8,556,011,000 100% 100%  Processing and sales of
Resources Corporation** HE HE 8,556,011,0008 metal scrap
RENGBLERNIARAT MIRHEBLLE
Scholz Recycling (Beijing) Co., Ltd** The PRC The PRC RMB50,000,000 100% 100%  Providing services to group
|EBHIER (bR) BRAF HE HE E50,000,0007 companies
RERBTEERE
Heng Hup Chiho Recycling Malaysia Malaysia RM5,000,000 51% 51%  Processing of metal scrap
(Malaysia) SDN. BND. BRAD BERES 5,000,0005XBES S MIB4:E
Hidaka-Chiho Metal Recycling (Thailand) ~ Thailand Thailand Baht298,451,250 45.7% 45.7%  Processing and sales of
Company Limited? %E % 298,451,250% 4k metal scrap
MIRHEBLLE
Delco Europe B.V. The Netherlands The Netherlands EUR18,151 100% 100%  Purchasing agent of the
HE #E 18,1518 7T Group
FEEZRBAE
Fegert Recycling GmbH Germany Germany EUR84,000 100% 100%  Processing and sales of
Z6 26 84,0001 7 metal scrap
MIRHEBLEE
Scholz Industrieservice GmbH Germany Germany EUR50,000 100% 100%  Providing industrial and
Z6 26 50,0081 7 logistic services
RETERMRRS
Scholz Recycling GmbH Germany Germany EUR100,000,000 100% 100%  Processing and sales of
6 26 100,000,0008% 7 metal scrap
MIRBEBLER
SIV Immobilien Verwaltungs GmbH Germany Germany EUR25,000 100% 100%  Purchase and administration
6 26 25,0007 of real estate

e All these subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company
*  For identification purpose only

+  Limited liability company

” The Group controls the board of directors
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

41 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

(a) General information of principal subsidiaries

41 KRB ZFREFHE (B)

(@) EEFARN—REHR @)

(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/ Attributable equity
Place of incorporation/ registered interest and voting power
Name of subsidiary operation establishment capital held by the Group Principal activities
BETRERRS/ FEBAFEGRE
FARRHE g MR/ Mt RS EERRFE FEEH
2023 2022
—¥_=F ETCCF
Scholz Management Service GmbH Germany Germany EUR25,000 100% 100%  Providing services to group
6 26 25,000817¢ companies
RERBTERLE
SRW metalfloat GmbH Germany Germany EUR1,000,000 100% 100%  Processing and sales of
6 26 1,000,0008%7C metal scrap
MIRBEBLER
Liberty Iron & Metal, Inc. us Us US$3,100 100% 100%  Processing and sales of
Bl £ 31007 metal scrap
MIRBEBLER
Scholz Polska Sp. z.0.0. Poland Poland PLN88,501,000 100% 100%  Processing and sales of
KE it 88,501,000 18 metal scrap
MIRBEBLER
Scholz Austria Holding Gmbh Republic of Austria Republic of Austria EUR35,000 100% 100%  Holding company
il BRI AR 35,000817 BRAT)
Kovosrot Group CZ s.r.0. Czech Republic Czech Republic (CZK499,834,000 100% 100%  Processing and sales of
ERANE ERENE 499,834,004 5% 72 metal scrap
MIRHEBLLE
Sberne suroviny, a.s. Czech Republic Czech Republic CZK61,217,000 79.6% 79.6%  Processing and sales of
BRI ERAAE 61,217,000 72 52 53 metal scrap
MIRHEBLLE
DINOS d.d. Republic of Slovenia Republic of Slovenia EUR2,279,700 100% 100%  Processing and sales of
AN EBEANE HANEEENE  2,279,70087 metal scrap
MIRHEBLLE

& All these subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company

b FAZREFARMBESARMEEA

BERIRREEERAR

T =FEER
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e MR R MR

41 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

(b) Significant restrictions

Cash and short-term deposits held in the PRC are subject
to local exchange control regulations. These regulations
provide for restrictions on exporting capital from the PRC,
other than through normal dividend.

The carrying amount of the assets included within the
consolidated balance sheet to which these restrictions apply
is HK$63.7 million (2022: HK$116.2 million).

(c) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that
have material non-controlling interest

The non-controlling interests of all non-wholly owned
subsidiaries are individually not material to the Group.

42 CONTINGENCIES

(@) The Company is one of the defendants to a legal claim
by Delco Participation B.V. (“Delco”) regarding an alleged
non-payment of a portion of the loans advanced by Delco
Asia Company Limited (“Delco Asia”) to subsidiaries of the
Company, amounting to approximately HK$57.8 million
together with interest and costs. Delco alleged that it
acquired the assets and liabilities of Delco Asia in 2011.
Delco Asia was dissolved by deregistration in 2012. Each
of Mr. Fang Ankong (“Mr. Fang”), a former director of the
Company, and HWH Holdings Limited ("HWH") undertook
to the Company to indemnify and hold the Company
harmless on demand against all losses arising out of, inter
alia, this claim in accordance with the terms of a letter of
indemnity signed by Mr. Fang and HWH in favour of the
Company on 17 December 2015 (the “Indemnity”). The
exact scope of the indemnity is yet to be determined.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

42 CONTINGENCIES (continued)

(a)

(b)

(o)

(continued)

The court case is still in progress, with the parties filing
amended pleadings and evidence. On Delco’s application,
the Court granted leave to Delco to discontinue its claim
against the Company for the HK$57.8 million, with certain
issues still to be decided by the High Court of Hong Kong.
The directors of the Company, after taking legal advice
from its legal advisers and in review of the Indemnity, are
of the opinion that it is not probable that an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefits will be required to
settle this claim. Accordingly, no provision for this claim has
been made.

The Company and Chiho-Tiande (HK) Limited (“CTHK"), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, are two of the
defendants to another legal claim by Delco regarding an
alleged breach of a letter of undertaking in relation to a
convertible bond issued by the Company and subscribed for
by Delco. Delco further claimed against CTHK for a sum of
US$1.0 million, allegedly advanced by Delco Asia to CTHK.
Delco further claimed interests, costs and further or other
relief of approximately HK$6.3 million.

The parties subsequently filed amended pleadings and
gave evidence at the trial in July 2021. The case is still in
progress, with the parties having made closing submissions,
and the parties are awaiting judgment from the Court. The
directors of the Company, after taking legal advice from its
legal advisers, are of the opinion that it is not probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will
be required to settle this claim. Accordingly, no provision for
this claim has been made.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has provided financial
guarantees to certain related parties and joint ventures
of HK$20.3 million and HK$50.9 million (2022: HK$19.0
million and HK$49.9 million), respectively. As the risk of
default is very remote and there is no history of default, no
financial guarantee liability was recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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43 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

43.1 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting

43.1.1 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities (including structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations by the Group
(Note 43.2).

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated balance sheet
respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 43 HMBEEARSABERE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (48)
(continued)
43.1 Principles of consolidation and equity 43.1 FERAREREE (&

accounting (continued)
43.1.2 ERIHFHFIRER

43.1.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee's net assets
including goodwill.

43.1.3 Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control or joint
control. This is generally the case where the Group
holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in associates are accounted for using
the equity method of accounting (Note 43.1.5), after
initially being recognised at cost.

43.1.4 Joint arrangements

The Group’s joint arrangements are classified as either
joint operations or joint ventures. The classification
depends on the contractual rights and obligations of
each investor, rather than the legal structure of the
joint arrangement.
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43 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

43.1 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (continued)

43.1.4 Joint arrangements (continued)

The Group has assessed the nature of its joint
arrangements and determined them to be joint
ventures. Joint ventures are accounted for using
the equity method. Interests in joint ventures are
accounted for using the equity method (Note
43.1.5), after initially being recognised at cost in the
consolidated balance sheet.

43.1.5 Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the
investments are initially recognised at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee
in profit or loss, and the Group’s share of movements
in other comprehensive income of the investee in
other comprehensive income. Dividends received
or receivable from associates and joint ventures are
recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of
the investment.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-
accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest in
the entity, including any other unsecured long-term
receivables, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the other entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 43 HMBEEARSABERE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (48)
(continued)
43.1 Principles of consolidation and equity 43.1 FERAREREE (&

accounting (continued)

43.1.5 Equity method (continued) 3.5 % (@)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated
to the extent of the Group'’s interest in these entities.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity-
accounted investees have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments
is tested for impairment in accordance with the policy
described in Note 14.

43.1.6 Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling
interests that do not result in a loss of control as
transactions with equity owners of the Group. A
change in ownership interest results in an adjustment
between the carrying amounts of the controlling
and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative
interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between
the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling
interests and any consideration paid or received
is recognised in a separate reserve within equity
attributable to shareholders of the Company.
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43 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

43.1 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (continued)

43.1.6 Changes in ownership interests (continued)

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity
account for an investment because of a loss of
control, joint control or significant influence, any
retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its
fair value, with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. This fair value becomes
the initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained interest
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset.
In addition, any amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may
mean that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or
loss.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an
associate is reduced but joint control or significant
influence is retained, only a proportionate share
of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss
where appropriate.

246 CHIHO ENVIRONMENTAL GROUP LIMITED ~ANNUAL REPORT 2023

43 HMMBEEARGHBERME

R KR g% (@

43.16 FREHEEDES (B)

i 7 B2 9| (] 7l 25 42 1 4
HEZEHBHAERZEN
MABR—EBRERFS
SRR BE A SR > RIS R
BEREZENFRBEREN
SAERSEATE MKRE
EEHPED AR 5
BB ARIIMERE QT
BELEHEMEEZR
BREDEMS  ZATER
YT EREE © IESh > FeATHe
Hofth 2 0 W 9 B SR B %
ERAMZER LS
NAEEEERHERR
BEEHEEZHAARK:
Helge AR TR N EME
E W m NS SR ERN
DIERm N AR

HREEEENBERT
ZFr B R R D MR
BHAEZEGEAEATE
110 AlSERT I Eth 2 E U
TR ZEEERE—F
B ERER DB A &R
SEE WEA) -
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REMBRRME

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 43 HMBEEARSABERE
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (48)
(continued)

43.2 Business combinations 432 EBFSH

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations. The consideration transferred for
the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group.
The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any
asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event
of liquidation are measured at either fair value or the
present ownership interests’ proportionate share in the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a
financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial liability
are subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured,
and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.
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43 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

43.2 Business combinations (continued)

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total
of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest
recognised and previously held interest measured is less
than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is
recognised directly in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.

Where businesses are acquired and fair values of the net
assets of the acquired business are finalised within 12
months of the acquisition date, all fair value adjustments
are recorded with effect from the date of acquisition and
consequently may result in the restatement of previously
reported financial results.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising
from such remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

43.3 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (“the functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
HK$, which is the Company’s functional and the
Group's presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation
where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss. They are
deferred in equity if they relate to qualifying cash
flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges
or are attributable to part of the net investment in a
foreign operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss within
‘other gains, net’.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined. Translation differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of
the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation
differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities
such as equities held at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the
fair value gain or loss and translation differences on
non-monetary assets such as equities classified as
fair value through other comprehensive income are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

(a)

(b)
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43 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

43.3 Foreign currency translation (continued)
(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyper-inflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that balance sheet;

(i) income and expenses for each statement
of profit or loss are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and

(iii)  all resulting currency translation differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of any net investment in
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other
financial instruments designated as hedges of such
investments, are recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a foreign operation is sold or any
borrowings forming part of the net investment are
repaid, the associated exchange differences are
reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss
on sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

43.3 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(9]

Group companies (continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated
at the closing rate. Currency translation differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

43.4 Investments and other financial assets

43.4.1 Measurement

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group'’s
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in other
comprehensive income, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit
or loss following the derecognition of the investment.
Dividends from such investments continue to be
recognised in profit or loss as other income when the
Group's right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at
FVPL are recognised in ‘other gains, net’ in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss as applicable.
Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses)
on equity investments measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI"”) are not
reported separately from other changes in fair value.

(9]
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43 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

43.4 Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

43.4.2 Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk. For trade and bills receivables, the Group applies
the simplified approach in accordance with HKFRS
9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognised from initial recognition of the receivables
(Note 23).

43.5 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events
and must be enforceable in the normal course of business
and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the
company or the counterparty.

43.6 Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the
date a derivative contract is entered into, and they are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end
of each reporting period. The accounting for subsequent
changes in fair value depends on whether the derivative is
designated as a hedging instrument and, if so, the nature
of the item being hedged. The Group designates certain
derivatives as hedges of the fair value of recognised assets
or liabilities or a firm commitment (fair value hedges).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 43 HMBEEARSABERE
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (48)
(continued)

43.6 Derivative financial instruments (continued) 436 THEERMTITE @&

At inception of the hedge relationship, the Group
documents the economic relationship between hedging
instruments and hedged items, including whether changes
in the fair values of the hedging instruments are expected
to offset changes in the fair value of hedged items. The
Group documents its risk management objective and
strategy for undertaking its hedge transactions.

The fair values of derivative financial instruments
designated in hedge relationships are disclosed in Note
25. The full fair value of a hedging derivative is classified
as a non-current asset or liability when the remaining
maturity of the hedged item is more than 12 months; it is
classified as a current asset or liability when the remaining
maturity of the hedged item is less than 12 months. Trading
derivatives are classified as a current asset or liability.

Fair value hedges

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated
and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, together with any
changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that
are attributable to the hedged risk. The gain or loss relating
to the ineffective portion is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss within ‘other gains, net’.
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43 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

43.6 Derivative financial instruments(continued)

Derivative financial instruments not subject to hedge
accounting

Certain derivative financial instruments do not qualify
for hedge accounting. Changes in the fair value of any
derivative financial instruments that does not qualify
for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss within ‘other gains,
net’ without any adjustment to the hedge items.

Method for assessing effectiveness of hedging

The Group assesses whether the hedging relationship
conforms to the hedge effectiveness requirements at the
inception date of the hedge and the subsequent periods
continuously. A hedge is regarded as conforming to the
hedge effectiveness requirement if all of the following
conditions are met:

o An economic relationship exists between the hedged
items and the hedging instruments.

J The effect of credit risk is not dominant in the
changes in value arising from the economic
relationship between the hedged items and the
hedging instruments.

o The hedge ratio of hedging relationship is equal to
the ratio between the quantity of actual hedged
items of the Group and the actual quantity of
hedging instruments to hedge them.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

43 %@%EE*@%H%ME
i

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

43.6 Derivative financial instruments(continued) 436 THEERMTITE @&

Method for assessing effectiveness of hedging
(continued)

Where the hedging relationship no longer conforms to the
hedging effectiveness requirement due to hedge ratio, but
the risk management objective for such set of hedging
relationship designated by the Group stays unchanged,
the Group will rebalance the hedging relationship and
adjust the quantity of the hedged items or hedging
instruments having existed in the hedging relationship to
make the hedge ratio conform to the hedge effectiveness
requirement again.

Any gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is
recognised immediately in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss within ‘other gains, net’ without any
adjustment to the hedge items.

43.7 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs include interest expense, finance charges
in respect of borrowings and lease liabilities, and exchange
differences arising from foreign currency borrowings to
the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to
interest costs. The exchange gains and losses that are
an adjustment to interest costs include the interest rate
differential between borrowing costs that would be
incurred if the entity had borrowed funds in its functional
currency, and the borrowing costs actually incurred on
foreign currency borrowings. Such amounts are estimated
based on interest rates on similar borrowings in the entity’s
functional currency.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e B IRRMEE
43 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 43 HthBEEXEHRME
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (&)
(continued)
43.8 Employee benefits 43.8 ESEF
43.8.1 Short-term obligations 438.1 FHHAEE
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non- BEEERSEHARZIRE
monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave that BRI IERFTEEE (8
are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months EFRREEERMEAR
after the end of the period in which the employees BB RE 128 AT
render the related service are recognised in respect HEEBNWIEEKEN KRR
of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting R LiREEEMa s
period and are measured at the amounts expected to Z2HEAEHEAE-8ER
be paid when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities REEEBBRRANENA
are presented as current employee benefit obligations BHAEERAEE-

in the consolidated balance sheet.
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REMBRRME

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 43 HMBEEARSABERE
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (48)

(continued)
43.8 Employee benefits (continued) 43.8 EE%EF (@)

43.8.2 Other long-term employee benefit obligations 4382 HttREAEERFIFE

The liabilities for long service leave and annual
leave are not expected to be settled wholly within
12 months after the end of the period in which
the employees render the related service. They
are therefore measured as the present value of
expected future payments to be made in respect
of services provided by employees up to the end of
the reporting period using the projected unit credit
method. Consideration is given to expected future
wage and salary levels, experience of employee
departures and periods of service. Expected future
payments are discounted using market yields at the
end of the reporting period of high-quality corporate
bonds with terms and currencies that match,
as closely as possible, the estimated future cash
outflows. Remeasurements as a result of experience
adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are
recognised in profit or loss.

43.8.3 Post-employment obligations

The Group operates various post-employment
schemes, including defined benefit plans and defined
contribution pension plans.

(a)  Pension obligations

A defined contribution plan is a pension
plan under which the Group pays fixed
contributions into a separate entity. The Group
has no legal or constructive obligations to
pay further contributions if the fund does not
hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the
benefits relating to employee service in the
current and prior periods. A defined benefit
plan is a pension plan that is not a defined
contribution plan.
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AR M RRME

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

43.8 Employee benefits (continued)

43.8.3 Post-employment obligations (continued)

(a)  Pension obligations (continued)
Typically, defined benefit plans define an
amount of pension benefit that an employee
will receive on retirement, usually dependent
on one or more factors such as age, years of
service and compensation.

The liability recognised in the consolidated
balance sheet in respect of defined benefit
pension plans is the present value of the
defined benefit obligation at the end of the
reporting period less the fair value of plan
assets. The defined benefit obligation is
calculated annually by independent certified
actuaries from Heubeck AG and Kolner Spezial
Beratungs-GmbH using the projected unit
credit method. The present value of the defined
benefit obligation is determined by discounting
the estimated future cash outflows using
interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds
that are denominated in the currency in which
the benefits will be paid, and that have terms
to maturity approximating to the terms of the
related pension obligation. In countries where
there is no deep market in such bonds, the
market rates on government bonds are used.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

43.8 Employee benefits (continued)

43.8.3 Post-employment obligations (continued)

(a)

Pension obligations (continued)

The current service cost of the defined benefit
plan, recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss in employee benefit expense,
except where included in the cost of an asset,
reflects the increase in the defined benefit
obligation results from employee service in the
current year, benefit changes, curtailments and
settlements.

Past-service costs are recognised immediately
in consolidated statement of profit or loss.
Changes in the present value of the defined
benefit obligation resulting from plan
amendments or curtailments are recognised
immediately in profit or loss as past service
costs.

The net interest cost is calculated by applying
the discount rate to the net balance of the
defined benefit obligation and the fair value of
plan assets. This cost is included in employee
benefit expense in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.

Remeasurement arising from experience
adjustments and changes in actuarial
assumptions are charged or credited to equity
in other comprehensive income in the period in
which they arise.
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43 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

43.8 Employee benefits (continued)

43.8.3 Post-employment obligations (continued)

(a)  Pension obligations (continued)

For defined contribution plans, the Group
pays contributions to publicly or privately
administered pension insurance plans on a
mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The
Group has no further payment obligations
once the contributions have been paid. The
contributions are recognised as employee
benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as an asset to the
extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the
future payments is available.

(b)  Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when
employment is terminated by the Group before
the normal retirement date, or whenever
an employee accepts voluntary redundancy
in exchange for these benefits. The Group
recognises termination benefits at the earlier
of the following dates: (a) when the Group
can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits; and (b) when the entity recognises
costs for a restructuring that is within the
scope of HKAS 37 and involves the payment
of termination benefits. In the case of an offer
made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the
termination benefits are measured based on
the number of employees expected to accept
the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12
months after the end of the reporting period
are discounted to their present value.
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REMBRRME

43 %@%EE*@%H%ME
i

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

43,9 Rental income and service income 439 FHSUWARIRFFUA

Rental income

Rental income from investment property is recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the term of the lease.

Service income

Service income is recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss when a service is transferred to the
customer and the customer obtains control of that service.

43.10 Interest income

Interest income from financial assets at FVPL is included in
the net fair value gains/(losses) on these assets.

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost and
financial assets at FVOCI calculated using the effective
interest method is recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss as part of other income.

Interest income is presented as finance income where
it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes. Any other interest income is
included in other income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently become
credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets
the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss
allowance).
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43 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

43.11 Dividend income

Dividends are received from financial assets measured at
FVPL and at FVOCI. Dividends are recognised as other
income in profit or loss when the right to receive payment
is established. This applies even if they are paid out of pre-
acquisition profits, unless the dividend clearly represents a
recovery of part of the cost of an investment. In this case,
the dividend is recognised in other comprehensive income
if it relates to an investment measured at FVOCI. However,
the investment may need to be tested for impairment as a
consequence.

43.12 Leases
43.12.1 As the lessor

A lease is an agreement whereby the lessor conveys
to the lessee in return for a payment, or series of
payments, the right to use an asset for an agreed
period of time.

When assets are leased out under an operating lease,
the asset is included in the balance sheet based on
the nature of the asset.

Lease income on operating leases is recognised over
the term of the lease on a straight-line basis.

43.13 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders
is recognised as a liability in the Group's consolidated
financial statements in the period in which the dividends
are approved by the Company's shareholders or directors,
where appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 43 HMBEEARSABERE
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (48)
(continued)

43.14 Government grants

8.4 BRF#EEIE

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
over the period necessary to match them with the costs
that they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to the purchase of property,
plant and equipment are included in non-current liabilities
as deferred income and are credited to profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the expected lives of the related
assets.
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9-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

hFEMBERE

Summary of selected items of consolidated statement of SREHFRETHEME
profit and loss

For the year ended 31 December

BET-AZt-ALEE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
= B _F ET”-& _ETF _—Z-hE
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M

BERET FAEAn  BEBET  BHEER BEER

Revenue & 16,479.7 19,5743 21,9504 13,368.1 15,363.4
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRETISIIATEF, (B538) 493 404.0 883.7 (809.8) (99.5)
Income tax expense RS (68.5) (166.6) (191.7) (54.4) (34.3)

Profit/(loss) attributable to: UTE&FEEER, (B8 :
Shareholders of the Company KATREER 9.3) 264.5 702.0 (848.1) (128.7)
Non-controlling interests JEIEpG S 9.9) 27.1) (10.0) (16.1) (5.1)
(19.2) 2374 692.0 (864.2) (133.8)

Summary of selected items of consolidated balance sheet “EEERERETHEME

As at 31 December

R+ZA=1+—8H

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-= _E_F B —ZTF _E-hEF
HKS'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEAT HEBT B8%8r ©EAT EBEBTR

Assets BE
Current assets REEE 4,112.9 4,052.4 5,001.6 4,510.1 4,039.4
Non-current assets FRBEE 4,607.5 4,520.6 4,956.9 5,362.8 6,150.6
Total assets EEEE 8,720.4 8,573.0 9,958.5 9,872.9 10,190.0

Liabilities =L
Current liabilities TEaE 3,086.0 3,098.0 4,426.6 4,392.0 3,996.5
Non-current liabilities ERBas 759.9 694.3 672.4 1,016.7 1,262.5
Total liabilities SEEE 3,845.9 3,792.3 5,099.0 5,408.7 5,259.0
4,874.5 4,780.7 4,859.5 4,464.2 4,931.0

Equity attributable to: U EE#R .

Shareholders of the Company N8 4,931.5 4,824.2 4,873.9 4,477.6 49413
Non-controlling interests RS (57.0) (43.5) (14.4) (13.4) (10.3)

4,874.5 4,780.7 4,859.5 4,464.2 4,931.0

264 CHIHO ENVIRONMENTAL GROUP LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2023



CORPORATE INFORMATION

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Tu Jianhua
Mr. Qin Yongming (Chairman)
(appointed on 21 March 2023)
Mr. Miao Yu
Mr. Yao Jietian
Mr. Wang Li
Mr. Liu Yongxin
(appointed on 19 December 2023)
Mr. Zhang Wei (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 21 March 2023
and resigned as an executive Director on 14 December 2023,
remains as the chief executive officer)
Mr. Li Linhui
(resigned on 21 March 2023)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Prof. Li Zhiguo
Prof. Yan Guowan
Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Mr. Tu Jianhua
Mr. Qin Yongming (Chairman)
(appointed on 21 March 2023)
Mr. Miao Yu
Mr. Yao Jietian
Mr. Li Linhui
(resigned on 21 March 2023)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Prof. Yan Guowan (Chairlady)
Prof. Li Zhiguo
Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Qin Yongming (Chairman)
(appointed on 21 March 2023)

Mr. Miao Yu

Prof. Li Zhiguo

Prof. Yan Guowan

Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting

Mr. Li Linhui
(resigned on 21 March 2023)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
~AFEH

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting (Chairman)
Mr. Miao Yu

Prof. Li Zhiguo

Prof. Yan Guowan

STRATEGY AND INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. Tu Jianhua
Mr. Qin Yongming (Chairman)
(appointed on 21 March 2023)
Mr. Miao Yu
Mr. Yao Jietian
Mr. Li Linhui
(resigned on 21 March 2023)

PRICING COMMITTEE

Mr. Qin Yongming (Chairman)
(appointed on 21 March 2023)
Mr. Miao Yu
Mr. Yao Jietian
M. Udo Langhans
Mr. Li Linhui
(resigned on 21 March 2023)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Tu Jianhua
Ms. Ng Mei Wah

(appointed on 21 March 2023)
Ms. So Shuk Yi Betty

(resigned on 21 March 2023)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Ng Mei Wah

(appointed on 21 March 2023)
Ms. So Shuk Yi Betty

(resigned on 21 March 2023)

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
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LEGAL ADVISORS

Conyers Dill & Pearman (Cayman Islands)
Chiu & Partners (Hong Kong)
Bird & Bird (Hong Kong)

DLA Piper (Hong Kong)

Deacons (Hong Kong)

LC Lawyers LLP (Hong Kong)

JYC Law Firm (China)

Kingpound Law Firm (China)
Aber-Law (Thailand)

Latham & Watkins LLP (Germany)
CMS Hasche Sigle (Germany)
Menold Bezler (Germany)
Acuminis (US)

Withers Worldwide

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Agricultural Bank of China
Landesbank Baden-Wirttemberg (LBBW)
Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

REGISTERED OFFICE IN CAYMAN ISLANDS

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands

REGISTERED OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

48 Wang Lok Street

Yuen Long Industrial Estate
Hong Kong

The PRC

GROUP HEADQUARTERS

Suite 1001, 10/F, Infinitus Plaza
199 Des Voeux Road Central
Hong Kong

The PRC
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

ATEH

HEADQUARTERS IN THE PRC RE4EE

Unit AF2, Floor 25, Block A, Building no.1 A

No. 18, Xiaguangli b=

East 3rd Ring Road North HHEE

Chaoyang District RIRIGES

Beijing BB 185k

The PRC 1S5RS ARE25/EAF2E8 7T

HEADQUARTERS IN EUROPE B4R S

Berndt-Ulrich-Scholz-Str.1 Berndt-Ulrich-Scholz-Str.1

73457 Essingen 73457 Essingen

Germany Germany

HEADQUARTERS IN NORTH AMERICA 6= MAEER

1515 East Avenue 1515 East Avenue

Erie, PA 16503 Erie, PA 16503

USA USA

& For business addresses of other principal operational bases of the Group, please refer g FE2RAR TGN ERAEREMETEEER
to the Company’s website. 2 & o

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND FHERBRMNERIEEBERDE
TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited EARAPREBESELBRAE

Shops 1712-1716 58

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre BT

183 Queen’s Road East ERAREE183R

Wanchai B T7E

Hong Kong 1712-17165% %58

CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE FERETERMNERLR
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE BRER

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands KY1-1111, Cayman Islands
WEBSITE ASIEED
www.chihogroup.com www.chihogroup.com

STOCK CODE BRAP AR

Hong Kong Stock Exchange 976 EHHEIF976
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« CHIHO

CHIHO ENVIRONMENTAL GROUP LIMITED
EGRGREBEARAT

48 Wang Lok Street,
Yuen Long Industrial Estate, Hong Kong

BT TE MR G485

Tel B3E: (852) 2587 7700 / (852) 2589 3500
Fax {8H.: (852) 2587 7799
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